Pension Fund Committee

DATE: Wednesday 7 March 2018
TIME: 6.30 pm
VENUE: Committee Room 5, Harrow Civic Centre, Station

Road, Harrow, HA1 2XY

MEMBERSHIP (Quorum 3 Councillors)

Chair: Councillor Nitin Parekh
Councillors:
Kairul Kareema Marikar Norman Stevenson

Bharat Thakker (VC)
Non-Voting Co-optee: Mr H Bluston

Trade Union Observer(s): MrJ Royle — UNISON
Ms P Belgrave — GMB

Independent Advisers Mr C Robertson
Honorary Alderman R Romain

Reserve Members:

1. Adam Swersky 1. Kanti Rabadia
2. Antonio Weiss 2. Amir Moshenson

Contact: Daksha Ghelani, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 020 8424 1881 E-mail: daksha.ghelani@harrow.gov.uk

( ’%ﬁ/‘ﬂéﬂﬁDUNCIL )

LONDON



Useful Information

Meeting details:
This meeting is open to the press and public.

Directions to the Civic Centre can be found at:
http://www.harrow.qgov.uk/site/scripts/location.php.

Filming / recording of meetings

The Council will audio record Public and Councillor Questions. The audio recording will be
placed on the Council’s website.

Please note that proceedings at this meeting may be photographed, recorded or filmed. If
you choose to attend, you will be deemed to have consented to being photographed,
recorded and/or filmed.

When present in the meeting room, silent mode should be enabled for all mobile devices.

Meeting access / special requirements.

The Civic Centre is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets
and lifts to meeting rooms. If you have special requirements, please contact the officer
listed on the front page of this agenda.

An induction loop system for people with hearing difficulties is available. Please ask at the
Security Desk on the Middlesex Floor.

Agenda publication date: Tuesday 27 February 2018

Pension Fund Committee - 7 March 2018 2


http://www.harrow.gov.uk/site/scripts/location.php

AGENDA - PART |

1. ATTENDANCE BY RESERVE MEMBERS
To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members.
Reserve Members may attend meetings:-

0] to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve;

(i) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and

(i)  the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the
Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve;

(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after
the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act
as a Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after
his/her arrival.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising
from business to be transacted at this meeting, from:

(@) all Members of the Panel;
(b)  all other Members present.

3.  MINUTES (Pages 7 - 16)

That the minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2017 be taken as read and
signed as a correct record.

4. PUBLIC QUESTIONS *

To receive any public questions received in accordance with Committee Procedure
Rule 17 (Part 4B of the Constitution).

Questions will be asked in the order in which they were received. There will be a
time limit of 15 minutes for the asking and answering of public questions.

[The deadline for receipt of public questions is 3.00 pm, Friday 2 March 2018.
Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk

No person may submit more than one question].
5. PETITIONS

To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors under
the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule 15 (Part 4B of the Constitution).

6. DEPUTATIONS

To receive deputations (if any) under the provisions of Committee Procedure Rule
16 (Part 4B) of the Constitution.

Pension Fund Committee - 7 March 2018 3


mailto:publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE - UPDATE ON REGULAR ITEMS (Pages 17 - 22)
Report of the Director of Finance.

INFORMATION REPORT - QUARTERLY TRIGGER MONITORING Q4 2017
(Pages 23 - 30)

Report of the Director of Finance.

INFORMATION REPORT - PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT SERVICES
(Pages 31 - 38)

Report of the Director of Finance.

INFORMATION REPORT - TRANSFER OF HARROW COLLEGE TO LB
HILLINGDON PENSION FUND (Pages 39 - 42)

Report of the Director of Finance.

INFORMATION REPORT - EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2017-18 (Pages 43 - 66)
Report of the Director of Finance.

COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT (Pages 67 - 96)

Report of the Director of Finance.

FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT (Pages 97 - 142)

Report of the Director of Finance.

INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT (Pages 143 - 170)

Report of the Director of Finance.

INFORMATION REPORT - ANNUAL REVIEW OF INTERNAL CONTROLS AT
INVESTMENT MANAGERS (Pages 171 - 192)

Report of the Director of Finance.

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT (Pages 193 - 210)

Report of the Director of Finance.

MEETINGS OF THE PENSION FUND COMMITTEE - MUNICIPAL YEAR 2018/19
Wednesday 27 June 2018 at 6.30pm

Wednesday 12 September 2018 at 6.30pm

Tuesday 27 November 2018 at 6.30pm

Tuesday 12 March 2019 at 6.30pm.

ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS

Which cannot otherwise be dealt with.

Pension Fund Committee - 7 March 2018 4



19.

20.

21.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To resolve that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following
item of business, on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential
information in breach of an obligation of confidence, or of exempt information as
defined in Part | of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972:

Agenda | Title Description of Exempt Information
Iltem No
20 Investment Strategy | Information relating to the financial or

Update: Pooling and | business affairs of any particular
London CIV  Review | person (including the authority holding

Consultation that information)

21 Investment Manager Information relating to the financial or
Performance Monitoring | business affairs of any particular
for period ending 31 person (including the authority holding
December 2017 that information)

AGENDA - PART Il

INVESTMENT STRATEGY UPDATE: POOLING AND LONDON CIV REVIEW
CONSULTATION (Pages 211 - 248)

Report of the Director of Finance.

INFORMATION REPORT - INVESTMENT MANAGER PERFORMANCE
MONITORING FOR PERIOD ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2017 (Pages 249 - 322)

Report of the Director of Finance.

[Please note that Aon Hewitt, Advisers to the Fund, will be attending this meeting.]

* DATA PROTECTION ACT NOTICE
The Council will audio record item 4 (Public Questions) and will place the audio recording on the
Council’'s website, which will be accessible to all.

[Note: The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.]

Pension Fund Committee - 7 March 2018 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Aaenda Item 3

Pa ?,SUZ.L?JU.ML )
LONDDN

—_

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE

21 NOVEMBER 2017

Chair:

Councillors:

Co-optee

(Non-voting):

Trade Union
Observers:

Independent
Advisers:

Others:

* —

Councillor Nitin Parekh

Kairul Kareema Marikar * Bharat Thakker
Norman Stevenson

Howard Bluston

John Royle Pamela Belgrave
Mr C Robertson Independent
Adviser

Honorary Alderman  Independent

R Romain Adviser

Colin Cartwright Aon Hewitt (duration of the
meeting except
Minute 254)

Joe Peach Aon Hewitt (duration of the
meeting except
Minute 254)

Richard Harbord Chair of the (Part I business

Pension Board  only)

*  Denotes Member present
T Denotes apologies received

241. Attendance by Reserve Members

RESOLVED: To note that there were no Reserve Members in attendance.

Pension Fund Committee - 21 November 2017 7 -134 -



242. Declarations of Interest

All Agenda ltems

Councillor Norman Stevenson, a Member of the Committee, declared a
non-pecuniary interest in that he was a Director of Cathedral Independent
Financial Planning Ltd., and that he had clients who were past and present
members of the Harrow Pension Scheme. His wife was a member of Harrow
Council’s Pension Scheme. He would remain in the room whilst the matters
were considered and voted upon.

Howard Bluston, a non-voting co-optee on the Committee, declared a
non-pecuniary interest in that he was Chair of Edward Harvist Charity, which
was managed by BlackRock Investment Management. He declared that he
had connections with Pension and Investment Research Consultants Limited
(PIRC) and with various Fund Managers. He would remain in the room whilst
all items were discussed and make contributions.

Agenda ltem 15 — Investment Strategy Review

Colin Robertson, Independent Adviser, declared that he had personal
investments in GARS. Colin Cartwright, Aon Hewitt, declared that his wife
had personal investments in GARS. They would remain in the room whilst the
matter was considered and make contributions.

243. Change in Membership of the Pension Fund Committee
RESOLVED: That
(1) it be noted that Councillor Moshenson had replaced Councillor Barry
Macleod-Cullinane on the Pension Fund Committee as the 2" Reserve
Member for the Conservative Group for the Municipal Year 2017/18;
(2) it be noted that Council on 28 November 2017 had appointed Mr
Howard Bluston to serve as a non-voting co-optee on the Pension
Fund Committee for the Municipal Year 2017/18.
244. Minutes
RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 18 September 2017 be
taken as read and signed as a correct record, subject to the following
amendment:
Minute 226 — Declarations of Interest: Investment Strategy Review — to
amend the declaration of interest made by Colin Cartwright, Aon Hewitt, to
read that his wife had personal investments in GARS.

245. Public Questions/Petitions/Deputations

RESOLVED: To note that no public questions, petitions or deputations were
received at this meeting.

-135 - 8 Pension Fund Committee - 21 November 2017



RESOLVED ITEMS
246. Pension Fund Committee - Update on Regular Items

The Committee received a report of the Director of Finance, which set out the
draft Work Programme, performance of Fund Managers for previous periods
and any issues raised by the Pension Board. The Committee noted that the
reference in the report to PIRC should read ‘Pension and Investment
Research Consultant Limited’.

An officer introduced the report and updated the Committee as follows:

o further investments in Longview had been closed as it had reached the
limits set. Moreover, Longview had made changes in its personnel.
The Committee considered if meetings with the new personnel, albeit
in their interim positions, was necessary;

o the future of the CIV (Collective Investment Vehicle) was uncertain. It
was suggested that a report from the CIV ought to be requested for
presentation to the Committee by its senior personnel or a member of
their Board;

o the issues raised by the Pension Board related to the ‘Annual Report
and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017’ and
would be discussed later.

The Chair stated that the London CIV, of which he was a member, was
scheduled to meet in December 2017 and he would report back on the
discussions held. The officer referred to the officer working group on the CIV
of which he was a member and agreed that it would be prudent for CIV to
report back.

RESOLVED: That, subject to the comments set out in the preamble above,
the Work Programme for the period up to March 2018 be agreed.

247. Performance Measurement Services

The Committee received a report of the Director of Finance, which set out the
performance measurement services being provided by Pension and
Investment Consultants Limited (PIRC). Members noted that the reference in
the report to PIRC should read ‘Pension and Investment Research Consultant
Limited’.

An officer introduced the report and reminded the Committee of the
discussions they had had with David Cullinan, Pension and Investment
Research Consultants Limited (PIRC), at the last meeting of the Committee,
including on the requirements of the format and presentation of their reports.

Colin Robertson, Independent Adviser, was of the view that the report of the

PIRC was disappointing and that it was unstructured. He requested that the
benchmark referred to in PIRC’s report be checked, that no information had

Pension Fund Committee - 21 November 2017 9 -136 -



been provided on Local Authority Universe, including the requirements
identified at the last meeting of the Committee. Colin Robertson added that
the report ought to have provided detail of the contribution to asset allocation
performance by asset class and explored global equities performance.

He also made the following points:

o GARS benchmark was LIBOR + 5% but DGF benchmark was given as
LIBOR + 4% and it did not follow that Insight was LIBOR + 3%. Were
DGF and other benchmarks correct?

o the Committee had asked for asset allocation performance to be
expressed in terms of asset class, for example, equity exposure
contribution to performance, but asset allocation performance had
been expressed in terms of individual managers;

o PIRC had made no reference to performance compared to universe of
LGPS funds - a key feature of the service;

o PIRC talked of producing volatility numbers when they made a
presentation to the Committee but this appeared to have been omitted
from their report.

The Committee also expressed their disappointment with the report from the
PIRC and requested that their concerns be conveyed to the company.

RESOLVED: That the report from Pension and Investment Research
Consultants Limited to 30 September 2017, as set out in the appendix to the
report, be noted and the Committee’s disappointment with the report be
conveyed to the PIRC.

248. Quarterly Trigger Monitoring Q3 2017
The Committee considered a report from, Aon Hewitt, Council’s Investment
Adviser, on Quarterly Trigger Monitoring. Members were advised that the
Fund’s funding level was 81% (subject to volatility), an improvement and that
the direction of travel was good.
Colin Cartwright, Aon Hewitt, responded to questions from the Independent
Advisers and outlined the three key drivers which could trigger de-risking. He
added that the three de-risking triggers related to:
° Fund’s funding level;
o Yield triggers based on the 20-year spot yield;
o Aon Hewitt's view of Bonds.
Richard Romain, Independent Adviser, referred to the sensitivity of Liability

Driven Investments (LDIs), which may change and asked to be notified of the
extent of the trigger that would require a decision on de-risking. Colin

-137 - 10 Pension Fund Committee - 21 November 2017



Cartwright, Aon Hewitt, undertook to discuss this aspect with the Council’s
Fund Manager, BlackRock Investment Management and report back. He
suggested that a briefing session on LDIs, identifying such matters as risks
and advantages, would be helpful. Colin Robertson, Independent Adviser,
related his experience that heavy trading would be required before a trigger
would become necessary.

The Committee agreed that further training on LDI would be beneficial. The
Committee noted that their role in relation to LDI was a strategic one rather
than tactical.

RESOLVED: That
(2) no de-risking actions be taken at this stage;

2 the Director of Finance arrange a training session on LDI with
Blackrock Investment Management.

249. London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund: Annual Report and Financial
Statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

The Committee received a report of the Director of Finance, which sought
their agreement to the Pension Fund Annual Report and Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2017 and the Annual Audit Letter 2015/16 from
the external auditors, KPMG.

An officer advised that the external auditors had made only one
recommendation which related to the authorisation of Pension Fund journals
and that this recommendation had been actioned.

The officer referred to the concerns raised by the Pension Board in relation to
the separation of bank accounts, a historic issue, and had requested a further
report on this matter. He added that the Pension Fund Committee would also
receive this report. Richard Harbord, Chair of Pension Board, explained that
the role of the Board was to ensure proper governance and the Board had
therefore asked for a report from the Section 151 Officer in this regard.

Another officer assured the Committee that Pension Fund Bank Accounts
were reconciled each month and that the reference at page 76 of the agenda
did not apply to the Pension Fund Accounts.

RESOLVED: That the Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 March 2017 be agreed.

250. Any Other Urgent Business

Attendance by members of the Pension Board at the Pension Fund
Committee

The attendance by members of the Board at the Committee was raised as an
urgent item in order to ascertain their position when the Committee was

Pension Fund Committee - 21 November 2017 11 -138 -



251.

252.

- 139 -

considering confidential information and to seek further advice prior to the
next meeting of the Committee..

The Committee were informed that HB Public Law had advised that, for the
purposes of the Pension Fund Committee, members of the Pension Board
were to be treated as members of the public and could not remain in the
meeting room when Exempt (Part Il) business was being considered.

The Committee were informed that Pension Fund Committees at other local
authorities were more transparent and had an open relationship with the
Board and asked that further legal advice be sought in light of this.

RESOLVED: That further legal advice be sought to clarify the relationship
between the Committee and the Board.

Exclusion of the Press Public
RESOLVED: That, in accordance with Part | of Schedule 12A to the Local

Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for
the following items for the reasons set out below:

Agenda Title Reason

Item No

14 -18 Currency Hedging Regulatory | Information under paragraph 3
Implications  of  European | (contains information relating
Market Infrastructure | to the financial or business
Regulation (EMIR)/ | affairs of any particular person
Information Report - | (including the authority holding
Investment Manager | that information).

Performance Monitoring  for
period ending 30 September
2017/ Investment Consultancy
Services Procurement/
Investment Strategy Review
Diversified  Growth Fund
Managers/ Pension Death
Grant Payment — Review

Currency Hedging Regulatory Implications of European Market
Infrastructure Regulation (EMIR)

The Committee received a confidential report outlining the requirement to
comply with changes in the European Market Infrastructure Regulation
(‘EMIR’) and that, with effect from 3 January 2018, the way in which the
Pension Fund’s currency hedging mandate with Record was required to
change. Record had provided information on how they proposed to alter the
mandate to comply with the regulatory changes. Aon Hewitt had provided a
view on Record’s proposals.

Colin Cartwright, Aon Hewitt, advised on the benefits of moving away from
seven counterparties to two and that it would offer diversification benefits that

12 Pension Fund Committee - 21 November 2017




would help offset moving to just one counterparty. This course of action
would increase the costs by £20,000 per annum. He also favoured the
re-introduction of equitisation, which would enhance returns through the
exposure to equity markets.

Richard Romain, Independent Adviser, suggested having more than two
counterparties which would increase the operating costs but these could be
offset. The Committee noted that whilst operating costs would increase, the
mechanism was designed to reduce risks.

Having moved and seconded, it was

RESOLVED: That, having considered the reports from Record and Aon
Hewitt,

(1) a move from seven to three counterparties to limit the cost of
complying with the new EMIR regulations be agreed,;

(2) the equitisation programme be re-introduced to enhance returns
through the exposure to equity market.

[Note: Councillor Norman Stevenson abstained from voting on this item.]

253. Information Report - Investment Manager Performance Monitoring for
period ending 30 September 2017

The Committee received a confidential report, which set out Aon Hewitt’s
quarterly report on Harrow’s investment managers. All managers who had
received a rating other than Pantheon — whose private equity funds had been
rated by different criteria and had received a range of ratings - had been given
either “Buy” or “Qualified” ratings.

Colin Cartwright, Aon Hewitt, drew attention to the “Qualified” rating given to
BlackRock Index-linked Gilt Fund. He added that the rating on the Corporate
Bond would be shared later. Colin Cartwright responded to a number of
guestions and undertook to set out in their next performance report how they
had arrived at their ratings for the two Blackrock products. In relation to the
Fund Manager, GMO, the annual turnover of 200-300% was as a result of an
average holding period of six months. He acknowledged that other Fund
Managers had low turnover but that GMO was patrticularly high.

Members were informed that the CIV (Collective Investment Vehicle) was not
rated but that the Fund Managers within the CIV were.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.

254. Investment Consultancy Services Procurement
Members received a confidential report of the Director of Finance, which
advised the Committee of the current position on the provision and re-

procurement of Investment Consultancy Services from 1 January 2018 and
set out re-procurement proposals using the National LGPS Framework, which

Pension Fund Committee - 21 November 2017 13 - 140 -



was due to be launched in November 2017 but was awaited. The Committee
was informed that the Framework would cost £5,500 (rather than £5,000) to
join and not £5,000 as set out in the report.

Members were advised that, in the interim, it would be appropriate to extend
the current contract. An officer was of the view that the appointment of an
actuary and an adviser from the same company was inconsequential as all
were expected to work together. Members noted the advice but were in
agreement that the personnel were also key and ought to be included on
specifications for any future contracts.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the procurement process for Investment Consultancy Services from
1 April 2018, as set out in the report, be agreed,;

(2)  the current contract with Aon Hewitt be extended to 31 March 2018,
and, thereafter, the new Norfolk administered framework be used to
re-procure the investment consultant contract.

255. Investment Strategy Review: Equity and Diversified Growth Re-
allocation

The Committee received a confidential report from Aon Hewitt, which set out
recommendations for investing the re-allocation of equities to diversified
growth funds as part of the Pension Fund’s revised Investment Strategy,
together with a note from Colin Robertson, Independent Adviser.

Colin Cartwright, Aon Hewitt, introduced the report and set out the
background to the report following the September 2017 Committee meeting
and the subsequent ‘Meet the Managers’ day. He added that the CIV offered
four “growth” Diversified Growth managers and that, at the ‘Meet the
Managers’ day, members had received presentations from the two existing
Diversified Growth Fund Managers — Insight and GARS — and two Diversified
Growth Managers — Newton and Ruffer — from the London CIV (Collective
Investment Vehicle). He added that the rating for Newton had been revised to
‘Being Reviewed’ but that he was ‘comfortable’ with their performance.

Colin Robertson, Independent Adviser, summed up his note by saying that
Newton appeared markedly worse than the others on Aon Hewitt’s historical
analysis while Insight showed up quite well. GARS was the best diversifier
from equities. He also reported on a meeting of Independent Advisers from
across the pools held that morning to the effect that funds would not be
transitioned to quite a number of the pools until after April 2018. Therefore,
Harrow was far from being at the rear of transitioning.

Richard Romain, Independent Adviser, stated that it would be for the
Committee to make a decision.

Members recognised the need to take a measured approach and, in light of
the business cases available to them, they

- 141 - 14 Pension Fund Committee - 21 November 2017



RESOLVED: That

(1) the asset re-allocation from the Equity reduction and cash balance be
invested with the current Diversified Growth Fund managers;

(2) the Diversified Growth Fund be increased to 22% of the total Fund
value from the sale of equity to be held % each in equal proportions in
Standard Life, GARS and Insight (11% each) as they were good
diversifiers away from equities;

(3) the element of passive equity reduction be delegated to the Director of
Finance, to manage the transition of the agreed re-allocation of funds,
following consultation with the Chair.

256. Pension Death Grant Payment - Review of Decision

The Committee agreed to consider the late report in order to allow a decision
to be taken at the earliest opportunity following a recent request for a review.

RESOLVED: That recommendation 2, as set out in the report, be agreed.

(Note: The meeting, having commenced at 6.34 pm, closed at 8.36 pm).

(Signed) COUNCILLOR NITIN PAREKH
Chair

Pension Fund Committee - 21 November 2017 15 -142 -



This page is intentionally left blank



Aaenda ltem 7
Pages 17 to 22

Pension Fund Committee

Date of Meeting: 7 March 2018

Subject: Pension Fund Committee - Update on
Regular Items

Responsible Officer: Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance

Exempt: No.

Wards affected: All

Enclosures: Appendix 1 — Fund Valuation and
Performance

Section 1 - Summary and recommendation

Summary

This report updates the Committee on regular items as follows:
e Draft work programme on which the Committee’s comments and
agreement are requested.
e Performance of fund managers for previous periods
e Issues raised by Pension Board

Recommendation

That, subject to any comments the Committee wish to make, the work
programme for the period up to March 2018 be agreed.

17 ( 7%/‘/‘04£COUNCIL )

LONDON



Section 2 - Report

A Introduction

1. This report updates the Committee on regular items as follows:
e Draft work programme for 2017-18 (Sub-section B)
e Performance of fund managers for periods ended 31 January
2018 (Sub-section C)
e Issues raised by Pension Board (Sub-section D)

B Draft Work Programme 2018-19

2. Below is a draft for the Committee to consider as its programme of work
for 2018-19.

27 June 2018

Update on regular items:
e Draft work programme for 2018-19
e Performance of fund managers for periods ended 31 March 2018
e Issues raised by Pension Board
e Emerging risks
Investment Strategy Review
Investment manager monitoring
Pooling and London Collective Investment Vehicle
Draft Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017-18
Performance Review 2017-18
Quarterly trigger monitoring
Investment review update
Medium term cashflow
Monitoring of operational controls at Longview and Insight
Review of Investment Consultancy contract
Training programme
Environmental, social and governance issues including Stewardship Code
Training session at 5.30 — (Introduction)-

12 September 2018

Update on regular items:
e Draft work programme for 2018-19
e Performance of fund managers for periods ended 30 June 2018
e Issues raised by Pension Board
e Emerging Risks
Investment manager monitoring
Pooling and London Collective Investment Vehicle
Audited Annual Report and Financial Statements 2017-18
Management expenses
Quarterly trigger monitoring
Environmental, social and governance Issues
Training session at 5.30 — tbc

18



September 2018 - “Meet the Managers”
27 November 2018

Update on regular items:
e Draft work programme for 2018-19 and 2018-19
e Performance of fund managers for periods ended 30 September
2018
e Issues raised by Pension Board
e Emerging risks
Investment manager monitoring
Pooling and London Collective Investment Vehicle
Quarterly trigger monitoring
Environmental, social and governance Issues
Training session at 5.30 — thc

12 March 2019

Update on regular items:

e Draft work programme for 2019-20

e Performance of fund managers for periods ended 31 December

2018

e |Issues raised by Pension Board

e Emerging risks
Investment manager monitoring
Pooling and London Collective Investment Vehicle
Monitoring of operational controls at managers
External Audit plan
Training programme 2019-20
Quarterly trigger monitoring
Environmental, social and governance Issues
Training session at 5.30 — thc

3. The Committee will have the opportunity to update this programme at
every meeting but are invited to comment on the draft above and agree it
at this stage.

4. In addition to the Committee’s work programme training opportunities will
be offered for an hour prior to each meeting.
C Performance of Fund Managers for Period Ended 31 December 2017 to
31 January 2018
5. Attached is a table summarising the Fund valuation from 31 December
2017 to 31 January 2018 and movement in the fund valuation for the year

to date.

6. The Committee are aware that for periods up to 31 March 2016
performance data was provided by State Street Global Services but that

19



this service is no longer available to the Fund. The Fund now subscribes
to the service provided by Pension and Investment Consultants Limited
(PIRC) but they do not yet have full coverage of the LGPS and the value
of the service will need to be assessed over coming months. It is
understood that PIRC now have 61 pension schemes within their universe
which is sufficient for comparative data to be of value. Elsewhere on the
agenda is a performance report from PIRC and the information arising
there from will be available at future committee meetings.

On 28™ June 2017 the Committee agreed revisions to the investment
strategy which included reducing the strategic asset allocation to global
equities to 42% and to emerging market equities on a pro rata basis. The
re-allocations are being made on a phased basis and recommendations
are set out in the exempt report Equity and Diversified Growth
Recommendation.

On 5™ November 2017, the Committee agreed an immediate fund
rebalancing exercise to reduce the equity weighting of the fund assets to
50%. The asset re-allocation required an equity reduction of £107m and
a transfer of £25m cash. This transfer resulted in an increase in
Diversified Growth Fund manager’s holdings to 22% of fund assets, (the
target allocation). In total £132m was transferred to Insight and Standard
Life. (E65m was taken from State Street, £25m from GMO and £17m from
Oldfields). The transition was completed by 12" December 2017.

The value of the Fund at the end of March 2017 had increased over the
year from £661m to £807m (22%). As at 31 December 2017 the market
value of the Fund had increased to £872m. By 31 January 2018 the
market value of the fund was £881m

D Meeting of Pension Board on 8 November 2017

10. The Pension Board met at 2.00 on 8 November with the following

agenda:

e Information Report - London Borough of Harrow Pension Board:
Revised Annual Report to Council

e Information Report - Pension Fund Committee Meeting on 12
September 2017.

e Pension Administration Performance Report to 30 September 2017

11. Any matters raised by the Board will be reported verbally

Financial Implications

11. There are several matters mentioned in this report, particularly asset

allocation and manager performance which have significant financial
implications but there are no direct financial implications arising from it as
its main purpose is to provide an update on regular items.

20



Risk Management Implications

12. The Pension Fund has a risk register which includes all the risks
identified which could affect the management of the Pension Fund.

Equalities implications

13. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.
Council Priorities

14. The financial health of the Pension Fund directly affects the level of

employer contribution which, in turn, affects the resources available for the
Council’s priorities there are no impacts arising directly from this report.

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

Name: Dawn Calvert Director of Finance

Date: 22 February 2018

Name: Linda Cohen v' | On Behalf of Monitoring
Officer

Date: 23 February 2018

Ward Councillors notified: Not applicable

Section 4 - Contact Details

Contact: lain Millar, Treasury and Pensions Manager 0208
424 1432

Background Papers - None

21




AssetClass
Global Equities

Longview (Aug17 with CIV Unhedgec

State Street
GMO
Oldfields

Total Global Equities

Total Equities

Private Equity

Pantheon
Total Private Equity

Property

Aviva
Total - property

Bonds

Blackrock - Fl
Blackrock - IL
Total Bonds

Alternatives

Insight
Standard Life

Total Alternatives
Cash & NCA

Cash Managers

Cash NatWest

Record passive currency hedge
Cash Custodian (JP Morgan)
Debtors and Creditors

CIV Investment

Total Net Current Assets

Total Assets

Fund Valuation and Performance

31st December 2017 and 31st January 2018

Appendix 1

Value Value Value Allocation  Strategic Strategic
31.03.2017 31.12.2017 31.01.2018 31.01.2018 Allocation Range
£'000 £'000 £'000 % % %
86,214 93,888 95,066 1 10
267,791 221,962 223,016 25 24
94,156 81,108 82,277 9 8
83,435 69,602 68,691 8 8
531,616 466,561 469,051
531,616 466,561 469,051 52 50 45-55
19,341 17,710 17,710
19,341 17,710 17,710 2 5 4-6
64,409 67,214 67,288
64,409 67,214 67,288 8 10 8-12
80,804 83,030 81,755 10 10
20,079 21,045 20,543 2 3
100,883 104,074 102,298 12 13 11-15
29,096 96,974 98,047 1 11
29,324 97 442 98,481 11 11
58,420 194,416 196,529 22 22 20-24
52 52 772
30,901 11,873 11,635
-241 3,146 7,818
12 4,999 6,439
1,033 1,717 1,917
150 150 150
31,907 21937 28,730 3 0
806,576 871912 881,605 100 100

22




Aaenda Item 8
Pages 23 to 30

Pension Fund Committee

Date of Meeting:

Subject:

Responsible Officer:
Exempt:
Wards affected:

Enclosures:

7 March 2018

Information Report — Quarterly Trigger
Monitoring Q4 2017

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance
No
All

Quarterly Trigger Monitoring Q4 2017
(Aon Hewitt)

Section 1 - Summary

Summary

The Committee is requested note a report from the Fund’s investment
advisers Aon Hewitt on Quarterly Trigger Monitoring in line with its function to
administer all matters concerning the Council’s Pension investments in
accordance with law and Council policy as conferred by Part 3A, Terms of
Reference of the Council’'s Constitution.

For Information

23 ( 7%/‘/‘04£COUNCIL )

LONDON



Section 2 - Report

1.

At their meeting on 8 September 2015 the Committee considered a
report entitled “Options for Liability Driven Investments (LDI) Strategy.
After discussion they resolved:

That the status quo, a 13% Bond allocation invested in a combination of
corporate bonds and index-linked gilts, be retained in relation to the
Fund’s Bond portfolio and that Aon Hewitt be requested to provide
guidance on the catalysts that would trigger a move to an LDI Strategy
with Option 2 being the preferred Option.

On 25 November 2015 the Committee considered a further report from
Aon Hewitt which set out options for taking forward the consideration of
an LDI Strategy. They resolved:

That they should receive a short report on funding levels at the next
meeting of the Committee and thereafter on a quarterly basis.

Attached is the report for the period up to 31 December 2017. The
Committee are invited to note this report from Aon Hewitt as no de-
risking actions are recommended at the current time.

Financial Implications

4. The consideration of strategy changes is an important part of the

management of the Pension Fund investments and the performance of
the Fund’s investments plays an extremely important part in the financial
standing of the Fund. The only financial implications arising from this
report are those associated with not making any strategic changes and
continuing to accept the current levels of risk.

Risk Management Implications

5. The risks arising from investment performance are included in the

Pension Fund risk register.

Equalities implications

6.

There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

Council Priorities

7.

Investment performance has a direct impact on the financial health of
the Pension Fund which directly affects the level of employer
contribution which then, in turn, affects the resources available for the
Council’s priorities

24



Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

Name: Dawn Calvert Director of Finance

Date: 22 February 2018

Ward Councillors notified: NO

Section 4 - Contact Details

Contact: lain Millar, Treasury and Pensions Manager 0208
424 1432

Background Papers - None

25




This page is intentionally left blank



Aon Hewitt
Retirement & Investment

London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund (‘the Fund’)
Date: 16 February 2018
Prepared for: Pension Fund Committee ('the Committee')
Prepared by: Colin Cartwright

Joseph Peach

Quarterly Trigger Monitoring - Q4 2017

Introduction The purpose of this short report is to provide an update on the status of
three de-risking triggers which the Committee have agreed to monitor on
a quarterly basis. The three triggers are related to:

= The Fund's funding level
» Yield triggers based on the 20 year spot yield

= Aon's view of bond yields

Funding level The charts and table below show the Fund's funding level at the end of
the quarter compared with the level at the last actuarial valuation as at 31
March 2016.

The funding level as at 31 December 2017 was 82.0%, compared to
81.0% as at 30 September 2017 and 74.3% as at 31 March 2016.

31 December 2017 Ongoing Basis
Assets £872m
Liabilities £1,063m
Surplus (deficit) (£191m)
Funding Level 82.0%
25 0%
B2.5%
B0.0H
% 77.5%
é 75.0%
72.5%
F0.0%
67.5%
Apr'1E Jul"1e Oct "6 lan 17 Apr"1 7 Jul7 Oct 17 Jan"18
Ongoing basis

Source: Hymans Robertson

The Aon Centre | The Leadenhall Building | 122 Leadenhall Street | London | EC3V 4AN

t +44 (0) 20 7086 8000 | f+44 (0) 20 7621 1511 | aon.com

Aon Hewitt Limited is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority.

Registered in England & Wales No. 4396810

Registered office:

The Aon Centre | The Leadenhall Building | 122 Leadenhall Street | London | EC3V 4AN

This report and any enclosures or attachments are prepared on the understanding that it is

solely for the benefit of the addressee(s). Unless we provide express prior written consent
Institute  ® NO part of this report should be reproduced, distributed or communicated to anyone else w
and Faculty @nd, in providing this report, we do not accept or assume any responsibility for any other
of Actuaries purpose or to anyone other than the addressee(s) of this report.

Copyright © 2018 Aon Hewitt Limited. All rinhts reserved. Empower Results®

QAS




Aon Hewitt

Retirement & Investment

20 year spot yield

4.00

3.50

3.00

2.50

2.00

1.50

1.00

0.50

0.00

Aon Hewitt views on
bond yields

The chart below shows the movement of the 20 year spot yield from 31
March 2013 to 12 February 2018. Yields ended the fourth quarter of 2017
at 1.77%, a decline from their 1.94% level at the end of Q3 2017. Yields
continued to rise into mid October but began to decline towards the end of
the month as markets began to anticipate the interest rate rise on 2
November 2017. Yields continued to decline through November and
December. Since the end of Q4 2017 yields have begun increasing, and

yields were 2.00% as at 12 February 2018.
20 year gilt spot yield

T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T
(32 [32] (32} (32} < < < < wn N N n O (] (] (o] ~ ~ ~ ~
— -~ -~ i — — — -~ -~ -~ — — — — — -~ — — — —
~ ~ S~ S~ ~ ~ ~ S~ ~ ~~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ S~ ey ~ ~ S~
o Xo) (o)) ~N o Xo) [e)) ~N o [Xo) D N o Xo) [e)) ~N o [Xo) [e2) ~N
(=] (=] (=] = o (=] (=] -~ (=] (=] o — (=] (=] o = o (=] (=] —
S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~ S~
— o o L — o o i — o o — o o o — — o o i
o o o o [a2] o o o o o [a2] [a2] o o o o [a2] o o o

The table below sets out Aon's views versus the market in terms of spot
and forward rates as at 16 January 2018.

Summary of market spot and forward rates versus Aon's views

16 January 2018 In 3 years In 5 years
Market Aon ] Market Aon )
20 year Spot Rate . i Diff o ) Diff
Pricing View Pricing View
Real -1.7% -15% -1.0% +06% -15% -08% +0.7%
Nominal +1.9% +2.1% +2.6% +0.5% +2.2% +2.8% +0.6%
Breakeven* +3.6% +3.7% +3.6% -0.1% +3.7% +3.6% -0.1%

* Aon view on breakeven inflation includes an allowance for an inflation risk premium above expected inflation
Totals may not sum exactly due to rounding

As shown by these figures, we believe that rates will rise faster than the
market is indicating. We also believe that the market is overstating
breakeven inflation expectations, albeit to a lesser extent than previously.

Conclusion Whilst there has been an improvement in funding level, long term bond
yields remain at low levels. Aon believe that yields will rise faster than
indicated by the market over the next three and five year period.

No de-risking actions are recommended at the current time.
London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund ('the Fund') 2

28



Aon Hewitt
Retirement & Investment

Disclaimer

This document and any enclosures or attachments are prepared on the understanding that it is solely
for the benefit of the addressee(s). Unless we provide express prior written consent, no part of this
document should be reproduced, distributed or communicated to anyone else and, in providing this
document, we do not accept or assume any responsibility for any other purpose or to anyone other
than the addressee(s) of this document.

Notwithstanding the level of skill and care used in conducting due diligence into any organisation that
is the subject of a rating in this document, it is not always possible to detect the negligence, fraud, or
other misconduct of the organisation being assessed or any weaknesses in that organisation's
systems and controls or operations.

This document and any due diligence conducted is based upon information available to us at the date
of this document and takes no account of subsequent developments. In preparing this document we
may have relied upon data supplied to us by third parties (including those that are the subject of due
diligence) and therefore no warranty or guarantee of accuracy or completeness is provided. We
cannot be held accountable for any error, omission or misrepresentation of any data provided to us by
third parties (including those that are the subject of due diligence). This document is not intended by
us to form a basis of any decision by any third party to do or omit to do anything.

Any opinions or assumptions in this document have been derived by us through a blend of economic
theory, historical analysis and/or other sources. Any opinion or assumption may contain elements of
subjective judgement and are not intended to imply, nor should be interpreted as conveying, any form
of guarantee or assurance by us of any future performance. Views are derived from our research
process and it should be noted in particular that we cannot research legal, regulatory, administrative
or accounting procedures and accordingly make no warranty and accept no responsibility for
consequences arising from relying on this document in this regard.

Calculations may be derived from our proprietary models in use at that time. Models may be based on
historical analysis of data and other methodologies and we may have incorporated their subjective
judgement to complement such data as is available. It should be noted that models may change over
time and they should not be relied upon to capture future uncertainty or events.

London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund ('the Fund') 3

29



This page is intentionally left blank



Aaenda Iltem 9
Pages 31 to 38

Pension Fund Committee

Date of Meeting: 7 March 2018

Subject: Information Report - Performance
Measurement Services

Responsible Officer: Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance

Exempt: No
Wards affected: All
Enclosures: Appendix 1 PIRC Performance Report to

31 December 2017

Section 1 - Summary and recommendation

Summary

This report advises the Committee in respect of the performance
measurement services being provided by Pension and Investment
Consultants Limited (PIRC).

Recommendation

The Committee are recommended to note the report from Pension and
Investment Consultants Limited to December 2017 as set out in the appendix
and to advise on the format and presentation requirements for future reports.

31 ( 7%/‘/‘04£COUNCIL )

LONDON



Section 2 - Report

1. At their meeting on 7 March 2017 the Committee were provided with an

update on the services then being provided by Pension and Investment
Consultants Limited (PIRC). The contract with the Fund stipulates the
services to be provided as:

e Participation in the Local Authority Universe — fund and portfolio
data reviewed, standardised and incorporated in the aggregate

e Provision of quarterly and annual Universe results and analysis

e Provision of annual league tables and analysis

e Provision of Universe research

At their meeting on 28 June 2017 the Committee approved that PIRC
would be contracted to provide additional important bespoke services
for the Harrow Fund and agreed that the Committee would review the
format of the performance reports produced.

PIRC presented the first of their quarterly reports to the Committee on
18 September 2017. Benchmarked performance to 31 December 2017
is set out in Appendix 1.The Committee is invited to comment on format
and presentation requirements going forward.

Financial Implications

4. The expenditure approved is £12,500 in 2017-18 and £8,500 (subject to

inflation increases) in subsequent years is a charge on the Pension
Fund.

Risk Management Implications

5. The risks arising from investment performance are included in the

Pension Fund risk register.

Equalities implications

6. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

Council Priorities

9

Investment performance has a direct impact on the financial health of the
Pension Fund which directly affects the level of employer contribution
which then, in turn, affects the resources available for the Council’s
priorities.

32



Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

Name: Dawn Calvert Director of Finance

Date: 22 February 2018

Ward Councillors notified: NO

Section 4 - Contact Details

Contact: lain Millar, Treasury and Pensions Manager 0208
424 1432

Background Papers - None

33




This page is intentionally left blank



ugs g 18 pan|eA spuny OF JO asJanun WUdIU| ue uo paseg ,
‘spouad JEaA 3y pue 23041 243 Ylog Jeao 3nuadtad yigz Supues ‘siaad 511 jo peaye Ajgelojuo? ujuiropad 5| pund ayy

WIowysuaq 0 peaye 3snf osie "e'd 56 TT JO WUNIBL Y YUM SJERA BAIJ 1SE| @) JTAO JB||LIS ST QIUBLLIOLIAY
edygz 1T JO 1NEI) NBWLIUSEY YL JO peaye sem siy) erd g4 TT PAUIM3L puny 2t s1eaA 231 9} JaAD

"ss0Beuew ay jo Bunuioddes|p 350w 3yl 2Jam pue dolp sauewsoysad mes ‘AlBuoais pawsosad pey youm * playpio
s13Jew amusod ur ysea awes Juipjoy Jo Sesp ayl 01 anp yiewyauaq 1snl sem vanlad siyj
‘2'd o4y €1 JO LIN1IDS B PaARIYIE puUng 3yl dauewiopad syluoLu dajam) 15e) 9yl Jaap

WIEWIYIUI DYI YIM DU U SEM LML YL
‘s1gJew Ainba jo wnuawow aanisod panuiluod ayl woiy Bunyauag Jauenb ayl Jano g §'y POUINIDI pung ayL

MBIMBAD

“HJEWYIUIG MU 2Y) Ylm uBIE 01 J9qWaIa( Ul PIACW 343M SPUNg ‘BTOT AMENUET JO 1JEIS aUl WoJj aBueyd |jis yJewyauag sjyl,

(181 Aisnoiasad ‘pTOZ 2O WOod)) PHOM IV 35LS S Aunb3g a1eAug
%t+ YOBIT YIWOW € ot LIMOJD POISIANG
spung pasueleg |iv ad| Ot Aladoud

5JB9A G < 5)|1D PAYUN X3Py 351 9'Z
sJe9A QT < ujuaisoan3 JNVE ¢OT

£T fpuog
sioyJe Fudiawl DS ot
{(P3BP3H %0S) YAN PHOM IDSW T2
(PIBPIH %05 MV 1D5W Alsnoiadud ‘9107 ZD woly) (PaBPaH %0S) MY 3514 TE
29 Annby
%

:pasudwod yJewyoduag e sujede panseal si pung ayL

LT0T 13quiadag puj 03 Spotiad
AJewiwing asuewio}ad AjJ31end moldaeH Jo ysnosog uopuot

35



‘BGENIEAR 51 NsaJ JEIA § QU 210JaIaY1 £T0T Funr pawwodde NS
Fqepene DauewI0pad JEIA § 10 £ 2ALY 104 JOU Op 20422941 STOT AJenuer Ul 3yBisu) pue 10z J2quasonN paiuiodde auam splayp|0 pue OWo

Z'0 S0 90- S8 00 A4 aAeaY
LT g 5'0t £t 0'El LTt we
6'T1 Gt 86 L0 0Et £'ST pung
SIBDA DN
ro 20 o ro oo oo re oo ro ro o0¢ 13odwi uoioI0)Y
z'a To- oa oo ro zo g o o 4] ro 10dwy tabouow
] e v'0 60 €L o 0T aneRY
1t st T L8 €61 £'61 8'8 we
€11 Tt 9y 8¢ 8'€7 7'sT 6 puny
SIEDA DDIYL
&0 50 Ip I0 To To (o }7] 00 rg o0 0o 1200w uonoaoyy
r'o: o0 20 o ro- Z'0 Q- 00 0o ao odwy sabovow
AL €T g's £ L0 0Lt £t 7o 00 E0 anieay
9'El Sy €' G E0T el 67T ¥'ST €T L'ST wa
Vel 1€ 101 L's 5'6 £97 A 7’52 L'ET T'91 pung
JEDA QUOD
a0 oo 00 (#7] 00 00 a0 g0 00 00 00 1odwy vonvaoly
&0 o0 ro 00 oo 0 o0 ro 00 r'o- 1oduwit jabouoy
10 01 0t 0 £0- £8 £0- 60 00 T BT EH]
St 11 0T 0E Tt 1S 0s 99 I's Qs e
S'y 17 TE TE 87 BEL 9y St TS LE pun;
1UENY 35918
007 ] g 5 ET 01 S o1 ot 1€ 1T We %
0o% Z 1T 1t ra! 8 d 8 6 52 7 12301 53
£16'148 162'81 [4 2404 v{6'96 00T AR otL'LT 20969 80118 296'TZT 88B'E6 (5000,3) £102 220 pu3
EUG'CED 90Z'LE 5562 GGO'0E 58001 68’59 GOE'LT EE0'ER Tv9'66 vZTPLT v8L'06 {=000,3) £10Z das pu3
3oL ysed wns sy IoYHIRG  BAIAY uodylued  PIRIPIO OWo vO5S MaIATuD

Alewiwing 23UBWLIOMI3d - LTOT 12quWal3q pul o} 4a1iend

36



HEWYAURE 5 jO PoaYE AlYDNS A)RIoUDE UDaQ SEY PUNY DY ILY) UBIE DG UEI 1 SISUG JRIA 294y3 Hunod ¢ uo Pajoo) s aauewigjiad uaym

"LT0T Yanaayl vigde pue STOZ €D YN0 vz £D POMRY 343 Ul jlam pawaiad puny aul (aun pas aul) siseq jenuue umos e uo

Aldnd FERLY 2080 28 ROy S b ) e g Sy ) 0V 9T Lk % B8 ST 00y 5 T3 IfE D i VEL BT AL PTEY 3 i TR B N A Pl o) sdy o

IUBUIONI PUN] WL JaBUT
o

"N A3 AT} 01 UOISIZDP 5N 2 PAMQJI04 1EYY GTOT U] BIUEINGINT DL 0 poLind a4} SulHg Uondaaxs IquIou ay) -
‘spouad 094 D241 PUC DU FULI0L ISOW PUL SIEIA DA 15T] DI JO JOLIEND AJaAD 1SOWIE I Ui dAisod ¢ puanpasd sey pung ayy

AL DY AR il £ DY LA TR IRTY LI N R R T

NICWIOUDG O3 SANEDY DIUBUIIOND ) PUN] LKD) Jo8U0T



'pUNg dY1 AQ Play SRIULIRq YSEI 3Y) 4O 10249 daedau ayl uaaq sey 12edw) Uaelo|je 13550 ADY Ayl spoud ||B J3AQ

"RTOZ AJENURYE 1LJEIS [IIM UIIYM YJEWYIUDQ MU Y1 ylim UF|(e 0] JOqUIFDQ W POADLI 2JaM SpUNy

o <o 0o 0o oo ro- o Japdiuy uonodoyy

SIeap 9954 )

£ 50 ro ro T'o o0 10 1aoduy uonpofy

JEIA BUD

00 20 e go 00 oo Qo 120dw) vonpaoly

Jaueny 1sae

[4 43 1- [ E- 8- Juiydiam aAneay

0ot 0 o1 £l 01 5 ¢ A8 5%

got Z t4 A S g ¢ tS €101 %

FATiIR A 164'81 oTv 6T L0'VOT P12°L9 otLLt 195950 (5000,3) £10T 290 pu3

EVG'EER 907°LE #5965 #S8'00T 6v8'59 G9E'LT £85°LYS {s000,3} ¢ 10z das pu3
G yseo 90 spuog Auadold Aunb3 a1ean Aunbi

a)npayds ssejd 19ssy Ag uonedo)|y 19ssy 3eag

38



Aaenda Item 10
Pages 39 to 42

Pension Fund Committee

Date of Meeting:

Subject:

Responsible Officer:
Exempt:
Wards affected:

Enclosures:

7 March 2018

Information Report — Transfer of Harrow
College to LB Hillingdon Pension Fund

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance
No
All

None

Section 1 - Summary

The reports inform the Committee of the merger of Uxbridge College and
Harrow College on 1 August 2017 with Uxbridge College as continuing
employer following the merger. The Colleges wished to combine the active,
deferred and pensioner member liabilities and assets of Harrow College and
Uxbridge College They required a Direction from the Secretary of State to
substitute the London Borough of Hillingdon, which administers Hillingdon
Pension Fund, for London Borough of Harrow, which administers Harrow

Pension Fund.

FOR INFORMATION

39 ( 7%/‘/‘04£COUNCIL )

LONDON



Section 2 - Report

1

Uxbridge College and Harrow College merged on 1 August 2017, and all
employees of Harrow College transferred under Transfer of Undertakings
(Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 to Uxbridge College.
Harrow College was dissolved. Harrow College is an employer within
London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund (“Harrow Pension Fund”), and
Uxbridge College is an employer within the London Borough of Hillingdon
Pension Fund (“Hillingdon Pension Fund”). The Colleges wished to
combine the active, deferred and pensioner member liabilities and assets
of Harrow College and Uxbridge College.

The transfer a Direction from the Secretary of State to substitute the
London Borough of Hillingdon, which administers Hillingdon Pension
Fund, for London Borough of Harrow, which administers Harrow Pension
Fund under the provisions of Schedule 3, Part 2, Paragraph 3, of the
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (the Regulations).

The London Borough of Hillingdon is the preferred fund, because
Uxbridge College is the continuing employer after the merger, has the
majority of Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) members and is
an employer in the Hillingdon Pension Fund.

The Fund Actuary has calculated a bulk transfer value based on Harrow
College Membership and cash flows updated for investment returns from
the 1% August 2017 to the planned transfer date of 9™ February 2018. The
assets of Harrow College as at the calculated transfer date are £30.4
million. The transfer will be part-funded from £15 million cash and the
balance from a drawdown from fund managers in March 2018. All of
Harrow College’s liabilities are passed to the LB Hillingdon Pension Fund.

Financial Implications

5

The financial impact for the LB Harrow Pension Fund is neutral. Following
the transfer, all liabilities and risks are transferred to LB Hillingdon and
Uxbridge College.

Risk Management Implications

6

Following the transfer, all liabilities and risk is transferred to Hillingdon and
Uxbridge College.

Equalities implications

7

There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

Council Priorities

8. Investment performance has a direct impact on the financial health of the

Pension Fund which directly affects the level of employer contribution

40



which then, in turn, affects the resources available for the Council’s
priorities

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

Name Dawn Calvert Director of Finance

Date: 22 February 2018

Ward Councillors notified: NO

Section 4 - Contact Details

Contact: lain Millar, Treasury and Pension Fund Manager
0208 424 1432

Background Papers - None

41




This page is intentionally left blank



Aaenda ltem 11
Pages 43 to 66

Pension Fund Committee

Date of Meeting: 7 March 2018
Subject: Information Report — External Audit Plan
2017-18

Responsible Officer: Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance

Exempt: No

Wards affected: All

Enclosures: Appendix: External Audit Plan 2017/18 -
KPMG

Section 1 - Summary

The report advises the Committee of the external audit plan for 2017-18 as
presented by KPMG to Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards
Committee on 30 January 2018.

FOR INFORMATION

43 ( 7%/‘/‘04£COUNCIL )

LONDON



Section 2 - Report

1. The Council has received the External Audit Plan 2017/18 as prepared by
KPMG and presented to Governance, Audit, Risk Management and
Standards Committee on 30 January 2018. The Plan, which includes the
audit of the Pension Fund, is attached as the appendix to this report.

2. Broadly, the Plan covers:

Headlines

Introduction

Financial statements audit planning
Value for money arrangements work
Other matters

3. In addition to the overall audit of the Pension Fund the auditors have made
the following specific points:

e Materiality - £10m (page 10 of Plan)
e Uncorrected omissions or misstatements to be reported by the
Auditor - £500,000 (page 10 of Plan)
e Significant and other audit risk
Valuation of hard to price pension fund assets (pages 2 and 6
of Plan)
Other areas of audit focus — Calculation of benefits (pages 1 and
9 of Plan)
e Faster closure and production of accounts by 31% May (previousl)é
30™ June) and external audit certification by 31 July (was 30°
September).

Financial Implications

4. Whilst, clearly, the annual audit concentrates largely on the financial state
of the Pension Fund there are no financial implications arising directly
from this report.

Risk Management Implications
5. The Pension Fund has its own risk register which includes all the risks

identified. The annual audit assists in the management of the risks but no
implications arise directly from this report.

Equalities implications
6. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

Council Priorities

7. Whilst the financial health of the Pension Fund directly affects the level of
employer contribution which, in turn, affects the resources available for

44



the Council’s priorities there are no impacts arising directly from this
report.

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

Name Dawn Calvert Director of Finance

Date: 22 February 2018

Ward Councillors notified: NO

Section 4 - Contact Details

Contact: lain Millar, Treasury and Pensions Manager 0208
424 1432

Background Papers - None

45




This page is intentionally left blank






Headlines

Financial Statement Audit

There are no significant changes to the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting
(“the Code”) in 2017/18, which provides stability. Deadlines for producing and signing the
accounts have advanced. This is a significant change and needs careful management to
ensure the new deadlines are met. The Authority advanced its accounts production last
year and recognises the need for further advances in 2017/18 to meet the new deadlines.
As such we do not feel that this represents a significant risk, although it is still critically
important. To meet the revised deadlines it is essential that the draft financial statements
and all ‘prepared by client’ documentation is available in line with agreed timetables.
Where this is not achieved there is a significant likelihood that the audit report will not be
issued by 31 July 2017.

Authority significant risks

Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood of a
B material financial statement error have been identified as:

— Valuation of land and buildings: Whilst the Authority operates a cyclical revaluation
approach, the Code requires that all land and buildings be held at fair value. We will
consider the way in which the Authority ensures that assets not subject to in-year
revaluation are not materially misstated; and

— Pension liabilities: The valuation of the Authority’s pension liability, as calculated by
the Actuary, is dependent upon both the accuracy and completeness of the data
provided and the assumptions adopted. We will review the processes to ensure
accuracy of data provided to the Actuary and consider the assumptions used in
determining the valuation.

Pension fund significant risks

— Valuation of hard to price investments: The pension fund invests in a range of
assets and funds, some of which are inherently harder to value due to there being no
publicly available quoted prices. We will verify a selection of investments to third party
information and confirmations.

Value for Money Audit

Our risk assessment regarding your arrangements to secure value for
money has identified the following VFM significant risk to date:

— Delivery of Medium Term Financial Strategy: As a result of
reductions in central government funding, and other pressures, the
Authority is having to make significant savings in addition to those
delivered in prior years and there are future budget gaps that need to
addressed in 2019/20 and 2020/21. We will consider how the Authority
identifies, approves, and monitors savings plans and how budgets are
monitored throughout the year.

Logistics and team
Our team is led by Andrew Sayers — Partner and Antony Smith — Manager.

Our work will be completed in four phases from December to July and our
key deliverables are this Audit Plan and a Report to Those Charged With
Governance.

Fees

Our fee for the 2017/18 audit is £150,724 (£150,724 2016/2017). Our fee for
the 2017/18 Pension Fund audit is £21,000 (£21,000 2016/2017). These are
both in line with the scale fees published by PSAA. All changes in fees are
subject to approval by PSAA.

Acknowledgement

We thank officers and Members for their continuing help and cooperation
throughout our audit.

Other information

KPMG

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

[EnY



The contacts at KPMG
in connection with this
report are:

Tel: 0207 694 8981
andrew.sayers@kpmg.co.uk

Tel: 07824 415 095
antony.smith@kpmg.co.uk

Page
Headlines
1. Introduction
2. Financial statements audit planning
3. Value for money arrangements work 11
4. Other matters 13

Appendices

¢ 1: Key elements of our financial statements audit approach
e 2:Independence and objectivity requirements

e 3: Quality framework

This report is addressed to the London Borough of Harrow (the Authority) and has been prepared for the sole use of the Authority. We take no responsibility to any member
of staff acting in their individual capacities, or to third parties. PSAA issued a document entitled Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies summarising
where the responsibilities of auditors begin and end and what is expected from audited bodies. We draw your attention to this document which is available on PSAA’s website
(www.psaa.co.uk).

External auditors do not act as a substitute for the audited body’s own responsibility for putting in place proper arrangements to ensure that public business is conducted in
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively.

We are committed to providing you with a high quality service. If you have any concerns or are dissatisfied with any part of KPMG'’s work, you should contact Andrew Sayers,
the engagement lead to the Authority and the national lead partner for all of KPMG’s work under our contract with Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, who will try to
resolve your complaint. After this, if you are still dissatisfied with how your complaint has been handled you can access PSAA’s complaints procedure by emailing
generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk, by telephoning 020 7072 7445 or by writing to Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited, 3rd Floor, Local Government House, Smith Square,
London, SW1P 3HZ.

m © 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (‘KPMG International”), a
Swiss entity. All rights reserved

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



0S

|- Introduction

Background and statutory responsibilities

This plan supplements our 2017/18 audit fee letter 2017/18 issued in April 2017,
which set out details of our appointment by PSAA.

Our statutory responsibilities and powers are set out in the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014, the NAO’s Code of Audit Practice and the PSAA Statement
of Responsibilities.

Our audit has two key objectives, requiring us to audit / review and report on your:

— Authority and Pension Fund Financial statements: Providing an opinion on
your accounts. We also review the Annual Governance Statement and Narrative
Report and report by exception on these; and

— Use of resources: Concluding on the arrangements in place for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources (the value for
money conclusion).

The audit planning process and risk assessment is an on-going process and the

assessment and fees in this plan will be kept under review and updated if necessary.

Any change to our identified risks will be reporting to the Governance, Audit, Risk
Management and Standards Committee (GARMS Committee).

Financial statements audit

Our financial statements audit follows a four stage process:
— Financial statements audit planning

— Control evaluation

— Substantive procedures

— Completion

Appendix 1 provides more detail on these stages. This plan concentrates on the
Financial Statements Audit Planning stage.

Value for Money

Our Value for Money (VFM) arrangements work follows a five stage process:
— Risk assessment

— Links with other audit work

— Identification of significant VFM risks

— Review work (by ourselves and other bodies)

— Conclude

— Report

Pages 11 and 12 provide more detail on these stages. This plan concentrates on
explaining the VFM approach for 2017/18 and the findings of our VFM risk
assessment.

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



/. Hnanclal Statements audit planning

Financial statements audit planning

Our planning work takes place December 2017 to January 2018 and involves:
determining materiality; risk assessment; identification of significant risks;
consideration of potential fraud risks; identification of key account balances and
related assertions, estimates and disclosures; consideration of Management's
use or experts; and issuing this plan to communicate our audit strategy.

Authority risk assessment

Professional standards require us to consider two standard risks. We are not
elaborating on these standard risks in this plan but consider them as a matter of
course and will include any findings arising from our work in our ISA 260
Report.

(71— Management override of controls: Management is typically in a powerful

- position to perpetrate fraud owing to its ability to manipulate accounting
records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls
that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. Our audit incorporates
the risk of Management override as a default significant risk. In line with
our methodology, we carry out appropriate controls testing and substantive
procedures, including over journal entries, accounting estimates and
significant transactions that are outside the normal course of business, or
are otherwise unusual.

— Fraudulent revenue recognition: We do not consider this generally to be
a significant risk for local authorities as there are limited incentives and
opportunities to manipulate the way income is recognised. We therefore
rebut this risk and do not incorporate specific work into our audit plan in this
area over and above our standard fraud procedures, except for conditional
grant income (capital grants received in 2016/17 were £32 million; and as at
31 March 2017 the Authority held a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
reserve of £6.1 million; and a capital receipts unapplied reserve of £19.6
million. We will therefore combine this work with the other area of focus for
grant income recognition.

Remuneration
disclosures

Impairment of
PPE

Pension
assets

Financial
Instruments

Valuation of
land and
buildings

Code
compliance

Telling the
Story Reven_u_e
Management recognition

override of
controls

Pension w
liability
@ Budgetary
Bad _dgbt
rovision q
p Regeneration Grant income

programme .
Subsidiary

recognition
consolidation

Faster close
Lease Key financial
accounting systems

Key: @ Significantrisk ® Other area of audit focus @® Other areas considered

m © 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (‘KPMG International”), a 4

Swiss entity. All rights reserved

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



/. Hnanclal Statements audit planning

[AS]

Authority significant audit risks

Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error in relation to the Authority.

Valuation of land and buildings

Risk: The Code requires that where assets are subject to revaluation, their year end carrying value should reflect the appropriate fair value at that date. The Authority has
adopted a rolling revaluation model which sees land and buildings revalued over a five year cycle. As a result individual assets may not be revalued for four years. This
creates a risk that the carrying value of those assets not revalued in year differs materially from the year end fair value. In addition, as the valuation is undertaken as at 1
April, there is a risk that the fair value is different at year end.

Approach: We will review the approach that the Authority has adopted to assess the risk that assets not subject to valuation are materially misstated and consider the
robustness of that approach. We will assess the risk of the valuation changing materially in year. We will consider movement in market indices between revaluation dates
and the year end in order to determine whether these indicate that fair values have moved materially over that time.

In relation to those assets which have been revalued during the year we will assess the valuer’s qualifications, objectivity and independence to carry out such valuations and
review the methodology used (including testing the underlying data and assumptions).

Pension liabilities

Risk: The net pension liability represents a material element of the Authority’s balance sheet. The Authority is an admitted body of the London Borough of Harrow Pension
Fund, which had its last triennial valuation completed as at 31 March 2016. This forms an integral basis of the valuation as at 31 March 2018. Valuation of the Local
Government Pension Scheme relies on assumptions, most notably actuarial assumptions, and actuarial methodology which results in the Authority’s overall valuation.

There are financial assumptions and demographic assumptions used in the calculation of the Authority’s valuation, such as the discount rate, inflation rates, mortality rates

etc. Assumptions should reflect the profile of the Authority’s employees and should be based on appropriate data. The basis of the assumptions is derived on a consistent
basis year to year, or updated to reflect any changes. There is a risk that the assumptions and methodology used in the valuation of the Authority’s pension obligation are

not reasonable. This could have a material impact to net pension liability accounted for in the financial statements.

Approach: We will review controls that the Authority has in place over the information sent directly to the Scheme Actuary. We will liaise with the auditors of the Pension
Fund to gain an understanding of the effectiveness of controls operated by the Pension Fund. This will include consideration of the process and controls with respect to the
assumptions used in the valuation. We will evaluate the competency, objectivity and independence of Hymans Robertson.

We will review the appropriateness of key assumptions in the valuation, compare them to expected ranges, and consider the need to make use of a KPMG actuary. We will
review the methodology applied in the valuation by Hymans Robertson. In addition, we will review the overall Actuarial valuation and consider the disclosure implications in
the financial statements.

)]

KPMG

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



/. Hnanclal Statements audit planning

€g

Authority other areas of audit focus

Those risks with less likelihood of giving rise to a material error but which are nevertheless worthy of audit understanding.

Faster close

Risk: In prior years, the Authority has been required to prepare draft financial statements by 30 June and then final signed accounts by 30 September. For years ending on
and after 31 March 2018 revised deadlines apply which require draft accounts by 31 May and final signed accounts by 31 July.

During 2016/17, the Authority started to prepare for these revised deadlines and advanced its accounts production timetable so that draft accounts were ready by 16 June
2017 (accounts were signed on 29 September 2017). Whilst this was an advancement on the timetable applied in preceding years, further work is still required in order to
ensure that the statutory deadlines for 2017/18 are met.

To meet the revised deadlines, the Authority may need to make greater use of accounting estimates. In doing so, consideration will need to be given to ensuring that these
estimates remain valid at the point of finalising the financial statements. There are logistical challenges that will need to be managed including:

— Ensuring that any third parties involved in the production of the accounts (including valuers, actuaries) are aware of the revised deadlines and have made arrangements
to provide the output of their work accordingly;

— Revising the closedown and accounts production timetable to ensure that all working papers and supporting documentation are available at the start of the audit;
— Ensuring that the GARMS Committee meeting schedules have been updated to permit signing in July; and

— Applying a shorter paper deadline to the July meeting of the GARMS Committee meeting in order to accommodate the production of the final version of the accounts
and our ISA 260 report.

In the event that the above areas are not effectively managed there is a significant risk that the audit will not be completed by the 31 July deadline. There is an increased
likelihood that the Audit Certificate (which confirms that all audit work for the year has been completed) may be issued separately at a later date if work is still ongoing in
relation to the Authority’s Whole of Government Accounts return. This is not seen as a breach of deadlines.

Approach: We will continue to liaise with officers in preparation for our audit to understand the steps the Authority is taking to meets the revised deadlines. We will look to
advance audit work into the interim visit to streamline the year end audit work. Where there is greater reliance upon accounting estimates we will consider the assumptions
used and challenge the robustness of those estimates.

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



/. Hnanclal Statements audit planning

Authority other areas of audit focus (continued)

Regeneration programme

Risk: The regeneration programme is part of the Authority’s ‘Building a better Harrow' regeneration strategy, which lays out plans for £1.75 billion investment in the Borough
in the period 2014-26. Work has begun with some phases/elements completed and others in detailed design phases and therefore capital costs are continuing to be
incurred (£56 million in 2017/18 and £200 million in 2018/19) in relation to the regeneration programme. The Authority will continue to exercise judgement in determining the
fair value of assets under construction and the methods used to ensure that the carrying values recorded each year reflect those fair values.

Approach: We will undertake detailed testing of assets under construction and any movements within this category, as part of our final accounts audit.

Grant income recognition

Risk: In 2016/17 the Authority received total capital grants of £32 million. Also as at 31 March 2017 the Authority had three relevant balances to this area: a CIL reserve

1| (£6.1 million); capital grants received in advance (£3.5 million) and capital grants and contributions unapplied (£19.6 million). Accounting for capital grant income and
e ensuring balances remain appropriate is complex as the basis for recognition in the financial statements will vary depending on the individual conditions associated with each
grant. In addition Management must apply judgement to determine if such conditions are attached to a grant and if they have been met.
Approach: We will perform substantive testing over a sample of capital grants received during the year and balances held at the 31 March 2018. We will review grant
correspondence and assess if the Authority has recognised the income in accordance with the CIPFA Code and grant agreement.
m © 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (‘KPMG International”), a 7
Swiss entity. All rights reserved

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



/. Hnanclal Statements audit planning

GS

Pension Fund risk assessment

Professional standards require us to consider two standard risks. We are not

elaborating on these standard risks in this plan but consider them as a matter of

course and will include any findings arising from our work in our ISA 260
Report.

KPMG

Management override of controls: Management is typically in a powerful
position to perpetrate fraud owing to its ability to manipulate accounting
records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls
that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. Our audit incorporates
the risk of Management override as a default significant risk. In line with
our methodology, we carry out appropriate controls testing and substantive
procedures, including over journal entries, accounting estimates and
significant transactions that are outside the normal course of business, or
are otherwise unusual.

Fraudulent revenue recognition: We do not consider this to be a
significant risk for local authority Pension Funds as there are limited
incentives and opportunities to manipulate the way income is recognised.
We therefore rebut this risk and do not incorporate specific work into our
audit plan in this area over and above our standard fraud procedures.

Swiss entity. All rights reserved

Key:

Compliance to
the Pension
Fund Annual

Report
disclosure

: Revenue recognition:
requirements

contributions and
. investment income
compliance
Presentation
of financial

instruments Management

override of
controls

Calculation of
benefits

Cash and cut
off

Completeness
and accuracy
of pensions
payable

Completeness
and

accuracy of
investment
liabilities

Fair value of hard to
price pension fund
assets

® Significantrisk ® Other area of audit focus @ Other areas considered

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (‘KPMG International”), a

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



/. Hnanclal Statements audit planning

Pension Fund significant audit risks

Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood of a material financial statement error in relation to the Pension Fund.

Valuation of hard to price investments

Risk: The Pension Fund invests in a wide range of assets and investment funds, some of which are inherently harder to value or do not have publicly available quoted
prices, requiring professional judgement or assumptions to be made at year end. The pricing of complex investment assets may be susceptible to pricing variances given
the assumptions underlying the valuation. In the prior year financial statements £21 million out of a total of £777 million investments, or 2.7%, were in this harder to price
category.

Approach: We will independently verify a selection of investment asset prices to third party information and obtain independent confirmation on asset existence. We will test
to what extent the Pension Fund has challenged the valuations reported by investment managers for harder to price investments and obtained independent assessment of
those figures.

a1
(@))
Pension Fund other areas of audit focus

Those risks with less likelihood of giving rise to a material error but which are nevertheless worthy of audit understanding.

Calculation of benefits

Risk: The calculation of benefits can be complex. In 2016/17 a total of £32 million was paid out by the Pension Fund (pensions and lump sums). Given the quantity and
complexity of these calculations there is a risk of misstatement.

Approach: We will complete detailed sample testing over benefits paid and complete a substantive analytical review over the total benefits paid in year.

m © 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (‘KPMG International”), a 9
Swiss entity. All rights reserved

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



/. FHnanclal Statements audit planning

LS

Materiality

We are required to plan our audit to determine with reasonable confidence whether or
not the financial statements are free from material misstatement. An omission or
misstatement is regarded as material if it would reasonably influence the user of
financial statements. This therefore involves an assessment of the qualitative and
guantitative nature of omissions and misstatements. Generally, we would not consider
differences in opinion in respect of areas of judgement to represent ‘misstatements’
unless the application of that judgement results in a financial amount falling outside of
a range which we consider to be acceptable.

For the Authority materiality for planning purposes has been set at £8 million which
equates to 1.3% of 2016/17 Authority expenditure. The threshold above which
individual errors are reported to the GARMS Committee is £400,000.

For the Pension Fund materiality for planning purposes has been set at £10 million
which equates to 1.2% of 2016/17 net assets. The threshold above which individual
errors are reported to the GARMS Committee is £500,000.

Reporting to the GARMS Committee

Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material
to our opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the
GARMS Committee any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the extent
that these are identified by our audit work.

Under ISA 260(UK&I) ‘Communication with those charged with governance’, we are
obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are
‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance.

ISA 260 (UK&I) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly inconsequential,
whether taken individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any quantitative or
qualitative criteria.

In the context of the Authority we propose that an individual difference could normally
be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than £400,000.

In the context of the Pension Fund we propose that an individual difference could
normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than £500,000.

If Management has corrected material misstatements identified during the audit, we
will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the GARMS
Committee to assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

Group audit

As part of its commercialisation projects the Authority has set up a trading company,
under the ‘Concilium’ Group structure (both were incorporated in November 2015),
Whilst we do not expect the scale of operations to be material in 2017/18, we need to
continue to revisit this consideration as the scale of operation increase.

Should the Concilium Group reach a scale where group accounts are considered to
apply we will need to review the impact on our audit and the additional work that
would be needed to be able to give an audit opinion on the group accounts.

10

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



3. Vale Tor money arangements work

For our value for money
conclusion we are
required to work to the
NAO Code of Audit
Practice (issued in 2015
after the enactment of the
Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014).

Our approach to VFM
work follows the NAO'’s
new guidance that was
first introduced in 2015-16,
is risk based and targets
audit effort on the areas of
greatest audit risk.

We have planned our audit
to draw on our past
experience of delivering
this conclusion and have
updated our approach as
necessary. We will also
consider reports from
your regulators and
review agencies.

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires auditors of NHS Bodies to be satisfied that the organisation “has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its Value for Money”. This is supported by the Code of Audit Practice,
published by the NAO in April 2015, which requires auditors to “take into account their knowledge of the relevant local sector as a whole, and
the audited body specifically, to identify any risks that, in the auditor’'s judgement, have the potential to cause the auditor to reach an
inappropriate conclusion on the audited body’s arrangements.”

The VFM process is shown in the diagram below:

Overall criterion: In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and

deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.

Informed decision making Sustainable resource deployment Working with partner and third parties

VFEM audit risk No further work required
assessment
Identification of <
significant Conclude on 2
VEM risks (if arrangements §
any) to secure o
VFM G.
o
S5
Financial
S o Continually re-assess potential VFM risks
other audit work \ /

We have completed our initial VM risk assessment and have identified one significant risk for the VfM conclusion (see overleaf for details).
We will keep this under review during our audit and notify the GARMS Committee of any change.

© 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (‘KPMG International”), a 11
Swiss entity. All rights reserved

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



3. Value for money arrangements Work

6G

Significant VFM Risks

Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood that proper arrangements are not in place to deliver value for money.

Delivery of Medium Term Financial Strategy

Risk: Local Authorities continue to be subject to a challenging financial regime with reduced funding from Central Government whilst having to maintain a statutory and
quality level of services to local residents. In December 2017, the Authority reported an overspend of £6.4 million (after the planned use of £3 million available from capital
receipts under the Government’s capital flexibilities scheme) at the end of Quarter 2 (ie 30 September 2017). This was reduced to £3.9 million after the draw down from
earmarked reserves of £2.5 million. The quarter 2 report noted that this over spend was mitigated in full from additional income allocated to the Council after the budget had
been set; corporate items (unused contingencies etc); and the spending controls freeze. The most significant pressures reported related to Children’s services (£3.9 million),
although the report notes that management actions have improved the position and reduced the over spend by £0.5 million compared with Quarter 1.

The Authority’s balanced budget for 2017/18, includes the delivery of £10 million of approved savings plans. The Quarter 2 report shows that 63% of the schemes (by value)
have been achieved or are on track; 21% will be partially delivered and 16% are not achievable. Any shortfall or delay in delivery of savings (£1.6 million rated as not
achievable and £2.1 million at risk) will increase the already challenging financial pressures on the Authority even further and may mean reducing the already low
(comparatively) level of general reserves and will increase the level of savings needed in future years.

The Authority’s latest MTFS (December 2017) includes a balanced draft budget for 2018/19 with a further £11 million of savings plans included. The MTFS identifies further

planned savings totalling £3.5 million across 2019/20 and 2020/21, leaving a budget gap of £28 million to be addressed. The significant size of the future budget gap reflects
the continuing constraints on resources; service cost and demand pressures; and the one-off nature of some elements used by the Authority to get to a balanced budget for

2018/19.

The delivery of the planned savings (and identification of further additional savings) is critical to ensure the Authority’s financial resilience is maintained. Consequently, the
Authority will need to continue to manage its savings plans to secure longer term financial and operational sustainability..

Approach: We will review overall management arrangements that the Authority has for managing its financial position. This will include the processes to develop a robust
Medium Term Financial Strategy, ongoing monitoring of the annual budget, review of how savings plans have been developed and how their delivery is monitored,
responsiveness to increasing costs of demand led services and changes in funding allocations.

VFM sub-criterion: This risk is related to the following Value For Money sub-criterion:
— Informed decision making;

— Sustainable resource deployment; and

— Working with partners and third parties.

repe 2

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



4 0her matters

Whole of government accounts (WGA)

We are required to review your WGA consolidation and undertake the work specified under the approach that is agreed with HM Treasury and the National Audit Office.
Deadlines for production of the pack and the specified approach for 2017/18 have not yet been confirmed

Elector challenge

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 gives electors certain rights. These are: the right to inspect the accounts; the right to ask the auditor questions about the accounts;
and the right to object to the accounts. As a result of these rights, in particular the right to object to the accounts, we may need to undertake additional work to form our decision
on the elector's objection. The additional work could range from a small piece where we interview an officer and review evidence to form our decision to a more detailed piece
where we have to interview a range of officers, review significant amounts of evidence and seek legal representations on the issues raised. Costs incurred responding to
guestions or objections raised by electors is not part of the fee. This work will be charged in accordance with PSAA's fee scales.

Our audit team

Your audit team has been drawn from our specialist public sector assurance department and is led by two key members of staff:

O) — Andrew Sayers: your Partner has overall responsibility for the quality of the KPMG audit work and is the contact point within KPMG for the GARMS Committee, the Chief
Executive and Finance Director.

— Antony Smith: your Manager is responsible for delivery of all our audit work. He will manage the completion of the different elements of our work, ensuring that they are
coordinated and delivered in an effective manner.

The core audit team will be assisted by other KPMG staff, such as risk, tax, clinical or information specialists as necessary to deliver the plan.
Reporting and communication

Reporting is a key part of the audit process, not only in communicating the audit findings for the year, but in ensuring that the audit team is accountable to you in addressing the
issues identified as part of the audit strategy. Throughout the year we will communicate with you through meetings with the finance team and the GARMS Committee. Our
communication outputs are included in Appendix 1.

Independence and Objectivity

Auditors are required to be independent and objective. Appendix 2 provides more details of our confirmation of independence and objectivity.

repe 1

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



4 0her matters

Audit fee

Our Audit Fee Letter 2017/2018 presented to you in April 2017 first set out our fees for the 2017/2018 audit. This letter also set out our assumptions. We have not considered it
necessary to seek approval for any changes to the agreed fees at this stage.

Should there be a need to charge additional audit fees then this will be agreed with the S151 Officer and PSAA. If such a variation is agreed, we will report that to you in due
course.

The planned audit fee for 2017/18 is £150,724 for the Authority (2016/17: £150,724). The planned audit fee for 2017/18 is £21,000 for the Pension Fund (2016/17: £21,000).

Grants and claims work

We undertake other grants and claims work for the Authority that does not fall under the PSAA arrangements:

* Housing benefits grant claim: This audit is planned for September. Our fee for this work is £27,735; and

o » Pooled housing capital receipts: This audit is planned for October. Our fee for this work is £3,500; and

F . Teachers pension contribution return: This audit is planned for October. Our fee for this work is £3.500.
Public interest reporting

In auditing the accounts as your auditor we must consider whether, in the public interest, we should make a report on any matters coming to our notice in the course of our audit,
in order for it to be considered by Members or bought to the attention of the public; and whether the public interest requires any such matter to be made the subject of an
immediate report rather than at completion of the audit.

At this stage there are no matters that we wish to report.

M 14

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



Appendix 1. Key elements of our financial Statements audit approach

Continuous communication between you and us

Audit strategy and plan ISA 260 (UK&I) Report Annual Audit Letter

May Jun Jul Aug Sep

I I

Initial planning meetings and Year end audit of financial Sign audit

risk assessment Interim audit statements and annual report opinion

c
=
IS
12
c
=
=
=
@)
O

Substantive testing Completion
» Plan substantive procedures u Perform completion
procedures

» Perform substantive procedures
m Perform overall

» Consider if audit evidence is evaluation

sufficient and appropriate

Audit workflow

= Form an audit opinion

= GARMS Committee
reporting

m © 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (‘KPMG International”), a
Swiss entity. All rights reserved

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential

15



€9

Appendix Z: Independence and opiectivity requirements

ASSESSMENT OF OUR OBJECTIVITY AND INDEPENDENCE AS AUDITOR OF THE LONDON BOROUGH OF HARROW

Professional ethical standards require us to provide to you at the planning stage of the audit a written disclosure of relationships (including the provision of non-audit services)
that bear on KPMG LLP’s objectivity and independence, the threats to KPMG LLP’s independence that these create, any safeguards that have been put in place and why they
address such threats, together with any other information necessary to enable KPMG LLP’s objectivity and independence to be assessed.

In considering issues of independence and objectivity we consider relevant professional, regulatory and legal requirements and guidance, including the provisions of the Code of
Audit Practice, the provisions of Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd's (‘PSAA’s’) Terms of Appointment relating to independence and the requirements of the FRC Ethical
Standard and General Guidance Supporting Local Audit (Auditor General Guidance 1 — AGNO1) issued by the National Audit Office (‘NAQ’).

This Appendix is intended to comply with this requirement and facilitate a subsequent discussion with you on audit independence and addresses: General procedures to
safeguard independence and objectivity; Breaches of applicable ethical standards; Independence and objectivity considerations relating to the provision of non-audit services;
and Independence and objectivity considerations relating to other matters.

General procedures to safeguard independence and objectivity

KPMG LLP is committed to being and being seen to be independent. As part of our ethics and independence policies, all KPMG LLP partners, Audit Directors and staff annually
confirm their compliance with our ethics and independence policies and procedures. Our ethics and independence policies and procedures are fully consistent with the
requirements of the FRC Ethical Standard. As a result we have underlying safeguards in place to maintain independence through: Instilling professional values;
Communications; Internal accountability; Risk management; and Independent reviews.

We are satisfied that our general procedures support our independence and objectivity.

Independence and objectivity considerations relating to the provision of non-audit services

We confirm that we have not undertaken any non-audit services during 2017/18.

Independence and objectivity considerations relating to other matters

There are no other matters that, in our professional judgment, bear on our independence which need to be disclosed to the GARMS Committee.
Confirmation of audit independence

We confirm that as of the date of this report, in our professional judgment, KPMG LLP is independent within the meaning of regulatory and professional requirements and the
objectivity of the Partner and audit staff is not impaired.

This report is intended solely for the information of the GARMS Committee of the authority and should not be used for any other purposes.

We would be very happy to discuss the matters identified above (or any other matters relating to our objectivity and independence) should you wish to do so.

repe X

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



Appendix o Qualty framework

Audit quality is at the core of everything we do at KPMG and we believe that it is not just about reaching the right opinion, but how we reach that opinion. To ensure that every
partner and employee concentrates on the fundamental skills and behaviours required to deliver an appropriate and independent opinion, we have developed our global Audit
Quality Framework

- Select clients within risk tolerance
- Manage audit responses to risk

- Robust client and engagement acceptance and
continuance processes

- Client portfolio management

- Comprehensive effective monitoring processes

- Proactive identification of emerging risks and
opportunities to improve quality and provide insights

- Obtain feedback from key stakeholders

- Evaluate and appropriately respond to feedback and
findings
Commitment to Association
continuous with the right
improvement— clients

- Professional judgement and scepticism

- Direction, supervision and review

- Ongoing mentoring and on the job coaching

- Critical assessment of audit evidence

- Appropriately supported and documented conclusions
- Relationships built on mutual respect

- Insightful, open and honest two way communications

- KPMG Audit and Risk Management Manuals
- Audit technology tools, templates and guidance
- Independence policies

Performance of Clear standards

effective and and robust audit
efficient audits tools

Commitment Recruitment,
to technical development and

- Technical training and support

excellence
and quality service
delivery

assignment of
appropriately
qualified personnel

- Recruitment, promotion, retention

- Development of core competencies, skills and
personal qualities

- Recognition and reward for quality work
- Capacity and resource management
- Assignment of team members and specialists

- Accreditation and licensing

- Access to specialist networks

- Consultation processes

- Business understanding and industry knowledge
- Capacity to deliver valued insights

m © 2018 KPMG LLP, a UK limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (‘KPMG International”), a 17
Swiss entity. All rights reserved

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



Wlin|3|o

generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk

Document Classification: KPMG Confidential



https://www.linkedin.com/company/kpmg-advisory
https://www.linkedin.com/company/kpmg-advisory
https://plus.google.com/111087034030305010189
https://plus.google.com/111087034030305010189
https://twitter.com/kpmguk
https://twitter.com/kpmguk
https://www.youtube.com/user/KPMGUK
https://www.youtube.com/user/KPMGUK
mailto:generalenquiries@psaa.co.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Aaenda ltem 12
Pages 67 to 96

Pension Fund Committee

Date of Meeting: 7 March 2018

Subject: Communications Policy Statement

Responsible Officer: Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance

Exempt: No
Wards affected: All
Enclosures: Draft Communications Policy Statement

Section 1 - Summary and Recommendation

Summary

The Committee is requested to consider a draft revised Communications
Policy Statement and, subject to their comments, approve it.

.Recommendation

That, subject to their comments, the Committee approve the revised
Communications Policy Statement.

67 ( 7%/‘/‘04£COUNCIL )

LONDON



Section 2 - Report

1. Under Provision 61 of The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013:

(1) An administering authority must prepare, maintain and publish a written statement
setting out its policy concerning communications with —

(a) members;

(b) representatives of members;
(c) prospective members; and
(d) Scheme employers.

(2) In particular the statement must set out its policy on—

(a) the provision of information and publicity about the Scheme to members,

representatives of members and Scheme employers;
(b) the format, frequency and method of distributing such information or publicity; and
(c) the promotion of the Scheme to prospective members and their employers.

(3) The statement must be revised and published by the administering authority following
a material change in their policy on any of the matters referred to in paragraph (2).

2. In recent years the Fund’'s Statement has been reviewed by officers and only agreed by
the Committee as part of the Annual Report and Financial Statements. It is, therefore
appropriate for the Committee to be asked at this time to review the attached revised

draft.

3. Subject to their comments, the Committee are asked to approve the revised
Communications Policy Statement.

Financial Implications

4. There are no financial implications arising from this report.

Risk Management Implications

5. Any relevant risks arising from non-compliance with the Scheme Regulations are
included in the Pension Fund risk register.

Equalities implications
6. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

Council Priorities

7. Whilst the financial health of the Pension Fund directly affects the level of employer
contribution which, in turn, affects the resources available for the Council’s priorities
there are no impacts arising directly from this report.

68



Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

Name: Dawn Calvert Chief Financial Officer

Date: 22 February 2017

on behalf of the
Name: Linda Cohen Monitoring Officer

Date: 14 February 2017

Ward Councillors notified: Not applicable

Section 4 - Contact Details

Contact: lain Millar, Treasury and Pensions Manager 0208 424 1432

Background Papers - None

69




This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Communications
Policy Statement

London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund

March 2018

71



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT

CONTENTS
INTRODUCTION 3
REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 5
RESPONSIBILITIES AND RESOURCES 6
COMMUNICATION WITH KEY AUDIENCE GROUPS 7
HOW WE COMMUNICATE 8

POLICY ON COMMUNICATION WITH ACTIVE, DEFERRED AND PENSIONER
MEMBERS 9

POLICY ON COMMUNICATION WITH PROSPECTIVE MEMBERS AND THEIR

EMPLOYING BODIES 12
POLICY ON COMMUNICATION WITH EMPLOYING BODIES 13
POLICY ON COMMUNICATION WITH UNION REPRESENTATIVES 15
POLICY ON COMMUNICATION WITH ELECTED MEMBERS 16
POLICY ON COMMUNICATION WITH PENSION BOARD 18
POLICY ON COMMUNICATION WITH PENSIONS TEAM 19
POLICY ON COMMUNICATION WITH TAX PAYERS AND RESIDENTS 20

POLICY ON COMMUNICATION WITH OTHER STAKEHOLDERS / INTERESTED

PARTIES 21
PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 23
REVIEW PROCESS 25

i)

LOMDOMN

72



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Introduction

This is the Communications Policy Statement of the London Borough of Harrow
Pension Fund, administered by Harrow Council, the Administering Authority.

The Fund liaises with a number of employers, namely:-

e Alexandra School

e Avanti House Free School

e Aylward Primary School

e Bentley Wood School

e Canons High School

e Chartwells

e Engie

e Govindas

e Harrow High School

e Hatch End School

e Heathland and Whitefriars School
e Jubilee School

e Krishna Avanti Primary School
e North London Collegiate School
e Nower Hill High School

e Park High School

e Pinner High School

¢ Rooks Heath College

e Salvatorian College

e St Bernadette’s Catholic School
e St. Dominic’s College

e St Jerome School

e Sopria Steria

e Stanmore College

e Taylorshaw

e The Jubilee Academy

o Wates

i)

LOMDOMN

73



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
And, at 31 March 2017 the Fund had 17,699 scheme members (5,561 active
members, 6,700 deferred members and 5,438 pensioner members). The delivery of
the benefits payable under the Local Government Pension Scheme involves
communication with a number of interested parties. This Statement provides an
overview of how we communicate and how we measure whether our
communications are successful.

It is effective from 1 April 2018.
Any enquiries in relation to this Statement should be sent to:
Lesley Freebody

Team Leader
Pensions Team

Harrow Council

3" Floor, South Wing
Civic Centre

Station Road

Harrow

HALl 2XF

telephone: 0208 416 8087

email: Lesley.freebody@harrow.gov.uk

i)

LOMDOMN

74



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Regulatory Framework

This Statement is required by the provisions of Regulation 61 of the Local
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013. The provisions require the Council
as the Administering Authority to:

“....prepare, maintain and publish a written statement setting out its policy
concerning communications with:

(@) members.

(b) representatives of members.

(c) prospective members and

(d) Scheme employers.”

In addition it specifies that the statement must include information relating to:

“(a) the provision of information and publicity about the Scheme to members,
representatives of members and Scheme employers;

(b)  the format, frequency and method of distributing such information or publicity;
and

(c) the promotion of the Scheme to prospective members and their employers.”

As a provider of an occupational pension scheme, the Council is already obliged to
satisfy the requirements of the Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes
Disclosure of Information Regulations 2013 and other relevant legislation, for
example the Pensions Act 2014. The Regulations are supported by the Pension
Regulator’'s Code of Practice 14 Governance and Administration of Public Service
Pension Schemes April 2015. While the Code itself is not a statement of the law, and
no penalties can be levied for failure to comply with it, the Courts or a tribunal must
take account of it when determining if any legal requirements have not been met. A
summary of our expected timescales for meeting the various disclosure of
information requirements are set out in the Performance Measurement section of this
document.

i)

LOMDOMN

75



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Responsibilities and Resources

Communications material is provided through the Pensions Team and validated
through the Communications Unit. The Team write all internally produced
communications including information published on the internet/intranet. The Team
is also responsible for arranging all forums and meetings covered within this
Statement. The Team report through the Council’'s management structure with
ultimate responsibility for ensuring compliance with the Regulations resting with the
Corporate Director — Resources and Commercial.

Printing documentation is carried out internally.

i)

LOMDOMN

76



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Communication with key audience groups

Our audience

The Pensions Team communicates with a number of stakeholders on an on-going
basis. For the purpose of this Statement, the Team engages with the following
audience groups:

o active members;

o deferred members;

o pensioner members;

o prospective members;

o scheme employers;

o union representatives;

o Elected Members;

o Pension Board;

o Pensions Team staff;

o local taxpayers and residents;
o other stakeholders / interested parties

In addition there are a number of other stakeholders with whom the Council
communicates on a regular basis including Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs
(HMRC), Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG), Department
of Works and Pensions (DWP), Pensions Advisory Service, solicitors, actuaries and
other pension providers. The Council has also considered, as part of this policy, how
it communicates/engages with these interested parties.

i)

LOMDOMN

77



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
How we communicate

General communication

The Council has put in place a number of initiatives that will assist in moving towards
the Government’s e-gov agenda. However, pensions information, for the most part,
is still delivered through paper based communications. The Council has developed
alternative communications media (e.g. documents in Braille and large print, audio
tapes, etc) to ensure that it caters for the needs of special groups. Additionally the
Team utilises the Council’s internet/intranet facilities and is developing both email
and internet self-service facilities that will enable a gradual move away from paper
communications and reduce communication costs.

Within the Pensions Team staff are responsible for all administration of the Local
Government Pension Scheme. Any member of staff within the Team can deal with
general telephone calls, written correspondence or visitors. Communications on
more complicated pensions issues are managed amongst the senior management.

Telephone calls are either routed through a dedicated direct dial number or,
alternatively, through main Harrow contact centre and then onwards to one of the
Pension Team’s extensions.

Branding

As the Pension Fund is administered by Harrow Council, all literature and
communications conform to the Council’s branding policy.

Accessibility

The Council serves a culturally rich and diverse client base and is conscious of the
fact that access to information requires varied forms of communication. Any material
required in an alternative format or language is managed in line with a specific
request. All publications include details of how a request for alternative
communication format can be requested.

i)

LOMDOMN

/8



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Policy on Communication with Active, Deferred and Pensioner

Members

Our objectives with regard to communication with members as groups are:

o to facilitate the LGPS to be used as a tool in the recruitment and retention of
employees, thereby assisting both the Council and associated bodies in
becoming employers of choice.

o to educate and explain to members the benefits of the LGPS.

o to provide the diverse client base with increased opportunity to engage on
pension related matters through the most appropriate medium.

o as a result of improved communication, for enquires and complaints to be
resolved at the earliest opportunity and to the client’s satisfaction.

o in line with the Government’s agenda in relation to individuals making
adequate financial arrangements for retirement, increase take up of LGPS
membership.

o to ensure that all relevant stakeholders have sufficient material to hand to

inform pension-related judgements.

In addition, as required, appropriate communications with individual members
covering their own particular circumstances are arranged.

Our objectives are met by providing the following communications:

Method of Media Frequency of Method of Audience
communication issue distribution group
(active,
deferred or
pensioner
members or
all members)
Scheme Guide Paper based At joining and at Post to home Active
and through the time of major | address, via members
Harrow’s scheme changes | scheme
internet employers and
online
Newsletters Paper based Annually and ad Post to home Separately for
and through hoc to ensure address and active,
Harrow’s timely notification | online deferred and
internet of major scheme pensioner
changes members
Pension Fund Paper based and | Annually Hard copy on All members
Annual Report and | through Harrow’s request and
Financial internet online
Statements
9

i)

LOMDOMN

79




COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT

Pension Fund Paper based and | Annually Post to home All members

Financial through Harrow’s address and

Statements internet online

Summary

Annual Benefit Paper based Annually Post to home Active and

Statements address deferred

members

Fact sheets Paper based and | Topic specific Post to home Active and
through Harrow’s | information sheets address and deferred
internet online members

Website — Harrow Electronic Continually Loaded for key All members

Intranet available communications

One to one Personal On request As requested All members

education sessions | interview

Explanation of communications

Scheme Guide - A booklet providing a relatively detailed overview of the LGPS,
including who can join, how much it costs, the retirement and death benefits and how
to increase the value of benefits.

Newsletters — Mainly an annual newsletter which provides updates in relation to
changes to the LGPS as well as other related news, such as European / UK pension
matters, payroll pay dates/deadlines, a summary of the accounts for the year,
contact detalls, etc.

Pension Fund Annual Report and Financial Statements — Details of the value of
the Pension Fund at the end of the financial year, income and expenditure during the
year as well as other related details, (e.g. current employer bodies and scheme
membership numbers. This is a somewhat detailed and lengthy document and,
therefore, it will not be routinely distributed except on request. A summary
document, as detailed below, will be distributed.

Pension Fund Financial Statements Summary — A handy summary of the position
of the Pension Fund at the end of the financial year, income and expenditure during
the year as well as other related details.

Annual Benefit Statements — For active members these include the current value
of benefits to 31 March as well as the projected benefits at Normal Pension Age.
The associated death benefits are also shown as well as details of any individuals
the member has nominated to receive the lump sum death grant. For deferred
members, the benefit statement includes the current value of the deferred benefits
and the earliest payment date of the benefits as well as the associated death
benefits.

Fact sheets — These are leaflets that provide some detail in relation to specific
topics, such as topping up pension rights, death benefits and pension rights on
divorce etc.

10

i)

LOMDOMN

80




COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT

Harrow Internet — The Harrow Pension Fund website provides scheme specific
information, forms that can be printed or downloaded, access to documents (e.g.
newsletters and Annual Report), frequently asked questions and answers, links to
related sites and contact information.

One to one education sessions — These sessions offer the individual a confidential
interview with a member of the team.

11

i)

LOMDOMN

81



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT

Policy on Communication with Prospective Members and their
Employing Bodies

Our objectives with regard to communication with prospective members are:

to facilitate the LGPS to be used as a tool in the recruitment and retention of
employees, thereby assisting both the Council and associated bodies in
becoming employers of choice.

to educate and explain to members the benefits of the LGPS.

to provide the diverse prospective client base with increased opportunity to
engage on pension related matters through the most appropriate medium.

in line with the Government’'s agenda in relation to individuals making
adequate financial arrangements for retirement, increase take up of LGPS
membership.

to ensure that prospective members have sufficient material to hand to inform
pension-related judgements.

The Pensions Team do not have immediate access to prospective members but the
benefits of a defined benefits scheme are referenced in job vacancy advertisements.
Promotional material and educational visits are provided for employing bodies.

Our objectives are met by providing the following communications:

Method of Media Frequency of | Method of Audience

Communication Issue Distribution Group

Overview of the LGPS - | Paper based, | On Starter pack New

Guide and Internet commencing employees
employment

Explanation of communications

Overview of the LGPS — Guide - A brief guide that summarises the costs of joining
the LGPS and the benefits of doing so. All this information is available on Harrow’s

Pension Fund website.

i)

LOMDOMN

12

82




COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT

Policy on Communication with Employing Bodies

Our objectives with regard to communication with employers are:

to establish sound working arrangements to assist with a free flow of relevant
information.

given the costs associated with funding a defined benefits scheme, to provide
the employing bodies with sufficient information to assist them in their
planning for future employer contribution rates.

to provide an infrastructure that will assist in maintaining an accurate
database.

to provide literature and processes around starters, changes during
employment, leavers and retirees thereby ensuring smooth data transfers in
relation to all staffing issues.

to ensure that each employing body understands the benefits of being an
LGPS employer.

o to assist the employing body in the development of its discretionary policies.

Our objectives are met by providing the following communications:

Method of Media Frequency of Method of Audience Group
Communication issue Distribution
Employers Guide Paper based and | At joining and Post , emall Main contact for
electronic file updated as and data all employers
format necessary storage
medium
Employers Meeting with key | Triennially Meeting Employing body
meeting employing body management
personnel
Pension Fund Paper based and | Annually Internet Employing body
Annual Report and | through Harrow’s
Financial internet
Statements
FRS102 report Electronic file Annually Data storage | Employing body.
format. medium.
Service Level Paper based and | Start of admission | Hard copy Admitted body
Agreement electronic file agreement and post and data
format. revised at storage
Contract renewal | medium

i)

LOMDOMN

13

83




COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT

Explanation of communications

Employers Guide - A detailed publication that provides guidance on the employer’s
duties and responsibilities. It assists an employer in ensuring that it meets its
statutory obligations within the prescribed timescales (e.g. publication of policy on
discretions).

Employers Meeting — A formal seminar style event where the Pensions Team
provide an update on the triennial actuarial valuation.

Pension Fund Annual Report and Financial Statements — Details of the value of
the Pension Fund at the end of the financial year, income and expenditure during the
year as well as other related details, (e.g. current employer bodies and scheme
membership numbers. This is a somewhat detailed and lengthy document and,
therefore, it will not be routinely distributed except on request. A summary
document, as detailed below, will be distributed.

IAS19 Report — This is a national accounting standard that all authorities
administering pension funds must follow IAS19 requires an organisation to account
for retirement benefits when it is committed to provide them, even if the actual
provision will be well in the future.

Service Level Agreement — A document that sets out, alongside the admission
agreement, the duties and responsibilities of the Council and the employing body for
the duration of the service contract.

14

i)

LOMDOMN

84



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Policy on communication with Union Representatives

Our objectives with regard to communication with union representatives are:

o to foster close working relationships in communicating the benefits of the
Scheme to union members

o to ensure the unions are aware of the Pension Fund’s policy in relation to any
decisions that need to be taken concerning the Scheme

o to engage in discussions over the future of the Scheme and to ensure that
Union representatives have sufficient knowledge and opportunity to respond
on all DCLG and HMRC consultations

o to harness union communications in a joint venture to explain the benefits of
the LGPS to prospective and current members

o to liaise with unions and provide assistance in supporting union officers in
their learning and understanding of the LGPS

Our objectives are met by providing the following communications:

Method of Media Frequency of Method of Audience
communication Issue Distribution Group
Consultation on | Paper based As and when Email or hard Union
strategy and electronic | required copy observers on
statements Pension Fund
committee
Education Paper based On request Various Union
sessions and electronic representatives
Pension Fund Reports and In line with Notification Named union
Committee meetings published through observers
meetings Committee Committee
meeting cycle Services

Explanation of communications

Consultation papers— documents dealing with key issues and developments
relating to the LGPS and the Fund.

Education sessions — sessions that are available on request for union
representatives, [e.g. to improve their understanding of the basic principles of the
scheme or to explain possible changes to policies]

Pension Fund Committee meetings — formal meetings of Elected Members,
attended by Council senior officers, investment managers, invited pensions
specialists and union members.

i)

LOMDOMN

15

85




COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Policy on communication with Elected Members

Our objectives with regard to communication with Elected Members are:

o to ensure that Elected Members receive sufficient reports, briefings and
training to allow them to carry out their statutory duties and responsibilities in
line with LGPS legislation.

o to seek Elected Member approval to the development or amendment of
discretionary policies,

o to seek Elected Members approval to formal responses to government
consultation in relation to the scheme

Our objectives are met by providing the following communications:

Method of Media Frequency of Method of Audience
Communication Issue Distribution Group
Training Pension Following member | LGPS specific | All Elected
sessions seminars elections or in a seminars Members but
timely manner specifically the
briefings to ensure Pension Fund
Elected Members Committee.
are aware all
relevant aspects of
the Scheme
Briefing papers Paper based As and when Email or hard All Elected
and electronic | required copy Members but

specifically the
Pension Fund

Committee
Pension Fund Meeting In line with the Email or hard All members of
Committee published copy the Pension
Meetings Committee cycle. Fund

Committee
Report and Meeting As and when Report and All Elected

verbal briefing required verbal briefing Members but
specifically the
Pension Fund
Committee
16

i)

LOMDOMN

86




COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT

Explanation of communications

Training Sessions — providing a broad overview of the main provisions of the
LGPS, and Elected Member’s key duties and responsibilities.

Briefing papers — briefings highlight key issues and developments in the LGPS.
Pension Fund Committee Meetings — reports submitted to the Committee.

Report and Verbal Briefing — occasions when Members require briefing on
forthcoming pension changes that could impact on Corporate Priorities or have
significant budget implications.

17

i)

LOMDOMN

87



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Policy on communication with Pension Board

Our objective with regard to communication with the Pension Board is:

o to ensure that the Board members receive sufficient reports, briefings and
training to allow them to carry out their statutory duties and responsibilities in
line with LGPS legislation.

Our objective is met by providing the following communications:

Method of Media Frequency of Method of Audience
Communication Issue Distribution Group
Training Pension Following the LGPS specific | All Board
sessions seminars appointment / seminars Members.

election of

members of the

Board or in a

timely manner to

ensure they are

aware all relevant

aspects of the

Scheme
Briefing papers Paper based As and when Email or hard All Board

and electronic | required copy members

Pension Board | Meeting In line with the Email or hard All Board
Meetings published copy members

Committee cycle.

Explanation of communications

Training Sessions — providing a broad overview of the main provisions of the
LGPS, and the Board'’s key duties and responsibilities.

Briefing papers — a briefing that highlights key issues and developments to the
LGPS.

Pension Board Meetings — reports submitted to the Board.

18

i)

LOMDOMN

88



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Policy on communication with Pensions Team

Our objectives with regard to communication with Pensions Team staff are:

o to ensure they are aware of changes and proposed changes to the LGPS
scheme.

o to provide new and established staff with access to both internal and external
training

o through a combination of utilising task management and re-engineering

service processes to monitor and develop potential for service improvements;

readjusting performance measures and targets, where appropriate

Our objectives are met by providing the following communications:

Method of Media Frequency of | Method of Audience
Communication Issue Distribution Group
Identify Appraisal Annual Appraisal All Pensions
training/development | documentation | exercise, process Team staff
needs as part of reviewed at 6
Appraisal months.

Informal bi-

monthly

meetings
Staff meetings Informal As and when By All Pensions

briefings required arrangement Team staff

Attendance at Externally As and when By email, paper | All Pensions
external courses provided required based Team staff

Explanation of communications

Appraisal — Formal staff review process where future training/development needs
are identified in relation to the Team'’s strategic priorities.

Staff meetings - Informal training sessions which provide new and established staff
with timely update on changes to pensions legislation or processes

Attendance at external courses — to provide more tailored training where it is cost-
effective to use external trainers

19

i)

LOMDOMN

89



COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Policy on communication with tax payers and residents

Our objective with regard to communication with tax payers is:

o to provide key information in a timely manner, ensuring full compliance with
the requirements of the Data Protection and Freedom of Information Acts.

Our objectives will be met by providing the following communications:

Method of Media Frequency of Method of Audience
Communication Issue Distribution Group
Reports/written Various Reports Various All Harrow tax
response/electronic published payers and
postings annually and residents

when otherwise

required in

relation to

general

enquiries

Explanation of communications

Reports/written response/electronic postings — Annual reports are published
either through established communications (e.g. newsletters) or posted on the
Council’s Pension Fund internet site. Other ad hoc requests are responded to in light
of the specific information requested utilising the most appropriate communications
medium.

20

i)

LOMDOMN

90




parties

COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Policy on communication with other stakeholders / interested

Our objectives with regard to communication with other stakeholder/interested

parties are:

o to meet our statutory obligations in relation to notifications and consultations

to deal with the resolution of pension disputes

to ensure the proper administration of the Scheme

o to administer the Fund’s Additional Voluntary Contribution schemes

Our objectives will be met by providing the following communications:

Method of
Communication

Media

Frequency of
Issue

Method of
Distribution

Audience
Group

Pension Fund
Valuation reports

e Rates and
Adjustment
Certificate

e Revised Rates
and
Adjustment
Certificate

e Cessation
valuations

Electronic

Every three
years

Email

DCLG, HMRC
and all Scheme
employers

New admission

Hard

AS new

Post/electronic

New “admitted”

agreements copy/electronic | employers are submission bodies
format entered into the
Fund
Resolution of Hard copy or As and whena | Email or post Scheme
pension disputes | electronic format | dispute requires member or
resolution his/her
representatives,
the Pensions
Advisory
Service/ the
Pensions
Ombudsman
Completion of Hard copy or As and when Email or post As required
guestionnaires electronic format | required
21

i)

LOMDOMN

91




COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Explanation of communications

Pension Fund Valuation Reports — a statutory report issued every three years by
the Scheme appointed actuary, setting out the estimated assets and liabilities of the
Fund as a whole, as well as setting out individual employer contribution rates for a
three year period commencing one year from the valuation date

Resolution of pension disputes — a formal notification of pension dispute
resolution, together with any additional correspondence relating to the dispute

22

i)

LOMDOMN

92



Performance Measurement

COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT

The Pensions Team already has performance measures set in place and in order to
measure the success of our communications with active, deferred and pensioner
members, we will use the following methods:

Timeliness

We will measure against the following target delivery timescales:

Communication

Audience

Statutory delivery
period

Target delivery
period

Scheme booklet

New joiners to the
LGPS

Within two months of
joining

Within 3 working
days of joining

Annual Benefit
Statements as at 31
March

Active members

31 August

July each year

Telephone calls

All

Not applicable

All calls to be
answered within 3
rings

Issue of retirement
benefits

Active and deferred
members retiring

Within two months of
retirement

Within 5 working
days of retirement

Issue of deferred
benefits

Leavers

Within two months of
withdrawal

Within 10 working
days of relevant
paperwork being
received

Transfers in

Joiners/active
members

Within two months of
request

Within 10 working
days of relevant
paperwork being
received

Issue of forms i.e.
expression of wish

Active members

N/A

Within 3 days of
joining the LGPS

Changes to scheme
rules

Active/deferred and
pensioner members,
as required

Within two months of
the change coming
into effect

Within one month of
change coming into
effect

Annual Pension
Fund Report and
Financial
Statements

All

Within two months of
request

Within five working
days

i)

LOMDOMN

23

93




COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT

Quality
Audience Method To consider Notes
Active and deferred | Paper based All services Client can benchmark

members survey with against published
annual benefit service targets.
statements

All member types Assessment Performance against | One task chosen each

against system

task management

guarter from:

report pre-defined
performance e retirements
measures.
e new starts and
transfers in
e transfers out
o deferred leavers
Employers Electronic Scheduled / Admitted | feedback
body specific issues
Results

The Pension Board receives reports on performance at each of its meetings.

i)

LOMDOMN

24

94




COMMUNICATIONS POLICY STATEMENT
Review Process

Our Communications Policy Statement will be reviewed on an annual basis, to
ensure it meets audience needs and regulatory requirements. A current version of
the Statement will always be available either from the Pensions Team at

Harrow Council

3" Floor, South Wing
Civic Centre

Station Road

Harrow

HAl 2XF

or on our internet site under www.harrowpensionfund.org

25

i)

LOMDOMN

95


http://www.harrowpensionfund.org/

This page is intentionally left blank



Aaenda Item 13
Pages 97 to 142

Pension Fund Committee

Date of Meeting: 7 March 2018

Subject: Funding Strategy Statement

Responsible Officer: Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance

Exempt: No
Wards affected: All
Enclosures: Funding Strategy Statement

Section 1 - Summary and Recommendation

Summary

The Committee is requested to consider a draft Funding Strategy Statement
and, subject to their comments, approve it.

.Recommendation

That, subject to their comments, the Committee approve the draft Funding
Strategy Statement.

97 ( 7%/‘/‘04£COUNCIL )

LONDON



Section 2

1. Under Regulation 58 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013:

An administering authority must, after consultation with such persons as it considers
appropriate, prepare, maintain and publish a written statement setting out its funding
strategy.

2. The Funding Strategy Statement is required to set out how the Administering Authority
(the Council) carries out its responsibilities in respect of:

e Affordability of employer contributions
e Transparency of processes

e Stability of employers’ contributions

e Prudence in the funding basis

3. An extensive Statement has been prepared by the Council’s Actuary, Hymans Robertson
LLP which has been considered by officers and circulated for consultation to members of
the Pension Fund Committee and its advisers, members of the Pension Board, all
employers and the trade unions. Comments and further advice have been taken into
account in the preparation of the attached Statement which was approved by Pension
Fund Committee in March 2017.

4. The Committee are asked to review the Funding Strategy Statement and subject to their
comments, approve it.

Financial Implications

5.  Whilst the implementation of the Funding Strategy Statement has major financial
implications for the Pension Fund there are none arising from this report.

Risk Management Implications

6. Any relevant risks are included in the Pension Fund risk register.
Equalities implications

7. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

Council Priorities
8. Whilst the financial health of the Pension Fund directly affects the level of employer

contribution which, in turn, affects the resources available for the Council’s priorities there
are no impacts arising directly from this report.

98


http://www.lgpsregs.org/index.php/regs-legislation/timeline-regulations-2014?showall=&start=17#s1adau

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

Name: Dawn Calvert X Chief Financial Officer

Date: 22 February 2018

on behalf of the

Name: Linda Cohen Monitoring Officer

Date 14 February 2018

Ward Councillors notified: Not applicable

Section 4 - Contact Details

Contact: lain Millar, Treasury and Pensions Manager 0208 424 1432

Background Papers - None

99




This page is intentionally left blank



Funding Strategy
Statement

London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund

March 2018

101



CONTENTS

Funding Strategy Statement PAGE
1 Introduction 1
2  Basic Funding issues 4
3 Calculating contributions for individual Employers 8
4  Funding strategy and links to investment strategy 20
5  Statutory reporting and comparison to other LGPS Funds 22
Appendices
Appendix A — Regulatory framework 24
Appendix B — Responsibilities of key parties 26
Appendix C — Key risks and controls 28
Appendix D — The calculation of Employer contributions 32
Appendix E — Actuarial assumptions 35
Appendix F — Glossary 38

102



1 Introduction

1.1 Whatis this document?
This is the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) of the London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund (“the Fund”),
which is administered by Harrow Council, (“the Administering Authority”).

It has been prepared by the Administering Authority in collaboration with the Fund’s actuary, Hymans Robertson
LLP, and after consultation with the Fund’s employers and investment adviser. It is effective from 7 March
2017.

1.2 What is the London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund?

The Fund is part of the national Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). The LGPS was set up by the UK
Government to provide retirement and death benefits for local government employees, and those employed in
similar or related bodies, across the whole of the UK. The Administering Authority runs the London Borough of
Harrow Fund to make sure it:

e receives the proper amount of contributions from employees and employers, and any transfer payments;

e invests the contributions appropriately, with the aim that the Fund’s assets grow over time with investment
income and capital growth; and

e uses the assets to pay Fund benefits to the members (as and when they retire, for the rest of their lives),
and to their dependants (as and when members die), as defined in the LGPS Regulations. Assets are also
used to pay transfer values and administration costs.

The roles and responsibilities of the key parties involved in the management of the Fund are summarised in
Appendix B.

1.3 Why does the Fund need a Funding Strategy Statement?

Employees’ benefits are guaranteed by the LGPS Regulations, and do not change with market values or
employer contributions. Investment returns will help pay for some of the benefits, but probably not all, and
certainly with no guarantee. Employees’ contributions are fixed in those Regulations also, at a level which
covers only part of the cost of the benefits.

Therefore, employers need to pay the balance of the cost of delivering the benefits to members and their
dependants.

The FSS focuses on how employer liabilities are measured, the pace at which these liabilities are funded, and
how employers or pools of employers pay for their own liabilities. This Statement sets out how the Administering
Authority has balanced the conflicting aims of:

affordability of employer contributions,

transparency of processes,

stability of employers’ contributions, and
e prudence in the funding basis.

There are also regulatory requirements for an FSS, as given in Appendix A.

The FSS is a summary of the Fund’s approach to funding its liabilities, and this includes reference to the Fund’s
other policies; it is not an exhaustive statement of policy on all issues. The FSS forms part of a framework
which includes:

103



° the LGPS Regulations;

° the Rates and Adjustments Certificate (confirming employer contribution rates for the next three years)
which can be found in an appendix to the formal valuation report;

° actuarial factors for valuing individual transfers, early retirement costs and the costs of buying added
service; and
o the Fund’s Statement of Investment Principles / Investment Strategy Statement (see Section 4)

1.4 How does the Fund and this FSS affect me?
This depends on who you are:

e a member of the Fund, i.e. a current or former employee, or a dependant: the Fund needs to be sure it is
collecting and holding enough money so that your benefits are always paid in full;

e an employer in the Fund (or which is considering joining the Fund): you will want to know how your
contributions are calculated from time to time, that these are fair by comparison to other employers in the
Fund, and in what circumstances you might need to pay more. Note that the FSS applies to all employers
participating in the Fund;

e an Elected Member whose council participates in the Fund: you will want to be sure that the Council
balances the need to hold prudent reserves for members’ retirement and death benefits, with the other
competing demands for Council money;

e a Council Tax payer: your Council seeks to strike the balance above, and also to minimise cross-subsidies
between different generations of taxpayers.

1.5 What does the FSS aim to do?
The FSS sets out the objectives of the Fund’s funding strategy, such as:

e to ensure the long-term solvency of the Fund, using a prudent long term view. This will ensure that
sufficient funds are available to meet all members’/dependants’ benefits as they fall due for payment;

e to ensure that employer contribution rates are reasonably stable where appropriate;

e to minimise the long-term cash contributions which employers need to pay to the Fund, by recognising the
link between assets and liabilities and adopting an investment strategy which balances risk and return (NB
this will also minimise the costs to be borne by Council Tax payers);

o to reflect the different characteristics of different employers in determining contribution rates. This involves
the Fund having a clear and transparent funding strategy to demonstrate how each employer can best meet
its own liabilities over future years; and

e to use reasonable measures to reduce the risk to other employers and ultimately to the Council Tax payer
from an employer defaulting on its pension obligations.

104



1.6 How do | find my way around this document?
In Section 2 there is a brief introduction to some of the main principles behind funding, i.e. deciding how much
an employer should contribute to the Fund from time to time.

In Section 3 we outline how the Fund calculates the contributions payable by different employers in different
situations.

In Section 4 we show how the funding strategy is linked with the Fund’s investment strategy.
In the Appendices we cover various issues in more detail:

A. the regulatory background, including how and when the FSS is reviewed,
who is responsible for what,
what issues the Fund needs to monitor, and how it manages its risks,

some more details about the actuarial calculations required,

m o o @

the assumptions which the Fund actuary currently makes about the future,
F. a glossary explaining the technical terms occasionally used here.

If you have any other queries please contact lan Talbot, Treasury and Pension Fund Manager in the first
instance at e-mail address ian.talbot@harrow.gov.uk or on telephone number 0208 424 1450.

105



2 Basic Funding issues
(More detailed and extensive descriptions are given in Appendix D).

2.1 How does the actuary measure the required contribution rate?
In essence this is a three-step process:

1. Calculate the ultimate funding target for that employer, i.e. the ideal amount of assets it should hold in
order to be able to pay all its members’ benefits. See Appendix E for more details of what assumptions
are made to determine that funding target;

2. Determine the time horizon over which the employer should aim to achieve that funding target. See the
table in 3.3 and Note (c) for more details;

3. Calculate the employer contribution rate such that it has at least a given probability of achieving that
funding target over that time horizon, allowing for different likelihoods of various possible economic
outcomes over that time horizon. See 2.3 below, and the table in 3.3 Note (e) for more details.

2.2 What is each employer’s contribution rate?
This is described in more detail in Appendix D. Employer contributions are normally made up of two elements:

a) the estimated cost of benefits being built up each year, after deducting the members’ own contributions
and including administration expenses. This is referred to as the “Primary rate”, and is expressed as a
percentage of members’ pensionable pay; plus

b) an adjustment for the difference between the Primary rate above, and the actual contribution the
employer needs to pay, referred to as the “Secondary rate”. In broad terms, payment of the Secondary
rate will aim to return the employer to full funding over an appropriate period (the “time horizon”). The
Secondary rate may be expressed as a percentage of pay and/or a monetary amount in each year.

The rates for all employers are shown in the Fund’s Rates and Adjustments Certificate, which forms part of the
formal Actuarial Valuation Report. Employers’ contributions are expressed as minima, with employers able to

pay contributions at a higher rate. Account of any higher rate will be taken by the Fund actuary at subsequent
valuations, i.e. will be reflected as a credit when next calculating the employer’s contributions.

2.3 What different types of employer participate in the Fund?

Historically the LGPS was intended for local authority employees only. However over the years, with the
diversification and changes to delivery of local services, many more types and numbers of employers now
participate. There are currently more employers in the Fund than ever before, a significant number of whom are
new academies.

In essence, participation in the LGPS is open to public sector employers providing some form of service to the
local community. Whilst the majority of members will be local authority employees (and ex-employees), the
majority of participating employers are those providing services in place of (or alongside) local authority
services: academy schools, contractors, housing associations, charities, etc.

The LGPS Regulations define various types of employer as follows:

Scheduled bodies - councils, and other specified employers such as academies and further education
establishments. These must provide access to the LGPS in respect of their employees who are not eligible to
join another public sector scheme (such as the Teachers Scheme). These employers are so-called because
they are specified in a schedule to the LGPS Regulations.

106



It is now possible for Local Education Authority schools to convert to academy status, and for other forms of
school (such as Free Schools) to be established under the academies legislation. All such academies (or Multi
Academy Trusts), as employers of non-teaching staff, become separate new employers in the Fund. As
academies are defined in the LGPS Regulations as “Scheduled Bodies”, the Administering Authority has no
discretion over whether to admit them to the Fund, and the academy has no discretion whether to continue to
allow its non-teaching staff to join the Fund. There has also been guidance issued by the DCLG regarding the
terms of academies’ membership in LGPS Funds.

Designating employers - employers such as town and parish councils are able to participate in the LGPS via
resolution (and the Fund cannot refuse them entry where the resolution is passed). These employers can
designate which of their employees are eligible to join the scheme.

Other employers are able to participate in the Fund via an admission agreement, and are referred to as
‘admission bodies’. These employers are generally those with a “community of interest” with another scheme
employer — community admission bodies (“CAB”) or those providing a service on behalf of a scheme
employer — transferee admission bodies (“TAB”). CABs will include housing associations and charities, TABs
will generally be contractors. The Fund is able to set its criteria for participation by these employers and can
refuse entry if the requirements as set out in the Fund’s admissions policy are not met. (NB The terminology
CAB and TAB has been dropped from recent LGPS Regulations, which instead combine both under the single
term ‘admission bodies’; however, we have retained the old terminology here as we consider it to be helpful in
setting funding strategies for these different employers).

2.4 How does the measured contribution rate vary for different employers?
All three steps above are considered when setting contributions (more details are given in Section 3 and

Appendix D).

1. The funding target is based on a set of assumptions about the future, (e.g. investment returns, inflation,
pensioners’ life expectancies). However, if an employer is approaching the end of its participation in the
Fund then its funding target may be set on a more prudent basis, so that its liabilities are less likely to be
spread among other employers after its cessation;

2. The time horizon required is, in broad terms, the period over which any deficit is to be recovered. A
shorter period will lead to higher contributions, and vice versa (all other things being equal). Employers
may be given a lower time horizon if they have a less permanent anticipated membership, or do not have
tax-raising powers to increase contributions if investment returns under-perform; and

3. The probability of achieving the funding target over that time horizon will be dependent on the Fund’s
view of the strength of employer covenant and its funding profile. Where an employer is considered to be
weaker, or potentially ceasing its membership of the Fund, then the required probability will be set higher,
which in turn will increase the required contributions (and vice versa).

For some employers it may be agreed to pool contributions, see 3.4.
Any costs of non ill-health early retirements must be paid by the employer, see 3.6.

Costs of ill-health early retirements are covered in 3.7 and 3.8.

107



2.5 How is adeficit (or surplus) calculated?
An employer’s “funding level” is defined as the ratio of:

o the market value of the employer’s share of assets (see Appendix D, section D5, for further details of how
this is calculated), to

e the value placed by the actuary on the benefits built up to date for the employees and ex-employees (the
“liabilities”). The Fund actuary agrees with the Administering Authority the assumptions to be used in
calculating this value.

If this is less than 100% then it means the employer has a shortfall, which is the employer’s deficit; if it is more
than 100% then the employer is said to be in surplus. The amount of deficit or shortfall is the difference
between the asset value and the liabilities value.

It is important to note that the deficit/surplus and funding level are only measurements at a particular point in
time, on a particular set of assumptions about the future. Whilst we recognise that various parties will take an
interest in these measures, for most employers the key issue is how likely it is that their contributions will be
sufficient to pay for their members’ benefits (when added to their existing asset share and anticipated
investment returns).

In short, deficits and funding levels are short term measures, whereas contribution-setting is a longer term
issue.

2.6 How does the Fund recognise that contribution levels can affect Council and employer service
provision, and Council Tax?

The Administering Authority and the Fund actuary are acutely aware that, all other things being equal, a higher

contribution required to be paid to the Fund will mean less cash available for the employer to spend on the

provision of services. For instance:

o Higher Pension Fund contributions may result in reduced Council spending, which in turn could affect the
resources available for services, and/or greater pressure on Council Tax levels;

° Contributions which academies pay to the Fund will therefore not be available to pay for providing
education; and

o Other employers will provide various services to the local community, perhaps through housing
associations, charitable work, or contracting Council services. If they are required to pay more in pension
contributions to the LGPS then this may affect their ability to provide the local services at a reasonable
cost.

Whilst all this is true, it should also be borne in mind that:

° The Fund provides invaluable financial security to local families, whether to those who formerly worked in
the service of the local community who have now retired, or to their families after their death;

o The Fund must have the assets available to meet these retirement and death benefits, which in turn
means that the various employers must each pay their own way. Lower contributions today will mean
higher contributions in the future: deferring payments does not alter the employer’s ultimate obligation to
the Fund in respect of its current and former employees;

o Each employer will generally only pay for its own employees and ex-employees (and their dependants),
not for those of other employers in the Fund;

108



° The Fund strives to maintain reasonably stable employer contribution rates where appropriate and
possible. However, a recent shift in regulatory focus means that solvency within each generation is
considered by the Government to be a higher priority than stability of contribution rates;

° The Fund wishes to avoid the situation where an employer falls so far behind in managing its funding
shortfall that its deficit becomes unmanageable in practice; such a situation may lead to employer

insolvency and the resulting deficit falling on the other Fund employers. In that situation, those employers’

services would in turn suffer as a result;

° Council contributions to the Fund should be at a suitable level, to protect the interests of different

generations of Council Tax payers. For instance, underpayment of contributions for some years will need

to be balanced by overpayment in other years; the Council will wish to minimise the extent to which
Council Tax payers in one period are in effect benefitting at the expense of those paying in a different
period.

Overall, therefore, there is clearly a balance to be struck between the Fund’s need for maintaining prudent
funding levels, and the employers’ need to allocate their resources appropriately. The Fund achieves this

through various techniques which affect contribution increases to various degrees (see 3.1). In deciding which

of these techniques to apply to any given employer, the Administering Authority takes a view on the financial
standing of the employer, i.e. its ability to meet its funding commitments and the relevant time horizon.

The Administering Authority will consider a risk assessment of that employer using a knowledge base which is
regularly monitored and kept up-to-date. This database will include such information as the type of employer, its
membership profile and funding position, any guarantors or security provision, material changes anticipated, etc.

For instance, where the Administering Authority has reasonable confidence that an employer will be able to
meet its funding commitments, then the Fund will permit options such as stabilisation (see 3.3 Note (b)), a

longer time horizon relative to other employers, and/or a lower probability of achieving their funding target. Such
options will temporarily produce lower contribution levels than would otherwise have applied. This is permitted

in the expectation that the employer will still be able to meet its obligations for many years to come.

On the other hand, where there is doubt that an employer will be able to meet its funding commitments or

withstand a significant change in its commitments, then a higher funding target, and/or a shorter deficit recovery

period relative to other employers, and/or a higher probability of achieving the target may be required.

The Fund actively seeks employer input, including to its funding arrangements, through various means: see
Appendix A.

109



3 Calculating contributions for individual Employers

3.1 General comments

A key challenge for the Administering Authority is to balance the need for stable, affordable employer
contributions with the requirement to take a prudent, longer-term view of funding and ensure the solvency of the
Fund. With this in mind, the Fund’s three-step process identifies the key issues:

1. What is a suitably (but not overly) prudent funding target?

2. How long should the employer be permitted to reach that target? This should be realistic but not so long
that the funding target is in danger of never actually being achieved.

3. What probability is required to reach that funding target? This will always be less than 100% as we cannot
be certain of future market movements. Higher probability “bars” can be used for employers where the
Fund wishes to reduce the risk that the employer ceases leaving a deficit to be picked up by other
employers.

These and associated issues are covered in this Section.

The Administering Authority recognises that there may occasionally be particular circumstances affecting
individual employers that are not easily managed within the rules and policies set out in the Funding Strategy
Statement. Therefore the Administering Authority may, at its sole discretion, direct the actuary to adopt
alternative funding approaches on a case by case basis for specific employers.

3.2 The effect of paying lower contributions

In limited circumstances the Administering Authority may permit employers to pay contributions at a lower level
than is assessed for the employer using the three step process above. At their absolute discretion the
Administering Authority may:

e extend the time horizon for targeting full funding;

e adjust the required probability of meeting the funding target;

e permit an employer to participate in the Fund’s stabilisation mechanisms;
e permit extended phasing in of contribution rises or reductions;

e pool contributions amongst employers with similar characteristics; and/or

e accept some form of security or guarantee in lieu of a higher contribution rate than would otherwise be the
case.

Employers which are permitted to use one or more of the above methods will often be paying, for a time,
contributions less than required to meet their funding target, over the appropriate time horizon with the required
likelihood of success. Such employers should appreciate that:

e their true long term liability (i.e. the actual eventual cost of benefits payable to their employees and ex-
employees) is not affected by the pace of paying contributions;

e lower contributions in the short term will be assumed to incur a greater loss of investment returns on the
deficit. Thus, deferring a certain amount of contribution may lead to higher contributions in the long-term;
and

e it may take longer to reach their funding target, all other things being equal.

110



Overleaf (3.3) is a summary of how the main funding policies differ for different types of employer, followed by
more detailed notes where necessary.

Section 3.4 onwards deals with various other funding issues which apply to all employers.

111



AN

3.3 The different approaches used for different employers

Type of Scheduled Bodies Community Admission Bodies and Transferee Admission
employer Designating Employers Bodies
Sub-type Council Pool Academies Colleges Open to new Closed to new (alh)

entrants

entrants

Funding Target

Ongoing, assumes long-term Fund participation

Ongoing, but may move to “gilts basis” - see

Ongoing, assumes fixed

Basis used (see Appendix E) Note (a) contract term in the
Fund (see Appendix E)

Primary rate (see Appendix D — D.2)

approach

Stabilised Yes - see No No No

contribution Note (b)

rate?

Maximum time 20 years 20 years — subject to security / 15 years — subject to security / covenant check Outstanding contract

horizon — Note

(9]

covenant check

term

Secondary rate

Monetary amount

— Note (d)
Treatment of Covered by stabilisation Preferred approach: contributions Preferred approach: contributions kept at Reduce contributions by
surplus arrangement kept at Primary rate. However, Primary rate. However, reductions may be spreading the surplus
reductions may be permitted by the permitted by the Administering Authority over the remaining
Administering Authority contract term — where
deemed appropriate by
the Administering
Authority
Probability of 65% 67% 67% 67% 67% 75%
achieving target
— Note (e)
Phasing of Covered by stabilisation None
contribution arrangement
changes

Review of rates

— Note (f)

Administering Authority reserves the right to review contribution rates and amounts, and the level of security provided, at
regular intervals between valuations

Particularly reviewed in
last 3 years of contract

New employer

n/a ‘

Note (q)

n/a

Note (h)

Notes (h) & (i)




elT

Cessation of
participation:
cessation debt
payable

Cessation is assumed not to be generally possible, as Scheduled
Bodies are legally obliged to participate in the LGPS. In the rare event
of cessation occurring (machinery of Government changes for
example), the cessation debt principles applied would be as per Note

Can be ceased subject to terms of admission
agreement. Cessation debt will be calculated on
a basis appropriate to the circumstances of
cessation — see Note (J).

Participation is assumed
to expire at the end of
the contract. Cessation
debt (if any) calculated
on ongoing basis.
Awarding Authority will
be liable for future
deficits and
contributions arising.




Note (a) (Basis for Community Admission Bodies and Designating Employers closed to new entrants)
In the circumstances where:

e the employer is a Designating Employer, or an Admission Body but not a Transferee Admission Body, and
e the employer has no guarantor, and

e the admission agreement is likely to terminate, or the employer is likely to lose its last active member, within
a timeframe considered appropriate by the Administering Authority to prompt a change in funding,

the Administering Authority may set a higher funding target (e.g. using a discount rate set equal to gilt yields) by
the time the agreement terminates or the last active member leaves, in order to protect other employers in the
Fund. This policy will increase regular contributions and reduce, but not entirely eliminate, the possibility of a
final deficit payment being required from the employer when a cessation valuation is carried out.

The Administering Authority also reserves the right to adopt the above approach in respect of those Designating
Employers and Admission Bodies with no guarantor, where the strength of covenant is considered to be weak
but there is no immediate expectation that the admission agreement will cease or the Designating Employer
alters its designation.

Note (b) (Stabilisation)

Stabilisation is a mechanism where employer contribution rate variations from year to year are kept within a pre-
determined range, thus allowing those employers’ rates to be relatively stable. In the interests of stability and
affordability of employer contributions, the Administering Authority, on the advice of the Fund Actuary, believes
that stabilising contributions can still be viewed as a prudent longer-term approach. However, employers whose
contribution rates have been “stabilised” (and may therefore be paying less than their theoretical contribution
rate) should be aware of the risks of this approach and should consider making additional payments to the Fund
if possible.

This stabilisation mechanism allows short term investment market volatility to be managed so as not to cause
volatility in employer contribution rates, on the basis that a long term view can be taken on net cash inflow,
investment returns and strength of employer covenant.

The current stabilisation mechanism applies if:

o the employer satisfies the eligibility criteria set by the Administering Authority (see below) and;

e there are no material events which cause the employer to become ineligible, e.g. significant reductions in
active membership (due to outsourcing or redundancies), or changes in the nature of the employer (perhaps
due to Government restructuring), or changes in the security of the employer.

On the basis of extensive modelling carried out for the 2016 valuation exercise (see Section 4), the stabilised
details are as follows:

Type of employer

Council Pool

Academies

Max cont increase

1% for three years
1.5% thereafter

1% for three years
1.5% thereafter

Max cont
decrease

0.6%

0.6%

114




The stabilisation criteria and limits will be reviewed at the 31 March 2019 valuation, to take effect from 1 April
2020. However the Administering Authority reserves the right to review the stabilisation criteria and limits at any
time before then, on the basis of membership and/or employer changes as described above.

At the 2016 valuation, existing academies were given the option to pay a stabilised rate of contribution or
continue paying their individually calculated contribution rate. Those opting to stabilise contributions were
certified an initial contribution rate for 2016/17 equal to the contribution rate payable by the London Borough of
Harrow in that year.

In future, new Academies will be given the option to either pay their individual calculated rate at the conversion
date or be stabilised. For those electing to stabilise, the initial contribution rate payable will be the contribution
in payment by the London Borough of Harrow at the Academy’s commencement date. The decision to stabilise
would be one-off in nature — that is, Academies would make the decision only on conversion, and would not be
able to choose the lower of two different rates at each triennial valuation.

Note (c) (Maximum time horizon)

The maximum time horizon starts at the valuation date (31 March 2016 for the 2016 valuation). The
Administering Authority would normally expect the same period to be used at successive triennial valuations,
but would reserve the right to propose alternative time horizons, for example where there were no new entrants.

Note (d) (Secondary rate)

The Secondary contribution rate for each employer covering the three year period until the next valuation will be
set as a monetary amount.

Note (e) (Probability of achieving funding target)

Each employer has its funding target calculated, and a relevant time horizon over which to reach that target.
Contributions are set such that, combined with the employer’s current asset share and anticipated market
movements over the time horizon, the funding target is achieved with a given minimum probability. A higher
required probability bar will give rise to higher required contributions, and vice versa.

The way in which contributions are set using these three steps, and relevant economic projections, is described
in further detail in Appendix D.

Different probabilities are set for different employers depending on their nature and circumstances: in broad
terms, a higher probability will apply due to one or more of the following:

e the Fund believes the employer poses a greater funding risk than other employers,

e the employer does not have tax-raising powers;

o the employer does not have a guarantor or other sufficient security backing its funding position; and/or
e the employer is likely to cease patrticipation in the Fund in the short or medium term.

Note (f) (Regular Reviews)

Such reviews may be triggered by significant events including but not limited to: significant reductions in payroll,
altered employer circumstances, Government restructuring affecting the employer’s business, or failure to pay
contributions or arrange appropriate security as required by the Administering Authority.

115



The result of a review may be to require increased contributions (by strengthening the actuarial assumptions
adopted and/or moving to monetary levels of deficit recovery contributions), and/or an increased level of security
or guarantee.

Note (g) (New Academy conversions)
The Fund’s policies on academies’ funding issues are as follows:

i. The new academy will be regarded as a separate employer in its own right and will not be pooled with
other employers in the Fund. The only exception is where the academy is part of a Multi Academy Trust
(MAT) in which case the academy’s figures will be calculated as below but can be combined with those of
the other academies in the MAT,;

ii. The new academy’s past service liabilities on conversion will be calculated based on its active Fund
members on the day before conversion. For the avoidance of doubt, these liabilities will include all past
service of those members, but will exclude the liabilities relating to any ex-employees of the school who
have deferred or pensioner status;

iii. The new academy will be allocated an initial asset share from the Council’s assets in the Fund. This
asset share will be calculated using the estimated funding position of the Council at the date of academy
conversion. The share will be based on the active members’ funding level, having first allocated assets in
the Council’s share to fully fund deferred and pensioner members. The asset allocation will be based on
market conditions and the academy’s active Fund membership on the day prior to conversion;

iv. The new academy’s initial contribution rate will be calculated using market conditions, the Council funding
position and, membership data, all as at the day prior to conversion.

As an alternative to (iv), the academy will have the option at conversion to pay a stabilised rate of
contribution as described in note (b). However, this election will not alter its asset or liability allocation as
per (ii) and (iii) above. Ultimately, all academies remain responsible for their own allocated deficit.

The Fund’s policies on academies are subject to change in the light of any amendments to DCLG guidance.
Any changes will be notified to academies, and will be reflected in a subsequent version of this FSS.

Note (h) (New Admission Bodies)

With effect from 1 October 2012, the LGPS 2012 Miscellaneous Regulations introduced mandatory new
requirements for all Admission Bodies brought into the Fund from that date. Under these Regulations, all new
Admission Bodies will be required to provide some form of security, such as a guarantee from the letting
employer, an indemnity or a bond. The security is required to cover some or all of the following:

e the strain cost of any redundancy early retirements resulting from the premature termination of the contract;
e allowance for the risk of asset underperformance;

e allowance for the risk of a fall in gilt yields;

e allowance for the possible non-payment of employer and member contributions to the Fund; and/or

e the current deficit.

116



Transferee Admission Bodies: For all TABs, the security must be to the satisfaction of the Administering
Authority as well as the letting employer, and will be reassessed on an annual basis. See also Note (i) below.

Community Admission Bodies: The Administering Authority will only consider requests from CABs (or other
similar bodies, such as section 75 NHS partnerships) to join the Fund if they are sponsored by a Scheduled
Body with tax raising powers, guaranteeing their liabilities and also providing a form of security as above.

The above approaches reduce the risk, to other employers in the Fund, of potentially having to pick up any
shortfall in respect of Admission Bodies ceasing with an unpaid deficit.

Note (i) (New Transferee Admission Bodies)

A new TAB usually joins the Fund as a result of the letting/outsourcing of some services from an existing
employer (normally a Scheduled Body such as a council or academy) to another organisation (a “contractor”).
This involves the TUPE transfer of some staff from the letting employer to the contractor. Consequently, for the
duration of the contract, the contractor is a new participating employer in the Fund so that the transferring
employees maintain their eligibility for LGPS membership. At the end of the contract the employees revert to
the letting employer or to a replacement contractor.

Ordinarily, the TAB would be set up in the Fund as a new employer with responsibility for all the accrued
benefits of the transferring employees; in this case, the contractor would usually be assigned an initial asset
allocation equal to the past service liability value of the employees’ Fund benefits. The quid pro quo is that the
contractor is then expected to ensure that its share of the Fund is also fully funded at the end of the contract:

see Note ()).

Employers which “outsource” have flexibility in the way that they can deal with the pension risk potentially taken
on by the contractor. In particular there are three different routes that such employers may wish to adopt.
Clearly as the risk ultimately resides with the employer letting the contract, it is for them to agree the appropriate
route with the contractor:

i) Pooling

Under this option the contractor is pooled with the letting employer. In this case, the contractor pays the
same rate as the letting employer, which may be under a stabilisation approach.

i) Letting employer retains pre-contract risks

Under this option the letting employer would retain responsibility for assets and liabilities in respect of
service accrued prior to the contract commencement date. The contractor would be responsible for the
future liabilities that accrue in respect of transferred staff. The contractor’s contribution rate could vary
from one valuation to the next. It would be liable for any deficit at the end of the contract term in respect
of assets and liabilities attributable to service accrued during the contract term.

iii) Fixed contribution rate agreed

Under this option the contractor pays a fixed contribution rate and does not pay any cessation deficit.

The Administering Authority is willing to administer any of the above options as long as the approach is
documented in the Admission Agreement as well as the transfer agreement. The Admission Agreement should
ensure that some element of risk transfers to the contractor where it relates to their decisions and it is unfair to
burden the letting employer with that risk. For example the contractor should typically be responsible for
pension costs that arise from:

117



e above average pay increases, including the effect in respect of service prior to contract commencement
even if the letting employer takes on responsibility for the latter under (ii) above; and

e redundancy and early retirement decisions.

Note (j) (Admission Bodies Ceasing)

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Admission Agreement, the Administering Authority may consider any of
the following as triggers for the cessation of an admission agreement with any type of body:

e Last active member ceasing participation in the Fund (NB recent LGPS Regulation changes mean that the
Administering Authority has the discretion to defer taking action for up to three years, so that if the employer
acquires one or more active Fund members during that period then cessation is not triggered. The current
Fund policy is that this is left as a discretion and may or may not be applied in any given case);

e The insolvency, winding up or liquidation of the Admission Body;

e Any breach by the Admission Body of any of its obligations under the Agreement that they have failed to
remedy to the satisfaction of the Fund;

o A failure by the Admission Body to pay any sums due to the Fund within the period required by the Fund; or

e The failure by the Admission Body to renew or adjust the level of the bond or indemnity, or to confirm an
appropriate alternative guarantor, as required by the Fund.

On cessation, the Administering Authority will instruct the Fund actuary to carry out a cessation valuation to
determine whether there is any deficit or surplus. Where there is a deficit, payment of this amount in full would
normally be sought from the Admission Body; where there is a surplus it should be noted that current legislation
does not permit a refund payment to the Admission Body.

For non-Transferee Admission Bodies whose participation is voluntarily ended either by themselves or the
Fund, or where a cessation event has been triggered, the Administering Authority must look to protect the
interests of other ongoing employers. The actuary will therefore adopt an approach which, to the extent
reasonably practicable, protects the other employers from the likelihood of any material loss emerging in future:

(@) Where a guarantor does not exist then, in order to protect other employers in the Fund, the cessation
liabilities and final deficit will normally be calculated using a “gilts cessation basis”, which is more
prudent than the ongoing basis. This has no allowance for potential future investment outperformance
above qilt yields, and has added allowance for future improvements in life expectancy. This could give
rise to significant cessation debts being required.

(b)  Where there is a guarantor for future deficits and contributions, the details of the guarantee will be
considered prior to the cessation valuation being carried out. In some cases the guarantor is simply
guarantor of last resort and therefore the cessation valuation will be carried out consistently with the
approach taken had there been no guarantor in place. Alternatively, where the guarantor is not simply
guarantor of last resort, the cessation may be calculated using the ongoing basis as described in

Appendix E;

(c)  Again, depending on the nature of the guarantee, it may be possible to simply transfer the former
Admission Body’s liabilities and assets to the guarantor, without needing to crystallise any deficit. This
approach may be adopted where the employer cannot pay the contributions due, and this is within the
terms of the guarantee.

118



Under (a) and (c), any shortfall would usually be levied on the departing Admission Body as a single lump sum
payment. If this is not possible then the Fund would spread the payment subject to there being some security in
place for the employer such as a bond indemnity or guarantee.

In the event that the Fund is not able to recover the required payment in full, then the unpaid amounts fall to be
shared amongst all of the other employers in the Fund. This may require an immediate revision to the Rates
and Adjustments Certificate affecting other employers in the Fund, or instead be reflected in the contribution
rates set at the next formal valuation following the cessation date.

As an alternative, where the ceasing Admission Body is continuing in business, the Fund at its absolute
discretion reserves the right to enter into an agreement with the ceasing Admission Body. Under this
agreement the Fund would accept an appropriate alternative security to be held against any deficit, and would
carry out the cessation valuation on an ongoing basis: deficit recovery payments would be derived from this
cessation debt. This approach would be monitored as part of each triennial valuation: the Fund reserves the
right to revert to a “gilts cessation basis” and seek immediate payment of any funding shortfall identified. The
Administering Authority may need to seek legal advice in such cases, as the Body would have no contributing
members.

3.4 Pooled contributions
From time to time, with the advice of the Actuary, the Administering Authority may set up pools for employers
with similar or complementary characteristics.

Community Admission Bodies that are deemed by the Administering Authority to have closed to new entrants
are not usually permitted to participate in a pool.

Smaller Transferee Admission Bodies may be pooled with the letting employer, provided all parties (particularly
the letting employer) agree.

Employers who are permitted to enter (or remain in) a pool at the 2016 valuation will not normally be advised of
their individual contribution rate unless agreed by the Administering Authority.

Schools generally are also pooled with the Council. However there may be exceptions for specialist or
independent schools.

Those employers which have been pooled are identified in the Rates and Adjustments Certificate.

3.5 Additional flexibility in return for added security
The Administering Authority may permit greater flexibility to the employer’s contributions if the employer
provides added security to the satisfaction of the Administering Authority.

Such flexibility includes a reduced rate of contribution, an extended time horizon, or permission to join a pool
with another body (e.g. the Local Authority).

Such security may include, but is not limited to, a suitable bond, a legally-binding guarantee from an appropriate
third party, or security over an employer asset of sufficient value.

The degree of flexibility given may take into account factors such as:

e the extent of the employer’s deficit or surplus;
e the amount and quality of the security offered;

e the employer’s financial security and business plan; and

119



e whether the admission agreement is likely to be open or closed to new entrants.

3.6 Nonill health early retirement costs

It is assumed that members’ benefits are payable from the earliest age that the employee could retire without
incurring a reduction to their benefit (and without requiring their employer’s consent to retire). (NB the relevant
age may be different for different periods of service, following the benefit changes from April 2008 and April
2014). Employers are required to pay additional contributions (‘strain’) wherever an employee retires before
attaining this age. The actuary’s funding basis makes no allowance for premature retirement except on grounds
of ill-health.

3.7 lll health early retirement costs
In the event of a member’s early retirement on the grounds of ill-health, a funding strain will usually arise, which
can be very large. Such strains are currently met by each employer, although individual employers may elect to
take external insurance (see 3.8 below).

Admitted Bodies will usually have an ‘ill health allowance’; Scheduled Bodies may have this also, depending on
their agreement terms with the Administering Authority. The Fund may monitor each employer’s ill health
experience on an ongoing basis. If the cumulative cost of ill health retirement in any financial year exceeds the
allowance at the previous valuation, the employer may be charged additional contributions on the same basis as
apply for non ill-health cases. Details will be included in each separate Admission Agreement.

3.8 External lll health insurance

If an employer provides satisfactory evidence to the Administering Authority of a current external insurance
policy covering ill health early retirement strains, then:

- the employer’s contribution to the Fund each year is reduced by the amount of that year’s insurance
premium, so that the total contribution is unchanged, and

- there is no need for monitoring of allowances.

The employer must keep the Administering Authority notified of any changes in the insurance policy’s coverage
or premium terms, or if the policy is ceased.

3.9 Employers with no remaining active members

In general an employer ceasing in the Fund, due to the departure of the last active member, will pay a cessation
debt on an appropriate basis (see 3.3, Note (j)) and consequently have no further obligation to the Fund.
Thereafter it is expected that one of two situations will eventually arise:

a) The employer’s asset share runs out before all its ex-employees’ benefits have been paid. In this situation
the other Fund employers will be required to contribute to pay all remaining benefits: this will be done by
the Fund actuary apportioning the remaining liabilities on a pro-rata basis at successive formal valuations;

b) The last ex-employee or dependant dies before the employer’s asset share has been fully utilised. In this
situation the remaining assets would be apportioned pro-rata by the Fund’s actuary to the other Fund.

C) In exceptional circumstances the Fund may permit an employer with no remaining active members to
continue contributing to the Fund. This would require the provision of a suitable security or guarantee, as
well as a written ongoing commitment to fund the remainder of the employer’s obligations over an
appropriate period. The Fund would reserve the right to invoke the cessation requirements in the future,
however. The Administering Authority may need to seek legal advice in such cases, as the employer
would have no contributing members.

120



3.10 Policies on bulk transfers
Each case will be treated on its own merits, but in general:

e The Fund will not pay bulk transfers greater than the lesser of (a) the asset share of the transferring
employer in the Fund, and (b) the value of the past service liabilities of the transferring members;

e The Fund will not grant added benefits to members bringing in entitlements from another fund unless the
asset transfer is sufficient to meet the added liabilities; and

e The Fund may permit shortfalls to arise on bulk transfers if the Fund employer has suitable strength of
covenant and commits to meeting that shortfall in an appropriate period. This may require the employer’s
Fund contributions to increase between valuations.

121



4 Funding strategy and links to investment strategy

4.1 What is the Fund’s investment strategy?
The Fund has built up assets over the years, and continues to receive contribution and other income. All of this
must be invested in a suitable manner, which is the investment strategy.

Investment strategy is set by the administering authority, after consultation with the employers and after taking
investment advice. The precise mix, manager make up and target returns are set out in the Statement of
Investment Principles (being replaced by an Investment Strategy Statement under new LGPS Regulations),
which is available to members and employers.

The investment strategy is set for the long-term, but is reviewed from time to time. Normally a full review is
carried out as part of each actuarial valuation, and is kept under review annually between actuarial valuations to
ensure that it remains appropriate to the Fund’s liability profile.

The same investment strategy is currently followed for all employers.

4.2 What is the link between funding strategy and investment strategy?

The Fund must be able to meet all benefit payments as and when they fall due. These payments will be met by
contributions (resulting from the funding strategy) or asset returns and income (resulting from the investment
strategy). To the extent that investment returns or income fall short, then higher cash contributions are required
from employers, and vice versa

Therefore, the funding and investment strategies are inextricably linked.

4.3 How does the funding strategy reflect the Fund’s investment strategy?

In the opinion of the Fund actuary, the current funding policy is consistent with the current investment strategy of
the Fund. The asset outperformance assumption contained in the discount rate (see Appendix E3) is within a
range that would be considered acceptable for funding purposes; it is also considered to be consistent with the
requirement to take a “prudent longer-term view” of the funding of liabilities as required by the UK Government
(see Appendix Al).

However, in the short term — such as the three yearly assessments at formal valuations — there is the scope for
considerable volatility and there is a material chance that in the short-term and even medium term, asset returns
will fall short of this target. The stability measures described in Section 3 will damp down, but not remove, the
effect on employers’ contributions.

The Fund does not hold a contingency reserve to protect it against the volatility of equity investments.

4.4 How does this differ for a large stable employer?
The Actuary has developed four key measures which capture the essence of the Fund’s strategies, both funding
and investment:

Prudence - the Fund should have a reasonable expectation of being fully funded in the long term;
Affordability — how much can employers afford;

Stewardship — the assumptions used should be sustainable in the long term, without having to resort to overly
optimistic assumptions about the future to maintain an apparently healthy funding position; and

Stability — employers should not see significant moves in their contribution rates from one year to the next, to
help provide a more stable budgeting environment.

The key problem is that the key objectives often conflict. For example, minimising the long term cost of the
scheme (i.e. keeping employer rates affordable) is best achieved by investing in higher returning assets e.g.

122



equities. However, equities are also very volatile (i.e. go up and down fairly frequently in fairly large moves),
which conflicts with the objective to have stable contribution rates.

Therefore, a balance needs to be maintained between risk and reward, which has been considered by the use
of Asset Liability Modelling: this is a set of calculation techniques applied by the Fund’s actuary to model the
range of potential future solvency levels and contribution rates.

The Actuary was able to model the impact of these four key areas, for the purpose of setting a stabilisation
approach (see 3.3 Note (b)). The modelling demonstrated that retaining the present investment strategy,
coupled with constraining employer contribution rate changes as described in 3.3 Note (b), struck an
appropriate balance between the above objectives. In particular the stabilisation approach currently adopted
meets the need for stability of contributions without jeopardising the Administering Authority’s aims of prudent
stewardship of the Fund.

Whilst the current stabilisation mechanism is to remain in place until 2020, it should be noted that this will need
to be reviewed following the 2019 valuation.

4.5 Does the Fund monitor its overall funding position?
The Administering Authority monitors the relative funding position, i.e. changes in the relationship between
asset values and the liabilities value, quarterly. It reports this to the Pension Fund Committee meetings.

123



5 Statutory reporting and comparison to other LGPS Funds

5.1 Purpose

Under Section 13(4)(c) of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 (“Section 13”), the Government Actuary’s
Department must, following each triennial actuarial valuation, report to the Department of Communities & Local
Government (DCLG) on each of the LGPS Funds in England & Wales. This report will cover whether, for each
Fund, the rate of employer contributions are set at an appropriate level to ensure both the solvency and the long
term cost efficiency of the Fund.

This additional DCLG oversight may have an impact on the strategy for setting contribution rates at future
valuations.

5.2 Solvency
For the purposes of Section 13, the rate of employer contributions shall be deemed to have been set at an
appropriate level to ensure solvency if:

(@) the rate of employer contributions is set to target a funding level for the Fund of 100%, over an
appropriate time period and using appropriate actuarial assumptions (where appropriateness is
considered in both absolute and relative terms in comparison with other funds); and either

(b)  employers collectively have the financial capacity to increase employer contributions, and/or the Fund is
able to realise contingent assets should future circumstances require, in order to continue to target a
funding level of 100%; or

(c) thereis an appropriate plan in place should there be, or if there is expected in future to be, a material
reduction in the capacity of fund employers to increase contributions as might be needed.

5.3 Long Term Cost Efficiency
The rate of employer contributions shall be deemed to have been set at an appropriate level to ensure long term
cost efficiency if:

i. the rate of employer contributions is sufficient to make provision for the cost of current benefit accrual,
ii. with an appropriate adjustment to that rate for any surplus or deficit in the Fund.

In assessing whether the above condition is met, DCLG may have regard to various absolute and relative
considerations. A relative consideration is primarily concerned with comparing LGPS pension funds with other
LGPS pension funds. An absolute consideration is primarily concerned with comparing Funds with a given
objective benchmark.

Relative considerations include:

1. the implied deficit recovery period; and

2. the investment return required to achieve full funding after 20 years.

124



Absolute considerations include:

1. the extent to which the contributions payable are sufficient to cover the cost of current benefit accrual and
the interest cost on any deficit;

2. how the required investment return under “relative considerations” above compares to the estimated
future return being targeted by the Fund’s current investment strategy;

3. the extent to which contributions actually paid have been in line with the expected contributions based on
the extant rates and adjustment certificate; and

4, the extent to which any new deficit recovery plan can be directly reconciled with, and can be
demonstrated to be a continuation of, any previous deficit recovery plan, after allowing for actual Fund
experience.

DCLG may assess and compare these metrics on a suitable standardised market-related basis, for example
where the local funds’ actuarial bases do not make comparisons straightforward.

125



Appendix A — Regulatory framework

Al Why does the Fund need an FSS?
The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has stated that the purpose of the FSS is:

‘to establish a clear and transparent fund-specific strategy which will identify how employers’ pension
liabilities are best met going forward;

to support the regulatory framework to maintain as nearly constant employer contribution rates as possible;
and

to take a prudent longer-term view of funding those liabilities.”

These objectives are desirable individually, but may be mutually conflicting.

The requirement to maintain and publish a FSS is contained in LGPS Regulations which are updated from time
to time. In publishing the FSS the Administering Authority has to have regard to any guidance published by
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) (most recently in 2016) and to its Statement of
Investment Principles / Investment Strategy Statement.

This is the framework within which the Fund’s actuary carries out triennial valuations to set employers’
contributions and provides recommendations to the Administering Authority when other funding decisions are
required, such as when employers join or leave the Fund. The FSS applies to all employers participating in the
Fund.

A2 Does the Administering Authority consult anyone on the FSS?

Yes. This is required by LGPS Regulations. It is covered in more detail by the most recent CIPFA guidance,
which states that the FSS must first be subject to “consultation with such persons as the authority considers
appropriate”, and should include “a meaningful dialogue at officer and elected member level with council tax
raising authorities and with corresponding representatives of other participating employers”.

In practice, for the Fund, the consultation process for this FSS was as follows:
a) A draft version of the FSS was issued to all participating employers in December 2016 for comment;
b) Comments were requested by 20 January 2017.;

C) There was an Employers Forum on 2 February 2017 at which questions regarding the FSS could be
raised and answered;

d) Following the end of the consultation period the FSS was updated where required and then published, in
March 2017.

A3 How is the FSS published?
The FSS is made available through the following routes:

Published on the Council website

A copy sent by [post/e-mail] to each participating employer in the Fund,

A copy sent to [employee/pensioner] representatives;

A full copy [included in/linked from] the annual report and accounts of the Fund;
Copies sent to investment managers and independent advisers;

Copies made available on request.

126



A4 How often is the FSS reviewed?

The FSS is reviewed in detail at least every three years as part of the triennial valuation. This version is
expected to remain unaltered until it is consulted upon as part of the formal process for the next valuation in
2019.

It is possible that (usually slight) amendments may be needed within the three year period. These would be
needed to reflect any regulatory changes, or alterations to the way the Fund operates (e.g. to accommodate a
new class of employer). Any such amendments would be consulted upon as appropriate:

e trivial amendments would be simply notified at the next round of employer communications,
e amendments affecting only one class of employer would be consulted with those employers,
e other more significant amendments would be subject to full consultation.

In any event, changes to the FSS would need agreement by the Committee and would be included in the
relevant Committee Meeting minutes.

A5 How does the FSS fit into other Fund documents?

The FSS is a summary of the Fund’s approach to funding liabilities. It is not an exhaustive statement of policy
on all issues, for example there are a number of separate statements published by the Fund including the
Statement of Investment Principles/Investment Strategy Statement, Governance Compliance Statement and
Communications Policy Statement. In addition, the Fund publishes an Annual Report and Accounts with up to
date information on the Fund.

These documents can be found on the Council website

127



Appendix B — Responsibilities of key parties

The efficient and effective operation of the Fund needs various parties to each play their part.

Bl
1.

2.

o > w

10.

11.
12.

13.

B2

B3

The Administering Authority should:-
operate the Fund as per the LGPS Regulations;

effectively manage any potential conflicts of interest arising from its dual role as Administering Authority
and a Fund employer;

collect employer and employee contributions, and investment income and other amounts due to the Fund;
ensure that cash is available to meet benefit payments as and when they fall due;
pay from the Fund the relevant benefits and entittements that are due;

invest surplus monies (i.e. contributions and other income which are not immediately needed to pay
benefits) in accordance with the Fund’s Statement of Investment Principles/Investment Strategy
Statement (SIP/ISS) and LGPS Regulations;

communicate appropriately with employers so that they fully understand their obligations to the Fund;
take appropriate measures to safeguard the Fund against the consequences of employer default;
manage the valuation process in consultation with the Fund’s actuary;

provide data and information as required by the Government Actuary’s Department to carry out their
statutory obligations (see Section 5);

prepare and maintain a FSS and a SIP/ISS, after consultation;

notify the Fund’s actuary of material changes which could affect funding (this is covered in a separate
agreement with the actuary); and

monitor all aspects of the fund’s performance and funding and amend the FSS and SIP/ISS as necessary
and appropriate.

The Individual Employer should:-
deduct contributions from employees’ pay correctly;

pay all contributions, including their own as determined by the actuary, promptly by the due date;
have a policy and exercise discretions within the regulatory framework;

make additional contributions in accordance with agreed arrangements in respect of, for example,
augmentation of scheme benefits, early retirement strain; and

notify the Administering Authority promptly of all changes to its circumstances, prospects or membership,
which could affect future funding.

The Fund Actuary should:-
prepare valuations, including the setting of employers’ contribution rates. This will involve agreeing
assumptions with the Administering Authority, having regard to the FSS and LGPS Regulations, and
targeting each employer’s solvency appropriately;

provide data and information as required by the Government Actuary’s Department to carry out their
statutory obligations (see Section 5);

provide advice relating to new employers in the Fund, including the level and type of bonds or other forms
of security (and the monitoring of these);

128



prepare advice and calculations in connection with bulk transfers and individual benefit-related matters;

assist the Administering Authority in considering possible changes to employer contributions between
formal valuations, where circumstances suggest this may be necessary;

advise on the termination of employers’ participation in the Fund; and

fully reflect actuarial professional guidance and requirements in the advice given to the Administering
Authority.

Other parties:-
investment advisers (either internal or external) should ensure the Fund’s SIP/ISS remains appropriate,
and consistent with this FSS;

investment managers, custodians and bankers should all play their part in the effective investment (and
dis-investment) of Fund assets, in line with the SIP/ISS;

auditors should comply with their auditing standards, ensure Fund compliance with all requirements,
monitor and advise on fraud detection, and sign off annual reports and financial statements as required,;

governance advisers may be appointed to advise the Administering Authority on efficient processes and
working methods in managing the Fund;

legal advisers (either internal or external) should ensure the Fund’s operation and management remains
fully compliant with all regulations and broader local government requirements, including the
Administering Authority’s own procedures;

the Department for Communities and Local Government (assisted by the Government Actuary’s
Department) and the Scheme Advisory Board, should work with LGPS Funds to meet Section 13
requirements.

129



Appendix C — Key risks and controls

C1 Types of risk
The Administering Authority has an active risk management programme in place. The measures that it has in
place to control key risks are summarised below under the following headings:

financial;
demographic;

regulatory; and

governance.
C2 Financial risks
Risk Summary of Control Mechanisms

Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line with the | Only anticipate long-term returns on a relatively
anticipated returns underpinning the valuation of | prudent basis to reduce risk of under-performing.

liabilities over the long-term.
Assets invested on the basis of specialist advice, in a

suitably diversified manner across asset classes,
geographies, managers, etc.

Analyse progress at three yearly valuations for all
employers.

Inter-valuation roll-forward of liabilities between
valuations at whole Fund level.

Inappropriate long-term investment strategy. Overall investment strategy options considered as an
integral part of the funding strategy. Used asset
liability modelling to measure 4 key outcomes.

Chosen option considered to provide the best balance.

Fall in risk-free returns on Government bonds, Stabilisation modelling at whole Fund level allows for
leading to rise in value placed on liabilities. the probability of this within a longer term context.

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above.

Some investment in bonds helps to mitigate this risk.

Active investment manager under-performance | Quarterly investment monitoring analyses market
relative to benchmark. performance and active managers relative to their
index benchmark.

Pay and price inflation significantly more than The focus of the actuarial valuation process is on real
anticipated. returns on assets, net of price and pay increases.

Inter-valuation monitoring, as above, gives early
warning.

Some investment in bonds also helps to mitigate this
risk.

130



Risk

Summary of Control Mechanisms

Employers pay for their own salary awards and should
be mindful of the geared effect on pension liabilities of
any bias in pensionable pay rises towards longer-
serving employees.

Effect of possible increase in employer’s
contribution rate on service delivery and
admission/scheduled bodies

An explicit stabilisation mechanism has been agreed
as part of the funding strategy. Other measures are
also in place to limit sudden increases in contributions.

Orphaned employers give rise to added costs
for the Fund

The Fund seeks a cessation debt (or
security/guarantor) to minimise the risk of this
happening in the future.

If it occurs, the Actuary calculates the added cost
spread pro-rata among all employers — (see 3.9).

C3 Demographic risks

Risk

Summary of Control Mechanisms

Pensioners living longer, thus increasing cost to
Fund.

Set mortality assumptions with some allowance for
future increases in life expectancy.

The Fund Actuary has direct access to the experience
of over 50 LGPS funds which allows early identification
of changes in life expectancy that might in turn affect
the assumptions underpinning the valuation.

Maturing Fund — i.e. proportion of actively
contributing employees declines relative to
retired employees.

Continue to monitor at each valuation, consider
seeking monetary amounts rather than % of pay and
consider alternative investment strategies.

Deteriorating patterns of early retirements

Employers are charged the extra cost of non ill-health
retirements following each individual decision.

Employer ill health retirement experience is monitored,
and insurance is an option.

Reductions in payroll causing insufficient deficit
recovery payments

In many cases this may not be sufficient cause for
concern, and will in effect be caught at the next formal
valuation. However, there are protections where there
is concern, as follows:

Employers in the stabilisation mechanism may be
brought out of that mechanism to permit appropriate
contribution increases (see Note (b) to 3.3).

For other employers, review of contributions is
permitted in general between valuations (see Note (f)
to 3.3) and may require a move in deficit contributions
from a percentage of payroll to fixed monetary
amounts.

131




C4 Regulatory risks

Risk

Summary of Control Mechanisms

Changes to national pension requirements
and/or HMRC rules e.g. changes arising from
public sector pensions reform.

The Administering Authority considers all consultation
papers issued by the Government and comments
where appropriate.

The results of the most recent reforms were built into
the 2013 valuation. Any changes to member
contribution rates or benefit levels will be carefully
communicated with members to minimise possible opt-
outs or adverse actions.

Time, cost and/or reputational risks associated
with any DCLG intervention triggered by the
Section 13 analysis (see Section 5).

Take advice from Fund Actuary on position of Fund as
at prior valuation, and consideration of proposed
valuation approach relative to anticipated Section 13
analysis.

Changes by Government to particular employer
participation in LGPS Funds, leading to impacts
on funding and/or investment strategies.

The Administering Authority considers all consultation
papers issued by the Government and comments
where appropriate.

Take advice from Fund Actuary on impact of changes
on the Fund and amend strategy as appropriate.

C5 Governance risks

Risk

Summary of Control Mechanisms

Administering Authority unaware of structural
changes in an employer's membership (e.g.
large fall in employee members, large number of
retirements) or not advised of an employer
closing to new entrants.

The Administering Authority has a close relationship
with employing bodies and communicates required
standards e.g. for submission of data.

The Actuary may revise the rates and Adjustments
certificate to increase an employer’s contributions
between triennial valuations

Deficit contributions may be expressed as monetary
amounts.

Actuarial or investment advice is not sought, or
is not heeded, or proves to be insufficient in
some way

The Administering Authority maintains close contact
with its specialist advisers.

Advice is delivered via formal meetings involving
Elected Members, and recorded appropriately.

Actuarial advice is subject to professional requirements
such as peer review.

Administering Authority failing to commission
the Fund Actuary to carry out a termination
valuation for a departing Admission Body.

The Administering Authority requires employers with
Best Value contractors to inform it of forthcoming
changes.

132




Risk

Summary of Control Mechanisms

Community Admission Bodies’ memberships are
monitored and, if active membership decreases, steps
will be taken.

An employer ceasing to exist with insufficient
funding or adequacy of a bond.

The Administering Authority believes that it would
normally be too late to address the position if it was left
to the time of departure.

The risk is mitigated by:

Seeking a funding guarantee from another scheme
employer, or external body, where-ever possible (see

Notes (h) and (j) to 3.3).

Alerting the prospective employer to its obligations and
encouraging it to take independent actuarial advice.

Vetting prospective employers before admission.

Where permitted under the regulations requiring a bond
to protect the Fund from various risks.

Requiring new Community Admission Bodies to have a
guarantor.

Reviewing bond or guarantor arrangements at regular

intervals (see Note (f) to 3.3).

Reviewing contributions well ahead of cessation if
thought appropriate (see Note (a) to 3.3).

133




Appendix D — The calculation of Employer contributions

In Section 2 there was a broad description of the way in which contribution rates are calculated. This Appendix
considers these calculations in much more detail.

All three steps above are considered when setting contributions (more details are given in Section 3 and
Appendix D:

1. The funding target is based on a set of assumptions about the future, eg investment returns, inflation,
pensioners’ life expectancies. However, if an employer is approaching the end of its participation in the
Fund then it’s funding target may be set on a more prudent basis, so that it’s liabilities are less likely to be
spread among other employers after it's cessation of participation;

2. The time horizon required is, in broad terms, the period over which any deficit is to be recovered. A
shorter period will lead to higher contributions, and vice versa (all other things being equal). Employers
may be given a lower time horizon if they have a less permanent anticipated membership, or do not have
tax-raising powers to increase contributions if investment returns under-perform;

3. The required probability of achieving the funding target over that time horizon will be dependent on the
Fund’s view of the strength of employer covenant and its funding profile. Where an employer is
considered to be weaker, or potentially ceasing from the Fund, then the required probability will be set
higher, which in turn will increase the required contributions (and vice versa).

The calculations involve actuarial assumptions about future experience, and these are described in detail in
Appendix E.

D1 What is the difference between calculations across the whole Fund and calculations for an
individual employer?
Employer contributions are normally made up of two elements:

a) the estimated cost of ongoing benefits being accrued, referred to as the “Primary contribution rate” (see
D2 below); plus

b) an adjustment for the difference between the Primary rate above, and the actual contribution the
employer needs to pay, referred to as the “Secondary contribution rate” (see D3 below).

The contribution rate for each employer is measured as above, appropriate for each employer’s funding position
and membership. The whole Fund position, including that used in reporting to DCLG (see section 5), is
calculated in effect as the sum of all the individual employer rates. DCLG currently only regulates at whole Fund
level, without monitoring individual employer positions.

D2 How is the Primary contribution rate calculated?

The Primary element of the employer contribution rate is calculated with the aim that these contributions will
meet benefit payments in respect of members’ future service in the Fund. This is based upon the cost (in
excess of members’ contributions) of the benefits which employee members earn from their service each year.

The Primary rate is calculated separately for all the employers, although employers within a pool will pay the
contribution rate applicable to the pool as a whole. The Primary rate is calculated such that it is projected to:

1. meet the required funding target for all future years’ accrual of benefits*, excluding any accrued assets,

2. within the determined time horizon (see note 3.3 Note (c) for further details),

134



3. with a sufficiently high probability, as set by the Fund’s strategy for the category of employer (see 3.3
Note (e) for further details).

* The projection is for the current active membership where the employer no longer admits new entrants, or
additionally allows for new entrants where this is appropriate.

The projections are carried out using an economic modeller developed by the Fund’s actuary Hymans
Robertson: this allows for a wide range of outcomes as regards key factors such as asset returns (based on the
Fund’s investment strategy), inflation, and bond yields. The measured contributions are calculated such that the
proportion of outcomes meeting the employer’s funding target (by the end of the time horizon) is equal to the
required probability.

The approach includes expenses of administration to the extent that they are borne by the Fund, and includes
allowances for benefits payable on death in service and on ill health retirement.

D3 How is the Secondary contribution rate calculated?
The combined Primary and Secondary rates aim to achieve the employer’s funding target, within the appropriate
time horizon, with the relevant degree of probability.

For the funding target, the Fund actuary agrees the assumptions to be used with the Administering Authority —
see Appendix E. These assumptions are used to calculate the present value of all benefit payments expected
in the future, relating to that employer’s current and former employees, based on pensionable service to the
valuation date only (i.e. ignoring further benefits to be built up in the future).

The Fund operates the same target funding level for all employers of 100% of its accrued liabilities valued on
the ongoing basis, unless otherwise determined (see Section 3).

The Secondary rate is calculated as the balance over and above the Primary rate, such that the total is
projected to:

1. meet the required funding target relating to combined past and future service benefit accrual, including
accrued asset share (see D5 below)

2. within the determined time horizon (see 3.3 Note (c) for further details)

3. with a sufficiently high probability, as set by the Fund’s strategy for the category of employer (see 3.3
Note (e) for further details).

The projections are carried out using an economic modeller developed by the Fund Actuary Hymans Robertson:
this allows for a wide range of outcomes as regards key factors such as asset returns (based on the Fund’s
investment strategy), inflation, and bond yields. The measured contributions are calculated such that the
proportion of outcomes with at least 100% solvency (by the end of the time horizon) is equal to the required
probability.

For employers with a short time horizon, the Administering Authority may choose not to levy a secondary rate
depending on the employer’s individual circumstances.

D4 What affects a given employer’s valuation results?
The results of these calculations for a given individual employer will be affected by:

1. past contributions relative to the cost of accruals of benefits;

2. different liability profiles of employers (e.g. mix of members by age, gender, service vs. salary);

3. the effect of any differences in the funding target, i.e. the valuation basis used to value the employer’s
liabilities;

135



4, any different time horizons;

5. the difference between actual and assumed rises in pensionable pay;

6. the difference between actual and assumed increases to pensions in payment and deferred pensions;
7. the difference between actual and assumed retirements on grounds of ill-health from active status;

8. the difference between actual and assumed amounts of pension ceasing on death;

9. the additional costs of any non ill-health retirements relative to any extra payments made; and/or

10. differences in the required probability of achieving the funding target.

D5 How is each employer’s asset share calculated?

The Administering Authority does not account for each employer’s assets separately. Instead, the Fund’s
actuary is required to apportion the assets of the whole Fund between the employers, at each triennial
valuation.

This apportionment uses the income and expenditure figures provided for certain cash flows for each employer.
This process adjusts for transfers of liabilities between employers participating in the Fund, but does make a
number of simplifying assumptions. The split is calculated using an actuarial technique known as “analysis of
surplus”.

Actual investment returns achieved on the Fund between each valuation are applied proportionately across all
employers, to the extent that employers in effect share the same investment strategy. Transfers of liabilities
between employers within the Fund occur automatically within this process, with a sum broadly equivalent to the
reserve required on the ongoing basis being exchanged between the two employers.

The Fund actuary does not allow for certain relatively minor events, including but not limited to:
1. the actual timing of employer contributions within any financial year;
2. the effect of the premature payment of any deferred pensions on grounds of incapacity.

These effects are swept up within a miscellaneous item in the analysis of surplus, which is split between
employers in proportion to their liabilities.

The methodology adopted means that there will inevitably be some difference between the asset shares
calculated for individual employers and those that would have resulted had they participated in their own ring-
fenced section of the Fund.

The asset apportionment is capable of verification but not to audit standard. The Administering Authority
recognises the limitations in the process, but it considers that the Fund actuary’s approach addresses the risks
of employer cross-subsidisation to an acceptable degree.

136



Appendix E — Actuarial assumptions

El What are the actuarial assumptions?

These are expectations of future experience used to place a value on future benefit payments (“the liabilities”).
Assumptions are made about the amount of benefit payable to members (the financial assumptions) and the
likelihood or timing of payments (the demographic assumptions). For example, financial assumptions include
investment returns, salary growth and pension increases; demographic assumptions include life expectancy,
probabilities of ill-health early retirement, and proportions of member deaths giving rise to dependants’ benefits.

Changes in assumptions will affect the measured funding target. However, different assumptions will not of
course affect the actual benefits payable by the Fund in future.

The combination of all assumptions is described as the “basis”. A more optimistic basis might involve higher
assumed investment returns (discount rate), or lower assumed salary growth, pension increases or life
expectancy; a more optimistic basis will give lower funding targets and lower employer costs. A more prudent
basis will give higher funding targets and higher employer costs.

E2 What basis is used by the Fund?

The Fund’s standard funding basis is described as the “ongoing basis”, which applies to most employers in most
circumstances. This is described in more detail below. It anticipates employers remaining in the Fund in the
long term.

However, in certain circumstances, typically where the employer is not expected to remain in the Fund long
term, a more prudent basis applies: see Note (a) to 3.3.

E3 What assumptions are made in the ongoing basis?

a) Investment return /discount rate

The key financial assumption is the anticipated return on the Fund’s investments. This “discount rate”
assumption makes allowance for an anticipated out-performance of Fund returns relative to long term yields on
UK Government bonds (“gilts”). There is, however, no guarantee that Fund returns will out-perform gilts. The
risk is greater when measured over short periods such as the three years between formal actuarial valuations,
when the actual returns and assumed returns can deviate sharply.

Given the very long-term nature of the liabilities, a long term view of prospective asset returns is taken. The
long term in this context would be 20 to 30 years or more.

For the purpose of the triennial funding valuation at 31 March 2016 and setting contribution rates effective from
1 April 2017, the Fund actuary has assumed that future investment returns earned by the Fund over the long
term will be 1.6% per annum greater than gilt yields at the time of the valuation (this is the same as that used at
the 2013 valuation). In the opinion of the Fund actuary, based on the current investment strategy of the Fund,
this asset out-performance assumption is within a range that would be considered acceptable for the purposes
of the funding valuation.

137



b) Salary growth

Pay for public sector employees is currently subject to restriction by the UK Government until 2020. Although
this “pay freeze” does not officially apply to local government and associated employers, it has been suggested
that they are likely to show similar restraint in respect of pay awards. Based on long term historical analysis of
the membership in LGPS funds, and continued austerity measures, the salary increase assumption at the 2016
valuation has been set to be a blended rate combined of:

1. 1% p.a. until 31 March 2020, followed by
2. the retail prices index (RPI) per annum p.a. thereafter.

This is a change from the previous valuation, which assumed a flat assumption of RPI plus 0.5% per annum.
The change has led to a reduction in the funding target (all other things being equal).

c) Pension increases

Since 2011 the consumer prices index (CPI), rather than RPI, has been the basis for increases to public sector
pensions in deferment and in payment. Note that the basis of such increases is set by the Government, and is
not under the control of the Fund or any employers.

As at the previous valuation, we derive our assumption for RPI from market data as the difference between the
yield on long-dated fixed interest and index-linked government bonds. This is then reduced to arrive at the CPI
assumption, to allow for the “formula effect” of the difference between RPI and CPI. At this valuation, we
propose a reduction of 1.0% per annum. This is a larger reduction than at 2013, which will serve to reduce the
funding target (all other things being equal). (Note that the reduction is applied in a geometric, not arithmetic,
basis).

d) Life expectancy

The demographic assumptions are intended to be best estimates of future experience in the Fund based on
past experience of LGPS funds which participate in Club Vita, the longevity analytics service used by the Fund,
and endorsed by the actuary.

The longevity assumptions that have been adopted at this valuation are a bespoke set of “VitaCurves”,
produced by the Club Vita’'s detailed analysis, which are specifically tailored to fit the membership profile of the
Fund. These curves are based on the data provided by the Fund for the purposes of this valuation.

It is acknowledged that future life expectancy and, in particular, the allowance for future improvements in life
expectancy, is uncertain. There is a consensus amongst actuaries, demographers and medical experts that life
expectancy is likely to improve in the future. Allowance has been made in the ongoing valuation basis for future
improvements in line with the 2013 version of the Continuous Mortality Investigation model published by the
Actuarial Profession and a 1.25% per annum minimum underpin to future reductions in mortality rates. This is a
similar allowance for future improvements than was made in 2013.

The approach taken is considered reasonable in light of the long term nature of the Fund and the assumed level
of security underpinning members’ benefits.

138



e) General

The same financial assumptions are adopted for most employers, in deriving the funding target underpinning the
Primary and Secondary rates: as described in (3.3), these calculated figures are translated in different ways into
employer contributions, depending on the employer’s circumstances.

The demographic assumptions, in particular the life expectancy assumption, in effect vary by type of member
and so reflect the different membership profiles of employers.

139



Appendix F — Glossary

Actuarial
assumptions/basis

Administering
Authority

Admission Bodies

Covenant

Designating
Employer

Discount rate

Employer

Funding target

Gilt

Guarantee /
guarantor

The combined set of assumptions made by the actuary, regarding the future, to
calculate the value of the funding target. The main assumptions will relate to the
discount rate, salary growth, pension increases and longevity. More prudent
assumptions will give a higher target value, whereas more optimistic assumptions
will give a lower value.

The council with statutory responsibility for running the Fund, in effect the Fund’s
“trustees”.

Employers where there is an Admission Agreement setting out the employer’s
obligations. These can be Community Admission Bodies or Transferee Admission
Bodies. For more details (see 2.3).

The assessed financial strength of the employer. A strong covenant indicates a
greater ability (and willingness) to pay for pension obligations in the long run. A
weaker covenant means that it appears that the employer may have difficulties
meeting its pension obligations in full over the longer term.

Employers such as town and parish councils that are able to participate in the LGPS
via resolution. These employers can designate which of their employees are
eligible to join the Fund.

The annual rate at which future assumed cashflows (in and out of the Fund) are
discounted to the present day. This is necessary to provide a funding target which
is consistent with the present day value of the assets. A lower discount rate gives a
higher target value, and vice versa. It is used in the calculation of the Primary and
Secondary rates.

An individual participating body in the Fund, which employs (or used to employ)
members of the Fund. Normally the assets and funding target values for each
employer are individually tracked, together with its Primary rate at each valuation.

The actuarially calculated present value of all pension entitlements of all members
of the Fund, built up to date. This is compared with the present market value of
Fund assets to derive the deficit. It is calculated on a chosen set of actuarial
assumptions.

A UK Government bond, ie a promise by the Government to pay interest and capital
as per the terms of that particular gilt, in return for an initial payment of capital by
the purchaser. Gilts can be “fixed interest”, where the interest payments are level
throughout the gilt’s term, or “index-linked” where the interest payments vary each
year in line with a specified index (usually RPI). Gilts can be bought as assets by
the Fund, but their main use in funding is as an objective measure of solvency.

A formal promise by a third party (the guarantor) that it will meet any pension
obligations not met by a specified employer. The presence of a guarantor will mean,
for instance, that the Fund can consider the employer’s covenant to be as strong
as its guarantor’s.

140



Letting employer

LGPS

Maturity

Members

Primary
contribution rate

Profile

Rates and
Adjustments
Certificate

Scheduled Bodies

Secondary
contribution rate

An employer which outsources or transfers a part of its services and workforce to
another employer (usually a contractor). The contractor will pay towards the LGPS
benefits accrued by the transferring members, but ultimately the obligation to pay
for these benefits will revert to the letting employer. A letting employer will usually
be a local authority, but can sometimes be another type of employer such as an
Academy.

The Local Government Pension Scheme, a public sector pension arrangement put
in place via Government Regulations, for workers in local government. These
Regulations also dictate eligibility (particularly for Scheduled Bodies), members’
contribution rates, benefit calculations and certain governance requirements. The
LGPS is divided into 101 Funds which map the UK. Each LGPS Fund is
autonomous to the extent not dictated by Regulations, e.g. regarding investment
strategy, employer contributions and choice of advisers.

A general term to describe a Fund (or an employer’s position within a Fund) where
the members are closer to retirement (or more of them already retired) and the
investment time horizon is shorter. This has implications for investment strategy
and, consequently, funding strategy.

The individuals who have built up (and may still be building up) entitlement in the
Fund. They are divided into actives (current employee members), deferreds (ex-
employees who have not yet retired) and pensioners (ex-employees who have now
retired, and dependants of deceased ex-employees).

The employer contribution rate required to pay for ongoing accrual of active
members’ benefits (including an allowance for administrative expenses). See
Appendix D for further details.

The profile of an employer’'s membership or liability reflects various measurements
of that employer's members, ie current and former employees. This includes: the
proportions which are active, deferred or pensioner; the average ages of each
category; the varying salary or pension levels; the lengths of service of active
members vs their salary levels, etc. A membership (or liability) profile might be
measured for its maturity also.

A formal document required by the LGPS Regulations, which must be updated at
least every three years at the conclusion of the formal valuation. This is completed
by the actuary and confirms the contributions to be paid by each employer (or pool
of employers) in the Fund for the three year period until the next valuation is
completed.

Types of employer explicitly defined in the LGPS Regulations, whose employers
must be offered membership of their local LGPS Fund. These include Councils,
colleges, universities, academies, police and fire authorities etc, other than
employees who have entitlement to a different public sector pension scheme (e.qg.
teachers, police and fire officers, university lecturers).

The difference between the employer’s actual and Primary contribution rates. In
broad terms, this relates to the shortfall of its asset share to its funding target. See
Appendix D for further details.

141



Stabilisation

Valuation

Any method used to smooth out changes in employer contributions from one year to
the next. This is very broadly required by the LGPS Regulations, but in practice is
particularly employed for large stable employers in the Fund. Different methods
may involve: probability-based modelling of future market movements; longer deficit
recovery periods; higher discount rates; or some combination of these.

An actuarial investigation to calculate the liabilities, future service contribution rate
and common contribution rate for a Fund, and usually individual employers too.
This is normally carried out in full every three years (last done as at 31 March
2016), but can be approximately updated at other times. The assets value is based
on market values at the valuation date, and the liabilities value and contribution
rates are based on long term bond market yields at that date also.

142



Aaenda ltem 14
Pages 14310 170

Pension Fund Committee

Date of Meeting: 7 March 2018

Subject: Investment Strategy Statement

Responsible Officer: Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance

Exempt: No
Wards affected: All
Enclosures: Draft Investment Strategy Statement

Section 1 - Summary and Recommendation

Summary

The Committee is requested to consider the updated Investment Strategy
Statement and, subject to their comments, approve it.

.Recommendation

That, subject to their comments, the Committee approve the draft Investment
Strategy Statement.

( ﬁéf/‘ﬁétﬁDUNClL )
143

LONDON



Section 2 - Report

4.

At their meeting of 22 November 2016 the Committee were advised of the requirement of
The Local Government Scheme (Management of Funds) Regulations 2016 for the Fund to
agree an Investment Strategy Statement. They were further advised of a document issued
by the Department for Communities and Local Government entitled Local Government
Pension Scheme — Guidance on Preparing and Maintaining an Investment Strategy
Statement.(ISS)

Taking into account the Guidance and advice from, inter alia, Aon Hewitt and Hymans
Robertson drafts of the proposed Statement were circulated to members of the Committee
and its advisers, members of the Pension Board, all employers and the trade unions. A
significant number of comments were received from those consulted and advice was
taken from other interested bodies most notably, the London CIV. These comments and
advice were taken into account in the preparation of the first Investment Strategy
Statement which was approved by Pension Fund Committee on 7" March 2017.

The ISS has been updated from para 7.4 to reflect the revised strategic asset allocation
benchmark approved by Pension Fund Committee in June 2017 and following the
completion of an Asset Liability Modelling exercise .

The Committee are now asked to consider the attached revised draft, and subject to their
comments, approve it for adoption by the Fund.

Financial Implications

5.

Whilst the implementation of the Investment Strategy Statement has major financial
implications for the Pension Fund there are none arising from this report.

Risk Management Implications

6.

Any relevant risks arising from investment performance and non-compliance with the
Scheme Regulations are included in the Pension Fund risk register.

Equalities implications

7.

There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

Council Priorities

8. Whilst the financial health of the Pension Fund directly affects the level of employer

contribution which, in turn, affects the resources available for the Council’s priorities there
are no impacts arising directly from this report.

144



Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

Name: Dawn Calvert Chief Financial Officer

Date: 22 February 2018

on behalf of the
Name: Linda Cohen Monitoring Officer

Date: 14 February 2018

Ward Councillors notified: Not applicable

Section 4 - Contact Details

Contact: lain Millar, Treasury and Pensions Manager 0208 424 1432

Background Papers - None

145




This page is intentionally left blank



LONDON BOROUGH OF HARROW
PENSION FUND

INVESTMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT

March 2018

C/fgzr/‘m' )

LONDON

147



NOo Ok WD E

o

10.
11.

12.
13.

14.

15.
16.

CONTENTS

Executive Summary

Introduction

Statutory background
Directions by Secretary of State
Advisers

Objective of the Fund

Investment beliefs

The suitability of particular investments and
types of investments

Asset classes
Fund managers
Stock lending
Approach to risk

Approach to pooling

Social, environmental and governance
considerations

Exercise of the rights (including voting
rights) attaching to investments

Stewardship

Compliance with “Myners” Principles

148



Executive Summary

The London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund Investment Strategy
Statement has been prepared in accordance with the relevant Local
Government Pension Scheme Regulations.

The objective of the Fund is to provide pension and lump sum benefits for its
members and their dependants.

To assist in the achievement of this objective the Fund makes investments
in accordance with:

+* its investment beliefs:

its asset allocation strategy reflecting its views on the suitability of
particular investments and types of investments;

its approach to risk, including its measurement and management;
its approach to pooling;
its policy on social, environmental and governance considerations;

its policy as regards the stewardship of its assets including the
exercise of voting rights; and

its compliance with the “Myners Principles”

149



11

1.2

1.3

14

15

2.1

3.1

3.2

Introduction

This is the Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) of the London Borough of Harrow
Pension Fund adopted by Harrow Council (the Council) in its capacity under
Regulation 7 of the Local Government Pension Scheme as Administering Authority of
the Local Government Pension Scheme. In this capacity the Council has
responsibility to ensure the proper management of the Fund.

The Council has delegated to its Pension Fund Committee (“the Committee”) “all
the powers and duties of the Council in relation to its functions as Administering
Authority ........ save for those matters delegated to other committees of the
Council or to an officer.”

The ISS has been prepared by the Committee having taken appropriate advice. It
meets the requirements of The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (the Regulations).

The ISS, which was last approved by the Committee on 7 March 2017, is subject
to periodic review at least every three years and without delay after any significant
change in investment policy. The Committee has previously consulted on the
contents of the Strategy with each of its employers, the Pension Board and the
two trade union observers. The ISS should be read in conjunction with the Fund’s
Funding Strategy Statement also on the committee agenda for approval by the
Committee on 7 March 2018.

The amendments to the investment policy reflect the results of the Investment
Strategy Review and Asset Liability Modelling exercise that was undertaken in
2017.

Statutory background

Regulation 7(1) of the Regulations requires an administering authority to formulate
an investment strategy which must be in accordance with guidance issued by the
Secretary of State.

Directions by Secretary of State

Regulation 8 of the Regulations enables the Secretary of State to issue a Direction
if he is satisfied that an administering authority is failing to act in accordance with
guidance issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government.

The Secretary of State’s power of intervention does not interfere with the duty of

elected members under general public law principles to make investment
decisions in the best long-term interest of scheme beneficiaries and taxpayers.

150



4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

Advisers

Regulation 7 of the Regulations requires the Council to take proper advice when
making decisions in connection with the investment strategy of the Fund. In
addition to the expertise of the members of the Pension Fund Committee and
Council officers such advice is taken from:

o Aon Hewitt Ltd — investment consultancy

. Independent advisers

Actuarial advice, which can have implications for investment strategy, is provided
by Hymans Robertson LLP

Objective of the Fund

The objective of the Fund is to provide pension and lump sum benefits for
members on their retirement and/or benefits on death, before or after retirement,
for their dependants, on a defined benefits basis. The sums required to fund these
benefits and the amounts actually held (ie the funding position) are reviewed at
each triennial actuarial valuation, or more frequently as required.

The assets of the Fund are invested with the primary objective being to achieve a
return that is sufficient to meet the funding objective as set out above, subject to
an appropriate level of risk and liquidity. Over the long-term it is expected that the
Fund’s investment returns will be at least in line with the assumptions underlying
the actuarial valuation.

Related objectives are to seek to minimise the level and volatility of employer
contributions necessary to meet the cost of pension benefits.

Investment beliefs

The Fund’s fundamental investment beliefs which inform its strategy and guide its
decision making are:

o The Fund has a paramount duty to seek to obtain the best possible
return on its investments taking into account a properly considered level
of risk.

o A well-governed and well-managed pension fund will be rewarded by
good investment performance in the long term

o Strategic asset allocation is the most significant factor in investment
returns and risk; risk is only taken when the Fund believes a
commensurate long term reward will be realised

151



7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

. Asset allocation structure should be strongly influenced by the quantum
and nature of the Fund'’s liabilities and the Funding Strategy Statement

J Since the lifetime of the liabilities is very long, the time horizon of the
investment strategy should be similarly long term

o Equities are likely to outperform most other asset classes in the long
term and, in view of its current assets / liabilities structure, the Fund’s
investments should be heavily biased towards this asset class

o Performance advantage is likely to be realised from the successful
selection of active asset managers

. Risk of underperformance by active equity managers is mitigated by
allocating a significant portion of the Fund’s assets to a passive equities
manager and other asset classes

. The impact of currency mismatches is mitigated by implementing a
currency hedging strategy

. Long-term financial performance of companies in which the Fund
invests is likely to be enhanced if they follow good practice in their
environmental, social and governance policies

. Costs need to be properly managed and transparent

The suitability of particular investments and types of investments

The Committee decides on the investment policies most suitable to meet the
liabilities of the Fund and has ultimate responsibility for investment strategy.

The Committee has translated its investment objective into a suitable strategic
asset allocation benchmark for the Fund. This benchmark is consistent with the
Committee’s views on the appropriate balance between generating a satisfactory
long-term return on investments whilst taking account of market volatility and risk
and the nature of the Fund’s liabilities.

The approach seeks to ensure that the investment strategy takes due account of
the maturity profile of the Fund (in terms of the relative proportions of liabilities in
respect of pensioners, deferred and active members) and the liabilities arising
therefrom, together with the level of disclosed surplus or deficit (relative to the
funding bases used).

The Committee has set a strategic asset allocation benchmark for the Fund as
detailed in the table below. This benchmark was set in 2017 following the
completion of an Asset Liability Modelling exercise and Investment Strategy
Review. The table shows both a short term allocation and a desired movement in
allocation over the medium-term.

152



7.5

CURRENT
MANAGEMENT DESIRED
ASSET CLASS MOVEMENT IN
APPROACH MEDIUM-TERM
ALLOCATION RANGE -
% %
Equities
Global Passive 24.0
Global Active Unconstrained 18.0
Emerging Markets  Active Unconstrained 8.0
TOTAL 50.0 45-55
Bonds
Corporate Active 10.4
Index Linked Gilts Active 2.6
TOTAL 13.0 11-15
Alternative
Investments
Decrease and use
. - proceeds to fund
ELVne(jr:Ifled Growth Active 22.0 Property and
Infrastructure
opportunities
TOTAL 22.0 20-24
. Increase as
Property Active 10.0 8-12 opportunities arise
. Increase as
Infrastructure Active 0.0 n/a opportunities arise
Private Equity Active 5.0 4-6 Reduce as current
) funds wind down
TOTAL 100.0

The most significant rationale of the structure is to invest the majority of the Fund
assets in “growth assets” i.e. those expected to generate ‘excess’ returns over the
long term. These include equities, and private equity. The structure also includes
a small allocation to “cash flow matching” assets, mainly corporate bonds. The
investments in property and diversified growth funds provide both diversification
and expected returns in excess of liabilities.

153




7.6

7.7

7.8

7.9

7.10

The Investment Strategy Review undertaken in 2017 resulted in the Fund reducing
its strategic allocation to Equities from 62% to 50%. The proceeds of the
reduction in the allocation to Equities are to be held in the Fund's Diversified
Growth Funds at the current time, whilst the Committee undertake training and
seek opportunities in two particular asset classes; infrastructure and value-add /
opportunistic property. As part of the Review, the Committee also agreed to make
no further commitments to Private Equity.

The Committee monitors investment strategy on an ongoing basis, focusing on
factors including, but not limited to:

o Suitability and diversification given the Fund’s level of funding and
liability profile

. The level of expected risk

. Outlook for asset returns

The Committee also monitors the Fund’s actual allocation on a regular basis to
ensure it does not deviate from within the target range. If such a deviation occurs,
except for the private equity investment which is now subject to significant
distributions, a re-balancing exercise is carried out to ensure that the allocation
remains within the range set. If necessary the Section 151 officer has delegated
authority to undertake rebalancing but any such rebalancing activity is reported to
the next meeting of the Committee.

It is intended that the Fund’s investment strategy will be reviewed at least every
three years, following actuarial valuations of the Fund. The investment strategy
review will typically involve the Committee, in conjunction with its advisers,
undertaking an in-depth Asset Liability Modelling exercise to understand the risks
within the Fund's current investment strategy and establish other potentially
suitable investment strategies for the Fund in the future.

The following table shows the 10 year risk and return statistics for the Fund's
revised investment strategy, which was agreed as part of the Investment Strategy
Review. In the Asset Liability Modelling with formed part of the Investment
Strategy Review, two types of risk were considered:

o Absolute risk — the risk that the value of the Fund's assets decreases.
This is measured through the absolute volatility of the assets.

o Relative risk — the risk associated with the volatility of the value of the
Fund's assets relative to the value of its liabilities. This reflects the fact
that the assets and liabilities do not necessarily react to market
conditions in the same way.

Return expectations are also shown in both absolute and relative terms.

154



Current Strategy Key Statistics
10 year return (absolute) 6.5%
10 year return (relative) 4.0%
10 year volatility (absolute) 12.7%
10 year volatility (relative) 16.1%

Data as at 31 March 2017

7.11 The table below shows the 10 year expected returns, volatilities and correlations

for the asset classes modelled as part of the investment strategy review (data as
at 31 March 2017):

10y 10y Correlation
Return Risk
(%p.a.) | (%p.a.)
2 gl 2 et 0
S s T = g c S n = o © 0 =
58 | 2% | o S| £ | S = 3= | &
(] — — o b7 — w
¢ | &g |8 |3° Cam |8 | & s |OF | s
& £ ) £ w
Private Equity 8.2 27.5 1.00
Index Linked Gilts 0.5 10.2 -0.05 | 1.00
UK Corporate 15 9.9 0.00 0.48 1.00
Bonds
DGFs 5.2 9.0 0.60 | 0.10 | 0.40 1.00
Property 55 12.6 0.31 | -0.04 | 0.01 | 0.28 | 1.00
Infrastructure 5.1 14.6 0.31 | -0.01 | 0.02 0.27 0.21 1.00
Global Equities 7.0 17.7 0.73 | -0.08 | 0.00 | 0.72 | 0.41 | 0.39 1.00
EM Equities 8.9 31.8 0.61 | -0.07 | 0.02 | 0.67 | 0.35 | 0.30 | 0.82 1.00

Data as at 31 March 2017. Additional assumptions used when modelling specific asset classes are:

7.12

7.13

Corporate bonds modelled as passive over 15 year AA non-gilts

Index-linked gilts modelled as passive over 5 year ILGs

Overseas equities modelled as 50% overseas GBP currency hedge. This is excluding the emerging market equity
allocation, which is GBP currency unhedged.

Infrastructure modelled as USD Infrastructure Total Return Hedged. This is Infrastructure equity.

DGFs modelled as 50% GARS style, 50% Capital Preservation style DGFs

When considering relative risk, the Asset Liability Modelling exercise also looked
at a short-term measure known as the Value at Risk ("VaR"). This indicates the
amount that the Fund's surplus/deficit stands to deteriorate by in a 1 in 20 event.
The overall VaR for the Fund's investment strategy was £271m as at 31 March
2017.

Further details on the Fund'’s risks, including the approach to mitigating them, is
provided in section 11.

155




8.1

8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

9.1

9.2

Asset classes

The Fund may invest in quoted and unquoted securities of UK and overseas
markets including equities and fixed interest and index linked bonds, cash,
property and commaodities either directly or through pooled funds. The Fund may
also make use of contracts for differences and other derivatives either directly or
in pooled funds investing in these products for the purpose of efficient portfolio
management or to hedge specific risks.

In line with the Regulations, the Council’s investment strategy does not permit
more than 5% of the total value of all investments of fund money to be invested in
entities which are connected with the Council within the meaning of section 212 of
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

Apart from the maximum level of investments detailed in the table above the Fund
has no further restrictions.

With investment returns included, the Fund has a positive cash flow that enables
investment in illiquid asset classes e.g. private equity and property. Over 70% of
the Fund’s assets are highly liquid i.e. can be readily converted into cash, and the
Council is satisfied that the Fund has sufficient liquid assets to meet all expected
and unexpected demands for cash. However, as a long term investor the Council
considers it prudent to include illiquid assets in its strategic asset allocation in
order to benefit from the additional diversification and extra return this should
provide.

For most of its investments the Council has delegated to the fund managers
responsibility for the selection, retention and realisation of assets.

Fund managers

The Council has delegated the management of the Fund’s investments to
professional investment managers, appointed in accordance with the Local
Government Pension Scheme Regulations. Their activities are specified in either
detailed investment management agreements or subscription agreements and
regularly monitored. @ The Committee is satisfied that the appointed fund
managers, all of whom are authorised under the Financial Services and Markets
Act 2000 to undertake investment business, have sufficient expertise and
experience to carry out their roles.

The investment style is to appoint fund managers with clear performance
benchmarks and place maximum accountability for performance against that
benchmark with them. Multiple fund managers are appointed to give
diversification of investment style and spread of risk. The fund managers

156



9.3

9.4

9.5

951

9.5.2

9.5.3

appointed are mainly remunerated through fees based on the value of assets
under management. Private equity managers are remunerated through fees
based on commitments and also performance related fees.

Except for the passive global equities manager, the managers are expected to
hold a mix of investments which reflect their views relative to their respective
benchmarks. Within each major market and asset class, the managers maintain
diversified portfolios through direct investment or pooled vehicles.

The management agreement in place for each fund manager, sets out, where
relevant, the benchmark and performance targets. The agreements also set out
any statutory or other restrictions determined by the Council. Investment may be
made in accordance with The Regulations in equities, fixed interest and other
bonds and property, in the UK and overseas markets. The Regulations specify
other investment instruments that may be used, for example, financial futures,
traded options, insurance contracts, stock lending, sub-underwriting contracts.

As at the date of this ISS the details of the managers appointed by the Committee
are as follows:

State Street Global advisors Ltd

Asset class — Global equities

Benchmark — FTSE All-World Index

Performance objective — Match the performance of the benchmark

Longview Partners (through the London CIV)

Asset class — Developed World equities

Benchmark — MSCI World (Local) (TR Net)

Performance objective — +3% to +3.5% p.a. (gross) over three year rolling periods

Oldfield Partners

Asset class — Developed World equities

Benchmark — MSCI World NDR

Performance objective — Outperform the benchmark by 2-3% net of fees over the
long term

157



9.5.4 GMO LLC

9.5.5

9.5.6

9.5.7

9.5.8

9.5.9

Asset class — Emerging Markets equities
Benchmark — MSCI Emerging Markets
Performance objective — Outperform the index over a market cycle

BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Ltd

Asset class — Corporate bonds

Benchmark — iBoxx Sterling Non-Gilts 10+ Years Index
Performance objective — Match the performance of the benchmark

BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Ltd

Asset class — Index linked gilts

Benchmark — FTSE Actuaries UK Index Linked Gilts Over 5 Years Index
Performance objective — Match the performance of the benchmark

Insight Investment

Asset class — Diversified Growth Fund

Benchmark — 3 Month GBP LIBID

Performance objective — Sterling 3-month LIBID + 3-5%p.a. net of fees

Standard Life Investments

Asset class — Diversified Growth Fund

Benchmark — 3 Month GBP LIBOR

Performance objective — LIBOR (6 month) +5% p.a. over rolling 3 year periods
(gross of fees)

Pantheon Ventures

Asset class — Private equity

Benchmark: Europe Fund V ‘A’ LP - MSCI Europe Net TR; FTSE Europe Net TR;
Russell Europe Index

Benchmark: USA Fund VII LP — S&P 500 Total Return Net Index; Russell 2000
Net TR; MSCI US Total Return Net Index

Benchmark: Global Secondary Fund Ill ‘A’ LP - FTSE All-World Net TR; MSCI AC
World Net TR; Russell Global Net TR

Performance objective — Outperform the quoted benchmarks by 3-5% over the
long term.

158



9.5.10 Aviva Investors Global Services Ltd

Asset class — Property

Benchmark — IPD UK PPF All Balanced Fund

Performance objective — To outperform the benchmark by maximising total returns
through a combination of capital growth and income return.

9.5.11 Record Currency Management Limited

9.6

9.7

9.8

10

10.1

11

111

11.2

11.3

Asset class — Passive Currency Hedging
Objective — To provide a passive currency hedge of 50% of the Fund's global
equity exposure

Where appropriate, custodians are appointed to provide trade settlement and
processing and related services. Where investments are held through pooled
funds, the funds appoint their own custodians.

Performance targets are generally set on a three-year rolling basis and the
Committee monitors manager performance quarterly. Advice is received as
required from officers, the professional investment adviser and the
independent advisers. In addition, the Committee requires managers
periodically to attend its meetings.

The Council also monitors the qualitative performance of the Fund managers to
ensure that they remain suitable for the Fund. These qualitative aspects include
changes in ownership, changes in personnel, and investment administration

Stock lending

Stock lending is permitted in pooled funds where applicable. Details of investment
managers’ procedures and controls are available on request.

Approach to risk

The Committee has an active risk management programme in place that aims to
help it identify the risks being taken and put in place processes to manage,
measure, monitor and (where possible) mitigate the risks being taken.

At least once a year (most recently on 21 June 2016) the Committee reviews its
risk register which details the principal risks identified and the Committee’s
approach to managing them. The Funding Strategy Statement also includes a
section on risk and the ways it can be measured and managed.

Funding risks

11.3.1 The major funding risks identified are:

159



o Fund assets are not sufficient to meet long term liabilities

o Relative movement in value of Fund assets does not match the relative
movement in Fund liabilities

J Demographic movements, particularly longevity, structural changes in
membership and increases in early retirements. and

o Insufficient assets to meet short and medium term liabilities

11.3.2The Committee measures and manages these potential financial mismatches in
two ways. As indicated above, the Committee has set a strategic asset allocation
benchmark for the Fund. This benchmark was set in 2017 following the
completion of an Asset Liability Modelling exercise and Investment Strategy
Review. The Committee assesses risk relative to the strategic benchmark by
monitoring the Fund’s asset allocation and investment returns relative to the
benchmark. The Committee also assesses risk relative to liabilities by monitoring
the delivery of benchmark returns relative to liabilities.

11.3.30n a quarterly basis the Committee receives a report from the Investment Adviser
on de-risking “triggers” that could be catalysts for a move towards a more liability
driven investment strategy. The “triggers” are related to:

. The Fund's funding level
o The 20 year spot yield
. Aon Hewitt's view of bond yields

11.3.4The Committee also seeks to understand the assumptions used in any analysis
and modelling so that they can be compared to their own views and to enable the
level of risks associated with these assumptions to be assessed.

11.3.5Demographic factors including the uncertainty around longevity / mortality
projections (e.g. longer life expectancies) contribute to funding risk. There are
limited options currently available to fully mitigate or hedge this risk. The Council
monitors liabilities using a specialist service provided by Club Vita, a “sister”
company of the Fund’s Actuary, Hymans Robertson. Club Vita carries out a
comprehensive analysis of the Fund’s longevity data to facilitate an understanding
which helps to manage this issue in the most effective way.

11.4 Assetrisks
11.4.1 The major asset risks identified are:
o Significant allocation to any single asset category and its
underperformance relative to expectation.

o General fall in investment markets
o Failure by fund managers to achieve benchmark returns

160



11.4.2 The Committee measure and manage asset risks as follows:

o The Fund’s strategic asset allocation policy requires investments in a
diversified range of asset classes, markets and investment managers.
The Committee has put in place rebalancing arrangements to ensure the
Fund’s “actual allocation” does not deviate substantially from its target.
The Fund invests in a range of investment mandates each of which has
a defined objective, performance benchmark and manager process
which, taken in aggregate, help reduce the Fund’s asset concentration
risk. By investing across a range of assets, including liquid quoted
equities and bonds the Committee has recognised the need for access to
liquidity in the short term.

. The Committee has considered the risk of underperformance by any
single investment manager and has attempted to reduce this risk by
appointing several managers and having a significant portion of the
Fund’s assets managed on a passive basis. The Committee assess the
Fund’s managers’ performance on a regular basis, and will take steps,
including potentially replacing one or more of their managers, if
underperformance persists.

. Whilst part of the objective of the Committee is to maximise the return on
its investments, it recognises that this has to be within certain risk
parameters and that no investment is without an element of risk. The
Committee acknowledges that the predominantly equity based
investment strategy may entail risk to contribution stability, particularly
due to the short term volatility that equity investments can involve. The
long term nature of the Fund and the expectation that longer term returns
from equity investments will exceed those from bonds mean, however,
that a high equity allocation remains an appropriate strategy for the
Fund.

. The Council has established a currency hedge covering 50% of the
global equity portfolio to dampen the effect of foreign currency
fluctuations against sterling. Approximately 10 major currencies are
hedged most notably the US Dollar, Japanese Yen and Euro.

11.5 Security risks
11.5.1 The major security risks identified are:

o Investment manager may not have an appropriate control framework in
place to protect and value Fund assets

o Custody arrangements may not be sufficient to safeguard fund assets

o Counterparty default in stock lending programme and foreign exchange
forward contracts

161



11.5.2 The Committee monitors and manages risks in these areas through the regular

12

12.1

12.2

12.3

12.4

12.5

12.6

12.7

scrutiny of the audit of the operations independently conducted for each of its
investment managers. Where appropriate (e.g. custody risk in relation to pooled
funds), the Fund has delegated such monitoring and management of risk to the
appointed investment managers. The Committee has the power to replace a
provider should serious concerns arise.

Approach to pooling

In line with the Government’s pooling agenda the Fund, along with all London
boroughs, is a shareholder and participating scheme in London LGPS CIV Limited
(“London CIV”). The London CIV is authorised by the Financial Conduct Authority
as an Alternative Investment Fund Manager with permission to operate a UK
based Authorised Contractual Scheme fund. The structure and basis on which the
London CIV is operating were set out in the July 2016 submission to Government.

The London CIV is in the process of opening a range of sub-funds covering liquid
asset classes, with less liquid classes to follow.

The Fund’s intention is to invest its assets through the London CIV as and when
suitable pool investment solutions become available. At each of its meetings the
Committee considers an update report on progress. The Fund currently holds its
global equity assets with Longview through the London CIV.

The Committee’s view is that, in principle, due to the potential costs of
disinvestment the only assets held by the Fund which would not be suitable for
pooling are its private equity investments.

However, it has since become clear that, in accordance with Government
guidance, assets held in life funds should be retained outside pools. The Fund’s
allocation of 31% of its total assets in a global equities passive mandate is held in
a life fund which thereby reduces the “poolable” universe to 65%. Nevertheless,
the Fund agrees that the London CIV should monitor its passive fund as part of
the broader pool.

Any assets deemed not appropriate for investment through the London CIV will be
reviewed at least every three years to determine whether the rationale remains
appropriate and whether the non-pooled investments continue to demonstrate
value for money. The next such review will take place no later than 2019.

The governance structure of the London CIV has been designed to ensure that
there are both formal and informal routes to engage with all the London boroughs
as both shareholders and investors. This is achieved through a combination of the
London Councils’ Sectoral Joint Committee, comprising nominated Member

162



representatives from the London boroughs (in Harrow’s case the Pension Fund
Committee Chair), and the Investment Advisory Committee which includes both
London borough treasurers and pension officers from a number of boroughs. At
the company level it is the Board of Directors that is responsible for decision
making within the company, which includes decisions to appoint and remove
investment managers.

13 Social, environmental and governance considerations

13.1

13.2

13.3

13.4

As considered earlier, the Council recognises that it has a paramount duty to seek
to obtain the best possible return on the Fund’s investments taking into account a
properly considered level of risk. It also recognises that environmental, social and
governance factors can influence long term investment performance and the
ability to achieve long term sustainable returns. As a general principle it considers
that the long-term financial performance of a company is likely to be enhanced if it
follows good practice in its environmental, social and governance activities.

At the present time the Committee does not take into account non-financial factors
when selecting, retaining, or realising its investments. The Committee understands
the Fund is not able to exclude investments in order to pursue boycotts,
divestment and sanctions against foreign nations and UK defence industries, other
than where formal legal sanctions, embargoes and restrictions have been put in
place by the Government.

All the Fund’s investments are managed by external fund managers in pooled
funds, one of which is passively managed, and the Council recognises the
constraints inherent in this policy. Nevertheless it expects its managers, acting in
the best financial interests of the Fund, to consider, amongst other factors, the
effects of environmental, social and other issues on the performance of companies
in which they invest. Further, it expects its managers to follow good practice and
use their influence as major institutional investors and long term stewards of
capital to promote good practice in companies in which they invest and markets to
which the Fund is exposed.

The Fund expects its investment managers (and especially the London CIV
through which the Fund will increasingly invest) to undertake appropriate
monitoring of current investments with regard to their policies and practices on all
issues which could present a material financial risk to the long term performance
of the Fund. Effective monitoring can inform engagement with boards and
management of investee companies to seek the resolution of potential problems at
an early stage. Where collaboration is likely to be the most effective mechanism
for encouraging issues to be addressed the Fund expects its managers to
participate in joint action with other institutional investors as permitted by relevant
legal and regulatory codes.

163



13.5

13.6

13.7

13.8

13.9

14

141

14.2

14.3

14.4

The Council expects its managers to have signed up to “The UK Stewardship
Code” and to report regularly on their compliance with the Code and other relevant
environmental, social and governance principles.

Over the last year each of the Fund’s investment managers has been asked:

o Whether they had signed up to UN Principles for Responsible Investment
(PRI)

o Whether they had signed up to “The UK Stewardship Code”

o To provide reports on their engagement and voting actions

The responses to these queries are available on the Fund’s website (Pension
Fund Committee meeting 21 March 2016).

In addition the Committee meets most of its managers at least once a year and
they are always asked to discuss the activities they undertake in respect of
socially responsible investment and how they consider long term environmental,
social and governance risks in making specific investment decisions.

The Fund is a member of the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) which
engages with many companies on a wide range of environmental, social and
governance issues.

The Fund does not hold any assets which it deems to be social investments.

Exercise of the rights (including voting rights) attaching to
investments

The Fund recognises the importance of its role as a steward of capital and of the
need to seek to ensure the highest standards of governance and corporate
responsibility in the underlying companies in which its investments reside.

The Council sees itself as an active shareholder and seeks to exercise its rights
(including voting rights) to promote and support good corporate governance
principles which in turn will feed through into good investment performance.

In practice, the Fund’s equity holdings are wholly invested through pooled funds in
which voting and engagement decisions are made by fund managers. The
Council encourages its fund managers to vote and engage with investee
companies worldwide to ensure they comply with best practice in corporate
governance in each locality with the objective of preserving and enhancing long
term shareholder value.

Accordingly, the Fund’s managers have produced written guidelines of their
process and practice in this regard. The managers are strongly encouraged to

164



14.5

15

15.1

15.2

15.3

15.4

16

16.1

vote in line with their guidelines in respect of all resolutions at annual and
extraordinary general meetings of companies.

The fund managers provide reports on their voting and engagement activities.

Stewardship

Whilst the Committee expects its investment managers to have signed up to The
Institutional Shareholders Committee Code on the Responsibilities of Institutional
Investors (“The UK Stewardship Code”) it has not yet done so itself. It will be
considering whether to do so during the next year

The Committee also expects the London CIV and all managers which it appoints
to sign up to the Code.

The Fund also believes in collective engagement and is a member of the LAPFF
which exercises a voice on behalf of over 70 local authority pension funds across
a range of corporate governance issues.

Additionally the Fund is a member of the Pensions and Lifetime Savings
Association through which it joins with other investors to maximize the influence of
investors as asset owners.

Compliance with “Myners” Principles

In Appendix 1 are set out the details of the extent to which the Fund complies with
the six updated “Myners” principles set out in the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy’s publication “Investment Decision Making and
Disclosure in the Local Government Pension Scheme in the United Kingdom
2012.” These principles codify best practice in investment decision making

165



1.

Appendix 1

Compliance with “Myners” Principles”

Effective decision-making

Administering authorities should ensure that:

decisions are taken by persons or organisations with the skills, knowledge, advice
and resources necessary to take them effectively and monitor their
implementation.

those persons or organisations should have sufficient expertise to be able to
evaluate and challenge the advice they receive, and manage conflicts of interest.

Fund compliance — Full

2

The Council has delegated decision making in respect of the Pension Fund to the
Pension Fund Committee, comprising four Councillors with full voting rights with
representatives from the trade unions invited.

The Committee, with advice from its Investment Adviser and independent advisers
has appropriate skills for, and is run in a way that facilitates, effective decision
making.

Members of the Committee are provided with training opportunities in line with the
skills and knowledge framework produced by CIPFA.

There are sufficient internal resources and access to external resources for the
Pension Fund Committee to make effective decisions.

Clear objectives

An overall investment objective(s) should be set out for the Fund that takes account of
the scheme’s liabilities, the potential impact on local tax payers, the strength of the
covenant for non-local authority employers and the attitude to risk of both the
Administering Authority and scheme employers. These should be clearly communicated
to advisers and investment managers.

Fund compliance - Full

The Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement and Funding Strategy Statement set
out its investment objectives which are agreed after consultation with the Fund
actuary and take into account the Fund’s liabilities, the impact on employer
contribution rates, future cashflows and the Fund’s attitude to risk.

Asset allocation, benchmarks and risk parameters are set with the aim of
achieving these objectives.

Fund managers have clear written mandates with individual performance targets
and benchmarks and their performance is measured and reviewed by the
Committee on a quarterly basis.

Full account is taken of the strength of the sponsor covenant for all non-local
authority employers admitted to the fund and contribution rates set accordingly.

166



3

Risks and Liabilities

In setting and reviewing their investment strategy, administering authorities should take
account of the form and structure of liabilities. These include the implications for local tax
payers, the strength of the covenant for participating employers, the risk of their default
and longevity risk.

Fund compliance — Full

4

A risk register is maintained with specific investment risks identified

The Committee, in setting its investment strategy, has taken account of the form
and structure of its liabilities following advice from the Fund’'s actuary. The
strategy aims to achieve the return required to meet its liabilities whilst taking into
account stability of contributions and affordability for employers.

Consideration is given to the payment of a bond by prospective admitted bodies to
the Fund to minimise the financial consequences of default.

A risk assessment and suggestions as to how the risks can be managed is
included in the triennial valuation.

Longevity risk is built into the triennial actuarial and is therefore included when
determining the investment strategy

Investment risk, including that of underperformance is taken into account in the
Investment Strategy Statement and the Fund’s Annual Report.

Performance Assessment

Arrangements should be in place for the formal measurement of the performance of
investments, investment managers and advisers. Administering authorities should also
periodically make a formal policy assessment of their own effectiveness as a decision-
making body and report on this to scheme members.

Fund compliance — Patrtial

In addition to overall Fund performance, the Committee considers the
performance of individual investment managers against their benchmarks on a
guarterly basis; matters of poor performance are addressed through meetings with
fund managers and, if necessary, the termination of contracts.

Up to 31 March 2016 regular performance measurement reports were received
from State Street Global Services, the most active provider of these services to
Local Government Pension Scheme administering authorities. State Street no
longer provide these services.

The Council has now agreed a contract with Pensions and Investment Research
Consultants Ltd for them to provide quarterly and annual reports detailing the
performance of the Fund and its managers and identifying the achievements
resulting from asset allocation and manager performance.

The performance of actuaries and advisers is informally assessed on an ongoing
basis.

167



5

The performance of the Fund is reported annually to all scheme members and is
included in the Annual report.

The relationships between the Committee and the Pension Board are being
developed in order that the Board can assist the Committee in its work.

Responsible Ownership

Administering authorities should:

Adopt, or ensure their investment managers adopt, the Institutional Shareholders’
Committee Statement of Principles on the responsibilities of shareholders and
agents.

Include a statement of their policy on responsible ownership in the Investment
Strategy Statement.

Report periodically to members on the discharge of such responsibilities.

Fund compliance — Patrtial

6

The Fund’s policy on the extent to which its investment managers take account of
social, environmental and ethical considerations is stated in the Investment
Strategy Statement.

The Fund expects its managers to engage positively and seek to influence
companies in which the Fund invests to take account of key social, environmental
and ethical considerations.

Where applicable, the Fund expects its managers to have adopted the Institutional
Shareholders’ Committee Statement of Principles on the responsibilities of
shareholders and agents.

Whilst the Fund’s equity holdings are wholly invested through pooled funds in
which voting and engagement decisions are made by fund managers the Council
encourages its managers to vote and engage with investee companies worldwide
to ensure they comply with best practice in corporate governance in each locality.
The fund managers provide reports on their voting and engagement activities.

Transparency and Reporting

Administering authorities should:

Act in a transparent manner, communicating with stakeholders on issues relating
to their management of investment, its governance and risks, including
performance against stated objectives.

Provide regular communication to members in the form they consider most
appropriate.

Fund compliance — Full

The Fund publishes a Communications Policy Statement detailing its policy and
strategy for communicating information to members, prospective members and
their employers, union representatives, elected Members, tax payers and other
interested parties. The Fund makes available a range of documents including:

168



- Annual Report including Statement of Accounts.

- Governance Compliance Statement which includes level of compliance.
- Communications Policy Statement.

- Investment Strategy Statement.

- Funding Strategy Statement.

- Triennial Actuarial Valuation.

- Agenda and Minutes of Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board.

- Annual Statement of Benefits to all active and deferred members.

- Newsletter to pensioners once a year.

- Newsletters to active members at least once a year.

e The Communications Policy Statement details the methods of communication
available for each “target” group which include:
- The Council's website
- Hard copy
- Annual employers meeting

169



This page is intentionally left blank



Aaenda Item 15
Pages 171 to 192

Pension Fund Committee

Date of Meeting:

Subject:

Responsible Officer:
Exempt:
Wards affected:

Enclosures:

7 March 2018

Information Report — Annual Review of
Internal Controls at Investment Managers

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance
No
All

Appendix — Review of Internal Controls at
Investment Managers

Section 1 - Summary

The report sets out in summary the contents of the latest internal controls
reports for eight of the Fund’s ten investment managers. The reports have
been reviewed and show that controls are operating effectively and,
where exceptions have been identified, that there has been a satisfactory

management response.

FOR INFORMATION

( ﬁéf/‘ﬁétﬁDUNClL )
171

LONDON



Section 2 - Report

1. The Report of the Auditor on the Pension Fund’'s 2009-10 Accounts
recommended that due diligence be carried out on the strength of the
operational controls at investment managers both through a review of
internal controls reports and visits to key investment managers. At the
November 2010 meeting of the, then, Pension Fund Investment Panel a
template was introduced as a basis for measuring the level of assurance
provided by the operational structure supporting each mandate.

2. Operational controls of investment managers relate to the procedures in
place to safeguard the Fund’s assets against loss through error or fraud
and to ensure that client reporting is accurate. Poor operational controls
can also hamper the management of the assets leading to reduced returns
or increased costs. Should there be a lack of evidence that controls
operated by investment managers are robust the continued appointment
of the manager would be questionable.

3. Each of The Fund’s investment managers prepares an annual report
having regard to the International Standard on Assurance Engagements
3402 (ISAE 3402), issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board, the Technical Release AAF 01/06 (AAF 01/06), issued
by the Institute of Chartered Accounts in England and Wales and the
control objectives for their services and information technology.

4. Under these protocols the directors/partners of each manager prepare a
report focussing on key environmental, business and process issues and
make commitments along the following lines:

e the report describes fairly the control procedures that relate to their
stated control objectives;

e the control procedures are suitably designed such that there is
reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would be
achieved if the described control procedures were complied with
satisfactorily; and

e the control procedures described were operating with sufficient
effectiveness to provide reasonable assurance that the related
control objectives were achieved during the period specified.

5. Each of the managers has engaged a leading firm of auditors to report on
the suitability of the design and operating effectiveness of the controls to
achieve the related control objectives.

6. A summary of the findings from the most recent reviews is provided in the
Appendix. The key points from the findings in respect of the Fund’s
managers are as follows:

Aviva Investors
The audit, carried out by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,showed that.

During the year two of the manually monitored mandate compliance
controls, did not operate effectively. However The majority of mandate

172



rules are automated and as a result the impacted population of
investment guidelines is extremely low. Mitigating controls exist outside
this report through reliance on fund managers for low risk rules that
cannot be automated. Aviva have confirmed that there have been no
breaches of investment guidelines during the period under review and will
be strengthening the controls in this area as a priority.

BlackRock Inc

The audit, carried out by Deloitte and Touche LLP, indicates that controls
are operating effectively and, where exceptions have been identified, that
there has been a satisfactory management response.

GMO

The audit, carried out by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, indicates that
controls are operating effectively and, where exceptions have been
identified, that there has been a satisfactory management response.

Insight Investment

The “audit year” ended on 31 December 2017, the results of which will be
reported to the Committee at their meeting on 27 June 2018.

Longview Partners LLP

The “audit year” ended on 31 December 2017, the results of which will be
reported to the Committee at their meeting on 27 June 2018.

Oldfield Partners LLP

The audit, carried out by Deloitte LLP, indicates that controls are
operating effectively and, where exceptions have been identified, that
there has been a satisfactory management response.

Pantheon

The audit, carried out by KPMG LLP, indicates that controls are operating
effectively and, where exceptions have been identified, that there has
been a satisfactory management response.

Record Currency Management Ltd

The audit, carried out by Grant Thornton UK LLP, indicates that controls
are operating effectively and, where exceptions have been identified, that
there has been a satisfactory management response

Standard Life Investments Inc

The audit carried out by KPMG LLP indicates that controls are operating

effectively and, where exceptions have been identified, that there has
been a satisfactory management response.

173



State Street Global Advisors
The audit, carried out by Ernst and Young LLP, indicates that controls are

operating effectively and, where shortcomings have been identified, that
there has been a satisfactory management response.

Financial Implications
7. Whilst the performance and effective controls of the fund managers is of
paramount importance in the performance of the Pension Fund, there are

no financial implications arising from this report.

Risk Management Implications

8. The risks arising from investment performance are included in the
Pension Fund risk register.

Equalities implications

9. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

Council Priorities

10. Investment performance has a direct impact on the financial health of the
Pension Fund which directly affects the level of employer contribution
which then, in turn, affects the resources available for the Council's

priorities

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

Name Dawn Calvert Director of Finance

Date: 22 February 2018

Ward Councillors notified: NO

174




Section 4 - Contact Details

Contact: lain Mlllar, Treasury and Pension Fund Manager
0208 424 1432

Background Papers - None

175



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix

Review of Internal Controls at Investment Managers

Aviva Investors

“‘Report on Internal Controls” for the period 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017.
Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Basis of Qualified Opinion (Page 14)

As stated in the management statement by Aviva Investors in section B, evidence of the
effective operation of controls to ensure that client portfolios are monitored for compliance
with investment limits, guidelines and restrictions for the subset of rules subject to manual
monitoring or self-certification could not be provided. We are therefore unable to conclude
that the following control objectives were achieved for the period 1 October 2016 to 30
September 2017:

i. Section 1. Investment Management (Objective 1.5.1) - Client portfolios are
managed in accordance with investment objectives, monitored for compliance with
investment limits and restrictions and performance is measured

ii. Section 2. Indirect Property Management (Objective 2.5.1) - Client portfolios are
managed in accordance with investment objectives, monitored for compliance with
investment guidelines and restrictions and performance is measured

Opinion (Page 14)

In the auditor’'s opinion, in all material respects, except for the matters described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph:

a) the description in sections D to G fairly presents the Service Organisation’s and the
included Subservice Organisation’s investment management services for institutional
clients and pooled funds and information technology as designed and implemented
throughout the period from 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017,

b) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were suitably
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would
be achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the period from
1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017 and customers applied the complementary
user entity controls referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report; and

c) the controls tested which, together with the complementary user entity controls
referred to in the scope paragraph of this assurance report, if operating effectively,
were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives
stated in the description were achieved, operated effectively throughout the period
from 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017.

Of the 228 controls tested by the auditor, 11 exceptions were identified.

These exceptions and the management responses are included at the end of this appendix.

177



BlackRock

“Report on Controls at BlackRock Placed in Operation and Tests of Operating Effectiveness
for Asset Management Services” for the period October 1, 2016 to September 30, 2017.

Auditors: Deloitte and Touche LLP

In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects:

a.)

b.)

c.)

The description fairly presents the System that was designed and implemented
throughout the period October 1, 2016 to September 30, 2017.

The controls related to the control objectives stated in the Description were suitably
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives would be
achieved if the controls operated effectively throughout the period October 1, 2016 to
September 30, 2017, and subservice organizations and user entities applied the
complementary controls assumed in the design of BlackRock’s controls throughout
the period October 1, 2016 to September 30, 2017

The controls operated effectively to provide reasonable assurance that the control
objectives stated in the Description were achieved, throughout the period October 1,
2016 to September 30, 2017 if complementary subservice organization controls and
complementary user entity controls assumed in the design of BlackRock Service
Organization’s controls operated effectively throughout the period October 1, 2016 to
September 30, 2017.

Of the 140 controls tested by the auditor, 4 exceptions were identified:

1)

2)

3)

Page 102 — Control P.1.2 — For the GLM job scheduler, a configuration change was
made which resulted in the potential for unauthorized users to access the internal
job scheduling tool. Upon identification, management updated the configuration to
restrict access to authorized employees. In addition, inappropriate GLM processing
occurring as a result of unauthorized changes would be identified through
reconciliation controls tested at M.1.4, M.2.2, M.2.3, M.3.1 and M.3.2.

Management Response: Management updated the GLM job scheduler
configuration to restrict access to authorized employees. Additionally, management
confirmed that unauthorized changes to batch job schedules would be identified as a
result of Securities Lending operational control activities which rely upon batch
processing in the GLM application

Page 105 — Q.1.3 — For 2 of 71 individuals across transfers and terminations
selected for testing, noted the transfer notification was not sent timely

Management Response: Management has re-emphasized the importance of
accurate notification for modification of access for transferred employees in
accordance with policy. Additionally, management noted that one of the two late
notifications identified was the result of a data feed error between the HR system of
record and downstream corporate groups. Management performed a review and
confirmed that this data feed issue was an isolated event, and has implemented an
exception report to identify any similar issues that may occur in the future.

Page 106 — Q.1.6 — For 2 of 45 transfers selected for testing, noted the user access
was not updated on a timely basis per BlackRock policy.

178



Management Response: Management has re-emphasized the importance of timely
modification of access for transferred employees in accordance with policy.

4) Page 107 — Q.1.10 — For 1 of 45 servers and databases selected for testing, D&T
noted 7 of 234 users with administrative access whose access was no longer
authorized. Upon investigation, noted these 7 users did not log in past the date
where access was no longer authorized.

Management Response: Management has confirmed that these 7 accounts had
previously been deactivated, and access was reinstated due to a software bug with a
disaster recovery failover process which was limited to one in-scope database.
Exposure checks were performed to confirm that no activity was undertaken as part
of reinstatement, and process improvements have been taken to avoid similar
instances in the future. In addition, periodic recertifications are in place to ensure that
database access is reviewed and updated according to policy; this issue arose in
between recertifications.

GMO

“Report On GMQ’s Description of its Advisory Services System and on the Suitability of the
Design and Operating Effectiveness of Controls” for the period October 1, 2016 to
September 30, 2017

Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects:

a.) the description fairly presents the Advisory Services System that was designed and
implemented throughout the period October 1 2016 to September 30 2017;

b.) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were suitably
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the control objectives would be
achieved if the controls operated effectively throughout the period October 1 2016 to
September 30 2017 and user entities applied the complementary controls assumed
in the design of GMQ’s controls throughout the period October 1 2016 to September
30 2017,

c.) the controls operated effectively to provide reasonable assurance that the control
objectives stated in the description were achieved throughout the period October 1,
2016 to September 30, 2017 if complementary user entity controls assumed in the
design of GMO'’s controls operated effectively throughout the period October 1, 2016
to September 30, 2017.

Of the 126 controls tested by the auditor, 0 exceptions were identified
However, the following controls although ‘No exceptions’ noted, could not be tested

Page 69 — Control 3] — Reason: During the period, there were no instances of
updates to the purchase and redemption fee tables within GPRS; therefore the
operating effectiveness of this control could not be tested.

Page 100 — Control 12g — Reason: There were no GMO Australia Separately
Managed Accounts during the period; therefore the operating effectiveness of this
control activity could not be tested for GMO Australia Separately Managed Accounts.

179



Page 101 — Control 12h — Reason: There were no GMO Australia Separately
Managed Accounts during the period; therefore the operating effectiveness of this
control activity could not be tested for GMO Australia Separately Managed Accounts.

Oldfield Partners LLP

“AAF 01/06 Assurance Report on Internal Controls” for the period 1 July 2016 to 30 June
2017

Auditors: Deloitte LLP
In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects:

a.) the description on pages 11 to 42 fairly presents the control procedures of Oldfield
Partners LLP’s investment management services that were designed and
implemented throughout the period 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017,

b.) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description on pages 11 to
42 were suitably designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control
objectives would be achieved if the described controls operated effectively
throughout the period 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017; and

c.) the controls that we tested were operating with sufficient effectiveness to provide
reasonable assurance, that the related control objectives stated in the description
were achieved throughout the period 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2017.

Of the 151 controls tested by the auditor, 1 exception and 1 Limitation of Testing was
identified

1) Page 35 - Control 7.2.7 — Passwords to access Eze OMS and Eze Compliance via
Citrix (Gateway) did not expire between the period 10/09/2016 — 30/06/2017 due to
the password expiry setting had been disabled as part of the data migration of the
Eze server.

2) Page 36 — Control 7.2.9 — Limitation of Testing — The audit log for Third parties
accessing OP’s server is retained only for 7 days. As such testing was limited to 7
days in the audit period.

Pantheon

“Type 1l Report on Controls Placed in Operation Relating to Investment Advisory and
Management Activities” for the period from 1 October, 2016 to 30 September, 2017

Auditors: KPMG LLP
In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects:

a.) the Description fairly presents the Investment Advisory and Management Activities
system as designed and implemented throughout the period from 1 October 2016 to
30 September 2017,

b.) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the Description were suitably
designed throughout the period from 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017; and

180



c.) the controls tested, which were those necessary to provide reasonable assurance
that the control objectives stated in the Description were achieved, operated
effectively throughout the period from 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017.

Of the 109 control objectives tested by the auditor, O exceptions and 1 Limitation of
testing was identified:

1) Page 55 — Control MF20 - Limitation of Scope: KPMG enquired of management
whether any instance of an authorised signatory partner not being available occurred during
the period and were informed that no instances had occurred. Since there were no
instances, the operating effectiveness of the control could not be tested.

Record Currency Management Ltd

“Report on Internal Controls (AAF 01/06)” for the period 1 April, 2016 to 31 March, 2017.
Auditors: Grant Thornton UK LLP
The auditors confirmed that in all material aspects:

a.) the accompanying report by the directors describes fairly the control procedures that
relate to the control objectives referred to above which were in place as at 31 March
2017,

b.) the control procedures described on pages 11 to 71 were suitably designed such that
there is reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the specified control objectives
would have been achieved if the described control procedures were complied with
satisfactorily,

c.) the control procedures that were tested, as set out in the body of this report, were
operating with sufficient effectiveness for us to obtain reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that the related control objectives were achieved in the period 1 April 2016
to 31 March 2017.

Of the 150 controls tested by the auditor, 0 exceptions were identified.

Standard Life Investments

“Internal Controls Report” for 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017
Auditors: KPMG LLP
In the Auditor’s opinion, in all material respects:

a.) the description on pages 22 to 108 fairly presents the internal controls that were
designed and implemented throughout the period from 1 October 2016 to 30
September 2017,

b.) the controls related to the control objectives stated in the description were suitably
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the specified control objectives would
be achieved if the described controls operated effectively throughout the period from
1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017 and;

181



c.) the controls that we tested were operating with sufficient effectiveness to provide

reasonable assurance that the related control objectives stated in the description
were achieved throughout the period from 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017.

Of the 282 controls tested by the auditor, 6 exceptions were identified:

These exceptions and the management responses are included at the end of this appendix.

State Street Global Advisors

“SOC 1 — System and Organization Controls (SOC) for Service Organizations” July 1, 2016
—June 30, 2017

Auditors: Ernst & Young LLP

In the auditor’s opinion, in all material respects:

a.) the Description fairly presents the System that was designed and implemented

throughout the period July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017;

b.) the controls related to the control objectives were suitably designed to provide

reasonable assurance that the control objectives would be achieved if the controls
operated effectively throughout the period July 1, 2016 to June 30,2017 and if State
Street’'s Information Technology and Global Security divisions and user entities
applied the complementary controls assumed in the design of SSGA’s controls
throughout the period July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017;

c.) the controls operated effectively to provide reasonable assurance that the control

objectives were achieved throughout the period July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017 if State
Street’'s Information Technology and Global Security divisions’ controls and
complementary user entity controls assumed in the design of SSGA’s controls
operated effectively throughout the period July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017.

Of the 157 controls tested by the auditor, 2 exceptions were identified:

1)

2)

Section IV Page 21 Control 12.8 — For 1 of the 4 months selected for testing, 2 out
of 19 variances reviewed did not have evidence of research and resolution. For 1 of
the 4 months selected for testing (including 65 invoices with 1 variance), there was
no evidence of secondary Finance Associate review.

Management Response: Management acknowledges that for 2 out of the 19
variances reviewed in the monthly reconciliation, evidence of research and resolution
was not provided. In addition, for 1 of the 4 months selected, there was no evidence
of secondary Finance review. Management further notes that the invoices were
correct and approved (refer to control 12.7 for the approval control). Management
has reinforced with appropriate personnel the requirement to document evidence of
review.

Section IV Page 22 Control 12.11 — For 8 out of 35 manually accrued fees selected
for testing, the review by the Accounting Manager did not identify incorrect fee
calculations.

Management Response: Upon detailed review, management identified that:

182



For 2 of 35 investment management fees selected for testing, the review did not
identify incorrect invoice calculations regarding fee rate change in the middle of the
calculation period. Management has subsequently implemented an enhanced
checklist to document the secondary finance reviews of new fee schedules and
amendments. Standardized fee schedule language and an exception review process
for non-standard fee arrangements is currently being implemented to ensure
accuracy for complex arrangements.

For 6 of 35 management fee accruals, management did not identify incorrect fee
accruals which resulted from inaccurate spreadsheet formulas. Management has
also implemented enhanced spreadsheet controls including documentation of a
secondary recalculation of new or revised accruals and checklist signoff by the
accounting manager

183



Aviva Investors (Page 94 — 97)

SECTION H: MANAGEMENT RESPONSES TO EXCEPTIONS NOTED

Cominod
Reference

Control Description

1272

The Global Responsible Investments team conducts

a secondary review of 155 fvoting platform) for wotes
that are over 3% of total holdings to ensure that
proy voting Instructions are generated, recorded and
camied out accurately and in a timely manner.

Test of Control Procedures and exceptions noted

Rellance on Controls Assurance team

For a sample of voteswhere the vote represants more
than 3% of allvotes being cast, inspected ewidence that
thewoteswearne subject 1o a secondary review prior o the
wote,

Exception noted

For 2 outof 26 proy vote issues fwhere wotes warne over
3% of all votes being cast) sampled, secondary review by
the Globa Responsble Irmvestiments team samples was
not performed prior to thewote deadline.

Management The exception Identified was caused by a dhange In resources avallable o support the control. However in
beoth cases there was no finandal imipact as votingwas carmed out comecty. We have now addressed the
resounces Imrohved In vote operations and will Implement an additional chedc of all meetings subject to

the control.

1227

The Valuation Oversight team reviears the dally

Iiguidity fund prices recetved from BNYM to

Inwestigate and escalate Instances where:

a) the NAV per share does not round to 1;

b} datly movement Is over 0.10% for the funds that do
not hawve a dally price of 1.00; or

c} dally yield has changed by more than 1%, and
ensures datawithin dally yield file ties to dally price
files to ensure Investments are valued using comect

prices.

For a sample of days and funds, inspected liquidity fund
review performed by Valuation Cwersight for evidence of
review and research of itemns outsidie tolerance thresholds

Exception noted:

For 8 out of &80 liquidity funds and days, the Valuation
Owersight team review of liquidity fund priceswas
incompleta.

Management Gaps idemtified have been remediated. All share dasses are now unhidden on the dally monitoring file regard-
less of whether they are Invested In or not. The price file template tabs have also been protected o ensure amy
new dass launcheswill be highlighted and Included Inthe check

Response

12219

The Asset Pricing team raise all iInternally valued assets
that breach pre-defined thresholds for month-on-
month price movemnents to the AGMAYC on a monthly
basls to ensure acouracy of price movements and
valuation of assets.

For a sample of internally valued assets that breadh the
agreed thresholds fiolerances inspeded evidence to
confirm that they were investigated and commentary was
provided to the AN

Bxception noted:
For 1 outof 5 months sampled, al intermally valued
assets that breached predefined month on month price

movement thresholds wena not reviewed by the AIGPRC

Management We note that In the November pack 2 models had price movements over the 2% threshodd which were not

Response

reflected Inthe pade, and 3 modelswere In the padk butwere not highlighted as having movements abowve the
2% threshold

This exception has been fully remediated and we have noted no lssueswith subsequently tested samples. The
manth-or-maonth price movements for imtemally valued assets was reviewsd by the Pridng team and the Fund
Managers for November 2016

The AIGPWC monittors pricng activities (emors, near misses, models), induding revisw of proposed amendments
o the pridng poligy If required through the monthily AIGPYC meeting and action log to ensure that pridng
activities are In line with the approved pridng policy. The 2% movement threshold Is only a small part of that
discussion.

The Management Information padks are appropriately detalled, for example the momth-on-month activity
for the total value for iImtemally modelled assets for the ourrent and preceding 4 months is reviewsd. The M
Appendt: section in each pack ks further devoted to Information on the models.

1514

The Mandate Monltoring team manually montiors
Inw estment guideline restrictions fahich cannot

be coded as automated rules) through revies of
trade data and sign off on an at least quarterly basis
o ensure comipliance with Investrnent limits and
restrictions.

For a sample of manually monitored guidelines and
periods, inspected the BMandate Monitoring team's
working papers for evidence of review and that potential
breaches were researched.

noted
For the period 1 October 2016 to 30 Septemnber 2017,
therewers 10 investmant rules impacting & differsnt
funds whene effective manual monitoring ocould not be
avidenced to ensure comipliancewith investment limits
and restrictions.

184



Control

Reference

Comtrol Description Test of Control Procedures and exceptons noted

Management Within the Instances, 2 funds containing & of the Investment rules had no transactons Inthe period. The

Responss

remaining 4 funds only had 15 transactions in the period.

The Mandate Monitoring team recognise the reasons for the oaurmence of the above and have Introduced
additional oversight over delegated monitoring and confirmed there were no further fund redassifications
wihilch had contribated to the abowve Instances.

The Mandate Monttoring team have retrospectively dvecked and confirmed that In the above Instances no
Inwestment guidelines have been breached.

For contexd, the full extent of rules iImpacted represent avery small percentage of the tofal Instances of rules.
Salf-cerdfied and manually monitored rules are typically low risk, mamy relate to Hliguid imeestments and are
unlikely to breach due to the enhanced due diligence and gowvermnance at the polnt of trade. No breaches of
salf-certfied nules have ocourred, and only a very few manually monitored nules breaches have oocurmed, since
thelr imtroduction in 2014,

1515

The Mandate Monitoring team obtains seH-
certification confirmations from fund managers
for rules or restrictions that cannot be monitored
Independenthy, on an annual basks to confirm that
they are In compliance with imvestment Bmits and
restrictions.

For a sample of self-certified quidialines, inspected the
seff-pertification checklists or emaiks for evidence that
seff-certificationswene performed in a timely manner.

Excaption noted

For the period 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2017,
therewere 29 investment rules impacting 3 different
funds which mesed a self-certification to ensure
oomplizmcewith investment limits and restrictions.

Management The Mandate Monftoring team have conducted a full review and hawve identified no other Instances of fallure

TESPONse

1o recelve a self certification.

The Mandate Monitoring team have retrospectively dhecked and confirmed that in the abowve Instances no
Inwestment guidelines have been breached.

For contesd, the full extent of rules iImpacted represent avery small percentage of the toial Instances of rules.
Self-certfied and manually monitored rules are typically low risk many relate to lliguid imvestments and are
unlikely to breach due to the enhanced due diligence and gowemnance at the polnt of trade. No breaches of
self-certfied nules have ooourred, and only a very few manually monftored nules breaches have coourmed, since
thelr imtroduction in 2014,

4113

1 October 2016 - 1 February 2017:

IT users

The Access Control Team recetves a notification of

a leavervia the Workday tool. The keaver's physical
access card Is then manually set to disable by the
Access Comtrol Team on the Granta system on the
specified leave date 1o ensure access Is terminated In a
tmely manmer.

1 Febmuary 2017 omerards:

IT Users

The Access Control Team recetves a nottfication of

a leavervia the Workday ol The lkeaver's physical
access card Is then manually set to disable by the
HArcess Comirol Team on the SecureMet system on the
specified leave date to ensure access Is terminated In
a timely manner.

For 3rd party access it Is the line manager's
responsibllity to notify the Access Control Team within
T days when there |s a leaver. The 3rd party leaver's
physical access cand |s then manually set to disable by
ihe Access Comirol Team on the SecureMet system to
EMSUre access ks terminated In a timely manner.

185

Rellance on Controls Assurance team

For a sample of terminated employ ees in the period,
irspected svidence that each individual's physical access
card had been disabled on the specified leave date.

noted
For T outof 45 access cands sampled, timely removal of
acoess aands to the Aviva Imvestors building could not be
evidencad on the Granta system.



Comtrol

Reference

Control Description

Test of Control Procedures and exceptons noted

Management The Granta system was decommitssioned when Aviva Investors moved out of the Poultry buillding on 1 February
2017. The required evidence from the Granta system was not retained and therefore we have been unable to

response
evidence the date at which access ards to the Poultry bullding were disabled fremowved. At Aviva Investors' new
bullding 5t Helens, no exceptions relating to non-timely access removal were idemtified.

4114 1 February 2017: Rellance on Controls Assurance team

The Granta system ks configured to disable physical
ancess passes that have not been used for 30 days.

Annually, Facllities management conduct a review
of the Granta system user aocess list to ensure passes
that have not been used In over 100 days have been
disabled.

1 February 2017 omwands:

The Aocess Comtrol Team run a S0L query upon
SecureMet to obtaln a list of all cards that have not
bean used for more than 30 days on a weekly basis.
This list ts then reviewed and cards not used for 40
days and still active are then manually disabled.

Granta- Inspected evidence that the Granta system has
been oonfigured to automatically disable physial acoess
passeswhich have not been used for 30 days.

Far the full population of physical access passes that had
ot been used for 30 or more days, nspeded evidence
in the Granta system that thess had been automaticaly
disabled.

SecureNet - For the full population of physical acoes
passes that had not been wsed for 40 or more days,
irspected evidence in the Secureiet system that these
hiad been manually disabled.

Exception noted

Poultry Building - For the pariod 1 October 2016101
February 2017, itwas mot possible to obtain evidence of
the automated job on Granta system to disable cards that
had not bean usedwithin 30 days.

5t Helers Buiding - For the period 1 February 2017 to
10 May 2017, it was not possible to demonstrate the
effective operation of the control as a list of 2l cards
that had not been used for more than 30 days was not
retained.

Management The Granta systemn was decommissioned when Aviva Investors moved out of the Poultry bullding on

TEsponse 01 February 2017. The required evidence from the Granta system was not retained and therefors we hawve
been unable to demonstrate the auto disabling of access cands o the Pouliny bullding. At Aviva Investors' new
batiding, 5t Helens, from M October 2017 access cands have been auto disabled on the new system after 30
days of Inactivity and no exceptions were ldentified.

41332 1 October 2016- 12 June 2017 Rellance on Controls Assurance team

IT Security Administration and where applicable
application support teams are responsible for the
creation of access In line with the approved request.
This ensures access granted |s appropriate, a saparate
designated requestor and approver rakse and approve
nEw 3ooournt requests before the aocess Is created for
both standard and privileged accoumnts within Team-
wiorks or Asgyst

12 June 2017 ormwands

IT Sacurity Administration and where applicable
application support teams are responsible for the
creation of access In line with the approved request.
This ensures acress granted |s appropriate, a separate
designated requestor and approver ralse new acoount
requests before the access Is created for both standard
and privileged accoumnts within IT Care or Assyst.

Windows

The IT Sequrity Administration Team creates a stand-
ard network account when a nesw joiner alert 1s ralsed
InWorkday by People Faction Services. Any addiional
access required will then follow the process outlined
above.

Mivte: For the Aladdin application 3rd party BRS set

up the application account on recelpt of an approved
requast.

For a sample of new standard and privileged accounts:
meated in the period, irspected that acoess requests had
bean granted after approval by the designated approver
within Teamworks.

BException noted
Far 2 out of 45 new access samples, avidence of approval
prior to the acoess being granted could not be obtained.

Management Retrospective approval for access requesis and the historic approval from the Bne managers prior to the
TESpOnse team memiber jolning has been obtalned for the sample selected. Evidence belng unavallable due to system

Iimitationswill no longer reour {as the Teammerorks system has been decommissioned).

186



Comtrol Control Description
Refersnce
4123 1 October 2016 - 12 June 2017

IT Security Administration ks notified of the leaver
request via an automated emall and set the Windows
AD account to explre within 24 hours of the spedfied
leave date.

IT Security Administration or the application
support team revoke appllcation aocess within 30
days post the spedfied leave date depending on
the authentication medhanism In place for each
application.

Mote: For the Aladdin application 3rd party BERS
remove the application account on recelpt of an
approved request from [T Security Administration.

12 June 20107 ormerards
The same process was followed but Teamanorks was
replaced by Workday.

Test of Control Procedures and exceptions noted

Rellance on Controls Assurance team

Irspected evidence that leawers' aocess to the Windows
AD mistwork had been revokedwithin 24 hours of the
spedfied leave date and that access to the applicatiors
had been revoked 30 days post the specified leave date.

Exception noted

For 2 out of 208 leavers, acoess to the network was not
revoked at the time of testing Additionally, for 6 out of
45 aocounts amipled, twas not possible to evidence
nebwork revocationwithin 24 hours of the specfied leave
date.

Management ldentified gaps have now been remediated. No leaver accessed any system post their leave date.

The Tearmnworks tool was decommissioned In June and evidence of access remaoval for the 6 network accounts
wias not retained. Bridence being unavallable due to system mitations will no kenger recur (a5 the Teamworks

Tesponse

grstem has been decommissioned).

The existing monthly comrol to detect Inactve Adive Directory acoounts (4.1.2.9) s now Induded In the AAF
report from 15 May 2017 which reviews Inactivity of 30 days to ald In Identifying potential leavers.
A detective control 1s now In placewhereby when leaver notifications are recelved after the leaver's leave date

the appropriate Investigation Is performed to dheck the leaver has not accessad any system since keaving. it ks
our aim to bring this chedk imo the 2018 AAF report control acthvity.

4116

The estate management team reviews an automated
Splunk report that detalls out laptops that do

not have the appropriate Safeguard enoyption
package on a dally basis with Assyst tickets belng
ralsed automatically to resohve Isswes to ensure the
Safequard encyption padkage Is applied on all
laptops.

MNote: Refer to 4.4.2.2 for detalls of the Incident

management controls to evidence the timely
resplution of Assyst tickets alsed.

Rellance on Controls Assurance team

For a sample of days in the period, inspected evidence
that the automated Splunk report showing laptops
without the Safequard encryption package had been
generated and reviewed, and that Azsy st tickets were
raized to resohe issues.

Bxception noted

For 3 out of 45 laptops identified without the Safeguard
encryption package, Assyst tickets had not been rased to
rescive the ssue or the tickets remain unresolved.

Management The laptops Identified In the sample have now been enoypted The ralsing of the Assyst ticket s now fully
autmated which has streamlined the process and will prevent any further ermors from ocourring.

Tesponse

4314

Segregation of Dutles exist between Release
Management team and deployment team.

SAMS

SAMS follows the common release management
process. |naddidon to this the DME server deploys
changes into preducton whidh Is restricied to the
ANGED team. DX C manage access to the DM server as
part of the third party support agreement.

Rellance on Controls Assurance team

Irspected evidence that approved changes from the
Serana Dimensions tood to 2 pre-deployment folderwerne
deployed by the Release Management team.

Irspectad evidence that write access to the folder was
restricted to authonsed memibers of staff whowerne not
davelopers.

Further irspected evidence that acoess to the folders
where changeswere stoned in the production
ervironmentwas restricted to the Ervironment
Management and Delvery teams responsible for moving
the changes into the production environment.
Exception noted

One user account was identified with nappropriatewrite
acoess to the pre-deployment folder.

Management Incomect accesswas Inadvertanthy ghven and the user account was Immediately removed during testing. The
user @annot deploy code Into production with this access and there s adeguate segregation of dutles between
those whio can add code into the pre-deployment folder and those who can deploy code Into producton.

Tesponse

187



Standard Life (Page 109 — 113)

The service Auditor’s tests have identified six exceptions. Responses from management in
respect of exceptions noted by the Service Auditor in performing testing of Standard Life
Investments Limited controls are presented below to provide additional information to users
of this report.

Service Auditor’s Tests specific
to the exceptions noted

Descriptions of Controls

6.9 On a daily basis, a reconciliation is Inspection
performed by the Derivative Trade Support For a selection of days, inspected evidence that
team over the accuracy of the OTC trade the reconciliation of data between the OTC
data between CRIMS, the OTC Database Database, CRIMS and Citi was performed by
and Citi data. Any differences noted are the Derivative Trade Support team and that any
investigated and resolved as appropriate differences were investigated and resolved by
by an independent individual. an independent individual.

Exception noted

For one out of 15 items tested, evidence was
not seen of the investigation and resolution
of differences being performed by an
independent individual, through completion
of the daily checklist.

Management can confirm that the reconciliation differences were investigated and closed appropriately,
with management approval of the closures at the time evidenced within a request to the Technology
Support team to close the breaks on management’s behalf. The paper checklist was not completed to retain
the evidence for the task being completed in the usual fashion. Management now sign off the checklist on
a weekly basis to ensure completeness.

188



Descriptions of Controls

Service Auditor’s Tests specific

to the exceptions noted

10.2  With the exception of North America,
active voting decisions of proxy voting
instructions are appropriately analysed
(with the exception of de minimis
holdings). Proxy votes are signed by
an authorised person (as per the ESG
Investment Voting Authorities) within the
Company and instructed on the voting
platform. All auto votes (smaller holdings),
with the exception of de minimis holdings,
with policy recommendations to vote
against management are reviewed and
authorised (as per the ESG Investment
Voting Authorities) before being released
from the IS5 Proxy Exchange voting
platform.

Inspections

For a selection of proxy vote meetings during the
period and regarding proxy votes above the

de minimis holdings and outwith North America,
inspected evidence that votes were analysed and
signed-off by an authorised person as per the ESG
Investment Voting Authorities.

For the same selection, inspected evidence

that any auto votes which were voted against
management recommendations were reviewed
and authorised as per the ESG Investment Voting
Authorities, before being released from the 155
voting platform.

Exception noted

The full population of 12 proxy vote meetings was
tested. For seven out of the 12 meetings, evidence
was not seen that auto votes which were voted
against managment recommendations had been
analysed and signed off by an authorised person.

Management can confirm that this was due to a coding issue in relation to a report which we receive from
our proxy voting provider. Management can also confirm that the report has since been corrected and
notifies the team of any meetings that are coming up to be voted where we have a small holding and a
recommendation to vote against management. All meetings sampled were voted in line with policy.

Two new checks have also been implemented within the process:

(a) a daily check of any Votes Against Management identified on the proxy voting providers platform;
and (b} an addition to the Daily Vote Check report, identifying holdings above de minimis with an against
recommendation going through as an auto vote. In addition, a quarterly review of these particular auto

votes takes place.

3. Descriptions of Controls

Service Auditor’s Tests specific

to the exceptions noted

126 10ct 2016 to 22 May 2017

On a daily basis, the Valuation & Pricing
Oversight (VPO) and Derivative Control
teams receive a 3 way OTC derivatives
valuation reconciliation from BNYM (between
MarkIT or Superderivatives, the counterparty
and Bloomberg AIM). The reconciliation is
reviewed for positions which are outwith
predefined tolerances by the Derivatives
Control team. Sign off is provided to VPO to
either confirm BMYM values are reasonable
or highlight prices for BNYM to investigate
and provide further support for. VPO instruct
the MAV release only once any investigations
have reached an acceptable conclusion.

1 Oct 2016 to 22 May 2017

Inspection

For a selection of days during the period,
inspected evidence that the OTC reconciliations
were reviewed for positions which were outwith
predefined vendor tolerances and sign-off
provided to VPO prior to authorising NAV release.

Exception noted

For one out of 10 days selected, evidence was not
seen of sign-off being provided to VPO prior to
authorising NAV release.

Management can confirm that, in relation to the exception, verbal confirmation was received from the
Derivatives Control team at the time that the derivative valuations were accurate. Management can also
confirm the accuracy of the NAV which was released, and note that this control no longer operates.

189



Service Auditor's Tests specific
to the exceptions noted

Descriptions of Controls

44 A permitted level of due diligence expenses Inspection
and/or abort costs is detailed in the PIR For a selection of potential investments during the
and approved by the relevant Investment period, inspected evidence that the level of due
Committee. Expenses in advance of a PIR diligence expenses permitted had been detailed
may be incurred with the prior written within the PIR and that this was approved by the
approval of SL Capital's CIO. relevant Investment Committee,
Exception Noted

For one out of eight items tested, evidence was
not seen of a permitted level of tax due diligence
expenses detailed in the PIR and approved by the
relevant Investment Committee.

Management response

Tax due diligence is a normal part of the due diligence undertaken on all co-investments. Due to the
accelerated deal completion time frame in this particular case, the tax engagement was not formally
approved by the Investment Committee, but was verbally approved between the Chief Investment Officer
and the deal team. The overall due diligence costs for this transaction were consistent with the nature and
quantum of due diligence on similar investments. The investment procedures around formal docurmentation/
governance of due diligence costs have been reviewed and have been re-emphasised to the deal teams.

Descriptions of Controls Service Auditor's Tests specific

to the exceptions noted

7.3 Cash transaction reports detailing the Inspection
previous day’s transactions are produced For a selection of days, inspected evidence that
and reviewed by the Finance Analyst team the daily cash transaction report was producad
on a daily basis to ensure complete, accurate and reviewed by the Finance Analyst team to
and timely settlement of payments and ensure complete, accurate and timely settlement
receipts. Outstanding cash transactions are of payments and receipts.

monitored and reviewed on a weekly basis
to ensure timely settlement of outstanding
payments and receipts.

For a selection of weeks, inspected the
outstanding cash transactions report for
evidence that the cash position was reviewed
and settlement of outstanding payments and
receipts was monitored.

Exception Noted

For one out of five weekly outstanding cash
transactions reports selected, evidence of a
review of the prepared report was not seen.

Management response

Management can confirm that the report in question was accurately prepared and that, as part of
this preparation, all outstanding investment transactions were investigated with no further action
deemed necassary.

Management can also confirm that cash flows are monitored on a daily basis by both SL Capital Partners
and the respective fund administrator to ensure that any outstanding payments or receipts are identified
immediately and resolved in a timely manner, and therefore the risk associated with this exception is
deemed immaterial.

190



Descriptions of Controls Service Auditor's Tests specific

to the exceptions noted

25  Users permission level access for key Inspections
applications is reviewed for appropriateness Inspected results of the annual user access
on an annual basis by line managers. permission level review and determined that users'
Any inappropriate access is removed on permission level access for key applications is
a tirmely basis. reviewed on an annual basis by their line manager.

For a selection of users identified as having
inappropriate access as part of the annual review,
inspected evidence that the users' permission level
access for key applications had been removed on a
timely basis.

Exception Noted
For four of the 25 selected users, the access was not
removed on a timely basis.

Management response

Management have added an extra step into the recertification process to ensure that Access Management
follow up regularly by e-mail/telephone with the other access teams to receive confirmation that access has
been removed in a timely manner.

191



Table showing nhumber of controls tested by each manager and the

number of exceptions as reported to Committee in 2016, 2017 and 2018

Control Control Control
. Number of . Number of . Number of
Fund Manager | Objectives E ti Objectives E fi Objectives E i
Tested xceptions Tested xceptions Tested xceptions
2016 Report | 2016 Report | 2017 Report | 2017 Report | 2018 Report | 2018 Report
Aviva 171 8 262 7 228 11
BlackRock 137 4 140 5 140 4
GMO 159 2 147 1 126 0
Insight 133 5 109 1 n'a n'a
Longview 92 0 106 2 nia nia
Oldfields 153 0 154 1 151 1
Pantheon 107 0 112 1 109 0
Record 137 0 146 1 150 0
Standard Life 334 7 326 11 282 4]
State Street 165 4 160 3 157 p

192




Aaenda Item 16
Pages 193 to 210

Pension Fund Committee

Date of Meeting: 7 March 2018

Subject: Governance Compliance Statement

Responsible Officer: Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance

Exempt: No
Wards affected: All
Enclosures: Draft Governance Compliance Statement

Section 1 - Summary and Recommendation

Summary

The Committee is requested to consider a draft Governance Compliance
Statement and, subject to their comments, approve it.

.Recommendation

That, subject to their comments, the Committee approve the draft Governance
Compliance Statement.

( ﬁéf/‘ﬁétﬁDUNClL )
193

LONDON



Section 2 - Report

1. Under Provision 55 of The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 the
Council, as Administering Authority is required to prepare a written statement setting
out::

“... (a)whether the authority delegates its function, or part of its functions under these
Regulations to a committee, a sub-committee or an officer of the authority;

(b) if the authority does so—
() the terms, structure and operational procedures of the delegation,
(i) the frequency of any committee or sub-committee meetings,

(i) whether such a committee or sub-committee includes representatives of Scheme
employers or members, and, if so, whether those representatives have voting
rights;

(c) the extent to which a delegation, or the absence of a delegation, complies with
guidance given by the Secretary of State and, to the extent it does not so comply, the
reasons for not complying, and

(d) details of the terms, structure and operational procedures relating to the local pension
board established under regulation 563(4) (Scheme managers).”

3. Subject to their comments, the Committee are asked to approve the revised Governance
Compliance Statement.

Financial Implications

4. There are no financial implications arising from this report.
Risk Management Implications

5. Any relevant risks arising from non-compliance with the Scheme Regulations are
included in the Pension Fund risk register.

Equalities implications

6. There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

Council Priorities
7. Whilst the financial health of the Pension Fund directly affects the level of employer

contribution which, in turn, affects the resources available for the Council’s priorities
there are no impacts arising directly from this report.

194



Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance

Name: Dawn Calvert Chief Financial Officer

Date: 22 February 2018

on behalf of the
Name: Linda Cohen Monitoring Officer

Date: 14 February 2018

Ward Councillors notified: Not applicable

Section 4 - Contact Details

Contact: lain Millar, Treasury and Pensions Manager 0208 424 1432

Background Papers - None

195




This page is intentionally left blank



Governance
Compliance Statement

London Borough of Harrow Pension Fund

March 2018

C?ééﬁ’??ﬂﬁ’ ) 197

nnnnnn



GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

CONTENTS
INEFOAUCTION ... e 3
Regulatory FramewWorK ...........ooiieiiiiiiiii e 4
Delegated FUNCLIONS ........coovviiiiiiii e 5
Pension FuNd COMMILEE.........ccoviiiiiiiiii e 5
Officer SUD — GrOUP ..ovuiiiii e 6
Director of FINANCE ..........oi i 6
Chief OffICEIS ... 7
PeNnSIioN BOAIM.........cooeiiiiiieieiiii e 7
Statement of compliance to guidance...........c.ccocoveiiiviiii e, 9
2

(D)

LOMDOMN

198



GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
Introduction

This is the Governance Compliance Statement of The London Borough of
Harrow Pension Fund, administered by Harrow Council, the Administering
Authority. The statement provides an overview of Harrow’s approach towards the
governance of the Pension Fund.

Any enquiries in relation to this Statement should be sent to:

Treasury and Pensions Manager
London Borough of Harrow

3" Floor, West Wing

Civic Centre

Station Road

Harrow

HA1l 2XF

TEL: 020 8424 1432

(D)

LOMDOMN

199



GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
Regulatory Framework

This Statement is required by Regulation 55 of the Local Government Pension
Scheme (Scheme) Regulations 2013.

The Regulation requires Harrow Council as the Administering Authority to
prepare a written statement setting out:

“... (@)whether the authority delegates its function, or part of its functions under
these Regulations to a committee, a sub-committee or an officer of the
authority;

(b) if the authority does so—
() the terms, structure and operational procedures of the delegation,
(if) the frequency of any committee or sub-committee meetings,

(i) whether such a committee or sub-committee includes representatives
of Scheme employers or members, and, if so, whether those
representatives have voting rights;

(c) the extent to which a delegation, or the absence of a delegation, complies
with guidance given by the Secretary of State and, to the extent it does
not so comply, the reasons for not complying, and

(d) details of the terms, structure and operational procedures relating to the
local pension board established under regulation 53(4) (Scheme
managers).”

This Statement will be revised and republished following any material change in
any of the matters set out above. A current version of the Statement will always
be available either at the address on page three or on the intranet under —
‘Employment with the Council’ — ‘Employees Pension’ — ‘Policy Statements’ —
‘Governance Compliance Statement’.

(D)

LOMDOMN

200



GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
Delegated Functions

The Council has delegated its functions to the following:
e Pension Fund Committee
e Officer Sub — Group
e Director of Finance

e Chief Officers

Pension Fund Committee

The Pension Fund Committee comprises four Members representing two
different political parties with voting rights and a co-optee, an investment adviser
and two independent advisers without voting rights. Council senior officers attend
each meeting and trade union representatives of Scheme members (UNISON
and GMB) are also invited as observers.

The Committee meets approximately four times a year and has the following
responsibilities:

1) to exercise on behalf of the Council, all the powers and duties of the
Council in relation to its functions as Administering Authority of the LB
Harrow Pension Fund (the Fund), save for those matters delegated to
other Committees of the Council or to an Officer;

2) the determination of applications under the Local Government
Superannuation Regulations and the Teachers’ Superannuation
Regulations;

3) to administer all matters concerning the Council’s pension investments
in accordance with the law and Council policy;

4) to establish a strategy for the disposition of the pension investment
portfolio;

5) to appoint and determine the investment managers’ delegation of
powers of management of the fund;

6) to determine cases that satisfy the Early Retirement provision under
Regulation 26 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations
1997 (as amended), and to exercise discretion under Regulation 8 of
the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment)
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000

(D)

LOMDOMN

5

201



GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
(as amended, subject to the conditions now agreed in respect of all
staff, excluding Chief Officers;

7) to apply the arrangements set out in (6) above to Chief Officers where
the application has been recommended by the Chief Executive, either
on the grounds of redundancy, or in the interests of the efficiency of the
service, and where the application was instigated by the Chief
Executive in consultation with the leaders of the political groups

Officer Sub — Group

The Officer Sub — Group comprises the Director of Finance and the Director of
Legal and Governance Services. Other senior officers attend meetings as
required.

The Sub-Group meets on an ad-hoc basis and has the responsibility to
determine all early retirement applications in line with Council policy

Director of Finance
Pension Fund Investment

In respect of the discretionary management arrangements the Director of
Finance has the following responsibilities:

e In the name of the Mayor and Burgesses of Harrow Council and on behalf
of the Pension Fund and in consultation with the Fund’s managers, to
invest in stocks and shares as authorised by the Trustee Investments Act
and Pension Fund Regulations, and to authorise the Council’s seal to be
affixed to stock transfer forms, rights issues and other investment forms.

e To enter into agreements on the terms and conditions on which these
investments are made by the Fund’s managers.

e To enter into under-writing agreements.

e To monitor the investment decisions of the Fund managers and under the
terms of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009 as amended to ensure the need
for diversification and stability of investments

(D)

LOMDOMN

202



GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
Chief Officers

Chief Officers are specifically authorised to take decisions on behalf of the
Council or its non-Executive Committees in cases of urgency, using the
procedure for non-executive decisions on minor matters or the procedure for
urgent non-executive decisions.

Urgent Non-Executive Decisions and Minor Matters

In relation to matters which are the responsibility of a Council Committee, subject
to consultation with the Chair of the relevant committee and the nominated
members of the two main political groups or their nominees, Chief Officers shall
have the power to act on behalf of the Council in cases of urgency and on minor
matters, where the urgent matter is of such a nature that it may be against the
Council’s interest to delay and where it is not practicable to obtain the approval of
the Council Committee. In the event of disagreement between the Members
consulted, the matter shall be referred to the Chief Executive who may take the
decision after consultation with the Leaders of all political groups or their
nominees, and if appropriate, with the statutory officers. The safeguards set out
below must be followed.

Safeguards

The procedure must only be used when considered essential to achieving the
efficient administration of the service and for urgent matters consideration must
be given to whether the matter can wait until the next scheduled meeting or
whether the calling of a special meeting can be justified.

All decisions taken by officers under this delegated power must be reported for
information to the next meeting of the appropriate committee.

Pension Board

As required under the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 the Council has set up a
Local Pension Board. Its responsibility under the Act is to assist the
Administering Authority in ensuring the effective and efficient governance and
administration of the Scheme including:

e Securing compliance with the Scheme regulations and other legislation
relating to the governance and administration of the LGPS;

e Securing compliance with requirements imposed in relation to the LGPS
by the Pensions Regulator; and

e Such other matters the LGPS regulations may specify.

(D)

LOMDOMN

203



GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

In particular the Board oversees:
e the effectiveness of the decision making process
e the direction of the Fund and its overall objectives
e the level of transparency in the conduct of the Fund’s activities
e the administration of benefits and contributions

Under the provisions of the Act the Board must include equal numbers of
employer and member representatives and it is made up as follows:

e Employer representative — London Borough of Harrow
Employer representative — Scheduled and admitted bodies
Scheme members’ representative — Active members
Scheme members’ representative — Pensioners
Independent member.

(D)

LOMDOMN

204



GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

Statement of compliance to guidance

Regulation 55(1)(c) requires Scheme administering authorities to measure their
governance arrangements against the principles set out in the statutory
guidance. Where compliance does not meet the published standard, there is a
requirement to give, in their Governance Compliance Statement, the reasons for
not complying.

Principle A — Structure

a) The management of the administration of benefits and strategic management
of fund assets clearly rests with the main committee established by the
appointing council.

b) That representatives of participating LGPS employers, admitted bodies and
Scheme members (including pensioner and deferred members) are members of
either the main or secondary committee established to underpin the work of the
main committee.

c) That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, the
structure ensures effective communication across both levels.

d) That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, at least
one seat on the main committee is allocated for a member from the secondary
committee or panel.

Not Compliant* Fully Compliant
a)
b) \
C) NA
d) NA

* Please use this space to explain the reason for non-compliance.

The Pension Fund Committee comprises representatives of the main employer,
London Borough of Harrow, but there is no representation of other employers or
scheme members. Two trade unions have observer status. The Pension Board
includes a representative of non-Council employers, active scheme members
and pensioner members and the views of the Board are reported to the
Committee.

(D)

LOMDOMN

205




GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
Principle B — Representation

a) That all key stakeholders are afforded the opportunity to be represented within
the main or secondary committee structure. These include:-

e employing authorities (including non-Scheme employers, eg, admitted
bodies);

e Scheme members (including deferred and pensioner Scheme members),

e where appropriate, independent professional observers, and

e expert advisors (on an ad-hoc basis).

b) That where lay members sit on a main or secondary committee, they are
treated equally in terms of access to papers and meetings, training and are given
full opportunity to contribute to the decision making process, with or without
voting rights.

Not Compliant* Fully Compliant

a) \

b) N

* Please use this space to explain the reason for non-compliance.

The Pension Fund Committee comprises representatives of the main employer,
London Borough of Harrow, two independent advisers and an expert investment
adviser but no representation for other employers or scheme members. Two
trade unions have observer status.

Principle C — Selection and role of lay members

a) That committee or panel members are made fully aware of the status, role and
function they are required to perform on either a main or secondary committee.

b) That at the start of any meeting, committee members are invited to declare
any financial or pecuniary interest related to specific matters on the agenda.

Not Compliant* Fully Compliant
a) N
b) v

* Please use this space to explain the reason for non-compliance.

10

(D)

LOMDOMN

206




GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
Principle D — Voting

a) The policy of individual administering authorities on voting rights is clear and
transparent, including the justification for not extending voting rights to each body
or group represented on main LGPS committees.

Not Compliant* Fully Compliant

a) | | | | v

* Please use this space to explain the reason for non-compliance

Principle E — Training/Facility time/Expenses

a) That in relation to the way in which statutory and related decisions are taken
by the administering authority, there is a clear policy on training, facility time and
reimbursement of expenses in respect of members involved in the decision-
making process.

b) That where such a policy exists, it applies equally to all members of
committees, sub-committees, advisory panels or any other form of secondary
forum.

c) That the administering authority considers the adoption of annual training
plans for committee members and maintains a log of all such training undertaken

Not Compliant* Fully Compliant
a)
b) \
c) \

* Please use this space to explain the reason for non-compliance.

The Council policy is that the Pension Fund Committee are aware of the six
areas of knowledge and skills relating to the LGPS which CIPFA has identified as
being the core technical requirements for those involved in decision making.
They are frequently advised of training opportunities and are advised of facility
time and the reimbursement of expenses.
A training log for all elected members is maintained.
Included in the Terms of Reference for the Pension Board is:
Following appointment each member of the Board should be conversant with:

e The legislation and associated guidance of the LGPS

e Any document recording policy about the administration of the LGPS
which is for the time being adopted by the Fund

11

(D)

LOMDOMN

207




GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

The Administering Authority will provide a training programme which all
Committee and Board members will be encouraged to attend

Principle F — Meetings (frequency/quorum)

a) That an administering authority’s main committee or committees meet at least
quarterly.

b) That an administering authority’s secondary committee or panel meet at least
twice a year and is synchronised with the dates when the main committee sits.

c) That an administering authority who does not include lay members in their
formal governance arrangements, provide a forum outside of those
arrangements by which the interests of key stakeholders can be represented

Not Compliant* Fully Compliant
a) \
b) NA
C) \

* Please use this space to explain the reason for non-compliance.

Key stakeholders including non-Council employers and the trade unions are
consulted on an ad hoc basis eg actuarial valuation, Investment Strategy
Statement, Funding Strategy Statement

Principle G — Access

a) That subject to any rules in the council’s constitution, all members of main and
secondary committees or panels have equal access to committee papers,
documents and advice that falls to be considered at meetings of the main
committee.

Not Compliant* Fully Compliant

a) | | | | v

* Please use this space to explain the reason for non-compliance.

12

(D)

LOMDOMN

208




GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE STATEMENT

Principle H — Scope

a) That administering authorities have taken steps to bring wider Scheme issues
within the scope of their governance arrangements

Not Compliant* Fully Compliant

a)

| | | N

* Please use this space to explain the reason for non-compliance.

Principle | — Publicity

a)

That administering authorities have published details of their governance

arrangements in such a way that stakeholders with an interest in the way in
which the Scheme is governed, can express an interest in wanting to be part of
those arrangements.

Not Compliant* Fully Compliant

a)

| | | N

* Please use this space to explain the reason for non-compliance.

Please use this space if you wish to add anything to explain or expand on the
ratings given above

13

(D)

LOMDOMN

209




This page is intentionally left blank



Aaenda Item 20
Pages 211 to 248

Document is Restricted

211



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

217



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

223



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

247



This page is intentionally left blank



Aaoenda Iltem 21
Pages 249 to 322

Document is Restricted

249



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

253



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Pension Fund Committee - Update on Regular Items
	8 Information Report - Quarterly Trigger Monitoring Q4 2017
	LB Harrow Pension Fund - Quarterly trigger monitoring Q4 2017
	Quarterly Trigger Monitoring - Q4 2017
	Disclaimer


	9 Information Report - Performance Measurement Services
	Appendix 1 PIRC Performance Report to 31 December 2017

	10 Information Report - Transfer of Harrow College to LB Hillingdon Pension Fund
	11 Information Report - External Audit Plan 2017-18
	Appendix - LB Harrow External audit plan 201718
	External Audit Plan 2017/18
	Headlines
	Content 
	�1.  Introduction
	2.  Financial statements audit planning
	2.  Financial statements audit planning
	2.  Financial statements audit planning
	2.  Financial statements audit planning
	2.  Financial statements audit planning
	2.  Financial statements audit planning
	2.  Financial statements audit planning
	3.  Value for money arrangements work
	3.  Value for money arrangements work
	�4.  Other matters 
	�4.  Other matters 
	�Appendix 1: Key elements of our financial statements audit approach
	Appendix 2: Independence and objectivity requirements
	Appendix 3: Quality framework 
	Slide Number 19


	12 Communications Policy Statement
	Communications Policy Statement Draft Feb 2018

	13 Funding Strategy Statement
	Harrow Funding Strategy Statement 2018

	14 Investment Strategy Statement
	Investment Strategy Statement March18

	15 Information Report - Annual Review of Internal Controls at Investment Managers
	Review of Internal Controls

	16 Governance Compliance Statement
	Governance Compliance Statement draft

	20 Investment Strategy Update: Pooling and London CIV Review Consultation
	LB Harrow Pension Fund - Next steps towards the London CIV
	11.2 Appendix 2 London CIV Strategy Consultation 22 Jan 2018
	Appendix 3 Item CIV Future Direction letter

	21 Information Report - Investment Manager  Performance Monitoring  for period ending 31 December 2017
	LB Harrow Pension Fund - Manager Monitoring Report Q42017


